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A LEGISLATIVE PROPOSAL ENTITLED
THE “BANK ACCOUNT SEIZURE OF
TERRORIST ASSETS (BASTA) ACT”

Thursday, July 17, 2014

U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON MONETARY
Poricy AND TRADE,
COMMITTEE ON FINANCIAL SERVICES,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:45 a.m., in room
2128, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Bill Huizenga [vice
chairman of the subcommittee] presiding.

Members present: Representatives Huizenga, Posey, Stutzman,
Mulvaney, Cotton; and Sewell.

Ex officio present: Representative Hensarling.

Mr. HUIZENGA (presiding). The subcommittee will come to order.

Without objection, the Chair is authorized to declare a recess of
the subcommittee at any time. Also, without objection, members of
the full Financial Services Committee who are not members of this
subcommittee may sit on the dais and participate in today’s hear-
ing.

And I should make note we did have a Floor update that between
10 and 10:15, we will have our first series of votes today. But it
will be a relatively short one, so we are going to try and get
through opening statements and get through this first panel. And
then, we will reconvene 5 minutes after the final vote on the Floor.

So with that, the Chair now recognizes himself for a brief open-
ing statement.

This committee regularly considers matters of great technical de-
tail, matters that can have a great effect on the world economy or
on individual lives. What we don’t routinely do is consider shooting
wars or Americans who spend years in captivity by Marxist rebels.

Today, we will be discussing those difficult topics and some mat-
ters of extraordinary complexity involving ways to fairly com-
pensate victims of these heinous acts.

In early 2003, Keith Stansell, Marc Gonsalves, Tom Howes, and
Tom Janis were engaged in a counter-narcotics operation in Colom-
bia under the auspices of the Department of Defense when their
plane crash-landed. They were captured by members of the Revolu-
tionary Armed Forces of Colombia (FARC), a violent guerrilla
group that has funded itself by kidnapping and narcotics traf-
ficking while in armed conflict in Colombia since the mid-1960s.

o))



2

The guerrillas executed Tom Janis at the crash site, and the
three remaining men were held hostage and tortured for more than
5 years until they and a number of their hostages were rescued by
the Colombian military.

Today’s hearing will focus on matters related to the execution of
courts’ judgments against assets of the FARC for actions taken
against these American hostages captured in Colombia.

And I have quite a bit more, but in the interest of time, I think
I am going to dispense with that. And with that, I don’t know that
we have anybody on the other side—mnot yet. So if that is okay,
what we will do is recognize Mr. Posey for 3 minutes for an open-
ing statement.

Mr. Posey. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will be brief. I would
like to thank Chairman Hensarling for calling this hearing, and I
thank you for your support and the committee for the support to
grant justice to the victims of narco-terrorism.

The three surviving former FARC hostages, Marc Gonsalves,
Keith Stansell, and my constituent, Tom Howes, are here today.
We will hear from them in a little while. Unfortunately, the family
of Tom Janis, who was executed by FARC, cannot be here today.

These men put themselves in harm’s way to provide service to
our Nation and were hostages of the FARC for 5% years, longer
than I have been in Congress. They have endured hardships be-
yond imagination and are American heroes who deserve our respect
and our admiration.

Congress gave these men the right to sue FARC captors in Fed-
eral court. Congress also passed Section 201 of the Terrorism Risk
Insurance Act (TRIA), which gave the victims of terrorism the abil-
ity to seize assets of terrorists and their agents.

Unfortunately, TRIA does not currently allow these men to seize
assets of FARC-related drug smugglers, money launderers, and gun
runners because they are blocked under the Kingpin Act. The
Treasury Department has chosen to block FARC assets only under
the Kingpin Act even though they would be blocked under other
statutes that would allow them to seize assets.

Furthermore, the Treasury Department believes that it is better
to use blocked Kingpin assets to negotiate with narco-traffickers
than to allow victims of these terrorists to have access to these
funds and settle their court-adjudicated claims.

These men have repeatedly asked Treasury to reclassify FARC
assets to allow them to seize them, but were either ignored or de-
nied. There is no administrative solution, and legislative action is
necessary.

Our staff spent months reaching out to the Administration to get
their comments on the bill. They responded one time, and we need
massive changes to the bill to address their concerns. It is the
smallest change in the law necessary to achieve the objective.

I am therefore glad to have this opportunity to demonstrate how
and why we introduce the BASTA Act to remedy this injustice. I
thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I yield back.

Mr. HUIZENGA. The gentlemen yields back.

And with that, we are going to move right to our panel. I would
like to extend a welcome to our first panel of witnesses: Jennifer
Fowler, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Terrorism and Financial
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Crimes, U.S. Department of the Treasury; and Marshall Miller,
Acting Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, U.S. Depart-
ment of Justice.

You will each be recognized for 5 minutes to give your oral pres-
entation of your testimony. And without objection, your written
statements will be made a part of the record. And, of course, in
front on you on the table is a series of lights: green; yellow; and
red. When it turns red, you will have one minute to sum up. And
I will be quick with the gavel today. So once each of you has fin-
ished testifying, each member of the committee will have 5 minutes
in which to ask questions.

Ms. Fowler, you are now recognized for 5 minutes.

STATEMENT OF JENNIFER L. FOWLER, DEPUTY ASSISTANT
SECRETARY FOR TERRORISM AND FINANCIAL CRIMES, U.S.
DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Ms. FOwWLER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Clay,
and members of the subcommittee. I appreciate the opportunity to
appear today before you to discuss the proposed bank account sei-
zure of terrorist assets amendment and its potential effects on
Treasury’s implementation of the Foreign Narcotics Kingpin Des-
ignation Act, commonly known as the Kingpin Act.

Before I begin, I want to extend my deepest sympathies and that
of the Department of the Treasury, to all victims of violence, from
terrorism and all other crimes, and strongly condemn all violent
acts by terrorist organizations, including the Revolutionary Armed
Forces of Colombia or the FARC.

For nearly 15 years, the Treasury Department has robustly im-
plemented the Kingpin Act to disrupt and dismantle narcotics traf-
ficking organizations like the FARC and deprive them of the re-
sources needed to carry out their violent activities that threaten
U.S. and global security.

The Kingpin Act prohibits transitions with foreign narcotics traf-
fickers identified by the President and provides authority for Treas-
ury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, or OFAC, to designate for-
eign individuals and entities that are acting on behalf of the des-
ignated kingpins. This authority allows OFAC to go after the finan-
cial and support networks of drug-trafficking organizations, includ-
ing the money launderers, front companies and transportation and
communications firms facilitating their activities, as well as the as-
sets where they store their wealth.

The Kingpin Act is one of the most powerful and effective tools
we have to disrupt the financial underpinnings of narcotics traf-
ficking organizations. These sanctions have been used with great
success against traffickers in Mexico, such as Los Zetas and the
Sinaloa Cartel in Colombia, and throughout Central America.

Particularly in Honduras and Guatemala, the Kingpin Act has a
global reach and OFAC has targeted drug traffickers around the
world, including in Afghanistan, Lebanon, and Nigeria. Since June
2000, more than 1,600 individuals and entities have been named,
pursuant to the Kingpin Act, for their role in international nar-
cotics trafficking. This authority has been enhanced by our robust
cooperation with foreign governments and law enforcement who
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have often initiated investigations in their own countries, based on
our designations.

These foreign investigations sparked by Kingpin Act designations
have resulted in numerous seizures and arrests abroad. The sei-
zure by the Honduran government in September 2013 of $500 mil-
lion in narcotics-linked assets was done in close coordination with
OFAC on a Kingpin designation. It was the largest drug-related
asset seizure in Honduran history.

Financial sanctions have been called a civil death by narcotics
traffickers themselves, due to their subsequent inability to main-
tain banking and commercial relationships. These financial sanc-
tions isolate them from the U.S. financial system, and often the fi-
nancial system in their own country.

In addition, if the traffickers have assets in the United States,
these assets are blocked or frozen and access to the assets is con-
trolled by the government. Traffickers must then petition OFAC
and demonstrate a change in their behavior for the designation to
be lifted and to regain access to those frozen assets. Using access
to these frozen assets is an important point of leverage to effect be-
havioral change by narcotics traffickers.

Since 2000, 200 Kingpin Act designees have come to us to peti-
tion for removal. After a thorough investigation, OFAC agreed that
137 of them had demonstrated a credible change in behavior and
therefore removed them from the SDN list. In some cases, des-
ignated individuals showed proof of credible change by agreeing to
cooperate with U.S. or foreign enforcement, by renouncing any
rights to foreign assets derived by narcotics trafficking, or by sev-
ering their ties to front companies.

The Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002, commonly known as
TRIA, allows for a person who has obtained a judgment against a
terrorist party to attach any blocked assets of that terrorist party
in aid of satisfying such judgment. Currently, the term “blocked as-
sets,” as defined by TRIA, refers only to assets frozen by the
United States, pursuant to the Trading with the Enemy Act or the
International Emergency Economic Powers Act.

The Kingpin Act, on the other hand, was specifically created to
address the separate threat to our country’s international interests
posed by the activities of international narcotics traffickers.
Amending TRIA’s definition of blocked assets to include property
frozen, pursuant to the Kingpin Act, could have potentially nega-
tive effects. We expect that, as applied, this amendment could re-
sult in the attachment and depletion of blocked assets of non-ter-
rorist-related narcotics traffickers, including those operating in
Mexico, Central America, and Colombia. This could limit Treas-
ury’s ability to use these blocked assets as leverage against dan-
gerous groups such as the Sinaloa Cartel, Los Zetas, Los Cachiros,
and Colombian criminal gangs involved in the drug trade.

In closing, I want to urge Congress to give careful consideration
to the potential impact any amendment to TRIA may have on the
targeting of drug-trafficking organizations under the Kingpin Act.

Thank you very much for the opportunity to be here today, and
I welcome any questions.

[The prepared statement of Deputy Assistant Secretary Fowler
can be found on page 42 of the appendix.]
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Mr. HUiZENGA. With that, we now recognize Mr. Miller for 5 min-
utes.

STATEMENT OF MARSHALL L. MILLER, ACTING PRINCIPAL
DEPUTY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL, U.S. DEPART-
MENT OF JUSTICE

Mr. MILLER. Mr. Chairman, distinguished members of the sub-
committee, thank you for inviting me to speak at this hearing. The
Department of Justice is fully committed to using all of our pros-
ecutorial tools to combat terrorists and narcotics-trafficking organi-
zations. The primary approach employed by the dedicated prosecu-
tors at the Department of Justice is the prosecution of members
and associates of such groups for their criminal acts. We also em-
ploy our forfeiture authorities to seize assets and we vigorously
pursue restitution for crime victims.

The Department works with crime victims on a daily basis to en-
sure they receive justice for the harms they have suffered. Specifi-
cally, the seizure and forfeiture of assets that represent the pro-
ceeds of Federal crimes or that were used to facilitate those crimes
are covered by the Department of Justice’s Asset Forfeiture Pro-
gram.

The program’s primary mission is to use asset forfeiture to en-
hance public safety and security by ensuring that crime does not
pay. To accomplish that mission, the Department forfeits the pro-
ceeds of crime or other substitute assets directly from the criminals
themselves. Asset forfeiture, thus, takes the profit out of crime, dis-
rupts criminal organizations, lessens their economic influence, and
serves as a deterrent to future criminal activity.

In addition, the laws governing asset forfeiture provide pretrial
preservation tools to prevent criminal defendants from dissipating
crime proceeds, ensuring that such proceeds remain available for
forfeiture or restitution.

The Criminal Division’s Asset Forfeiture and Money Laundering
Section, or AFMLS, spearheads the asset forfeiture program, and
more generally, the Department’s asset forfeiture and anti-money-
laundering enforcement efforts.

Most importantly for today’s hearing, AFMLS leads the Depart-
ment’s efforts to return forfeited criminal proceeds to those harmed
by crime by through the administration of victim claims. The De-
partment works to ensure that victims of crime are fairly and equi-
tably compensated. The authority to distribute forfeited funds has
been entrusted to the Attorney General. This makes sense legally,
because once property or funds are forfeited, ownership of the prop-
erty or funds in question transfers to the government. But it is also
sensible, as it allows the government to finalize and execute for-
feiture orders fairly without prejudicing the rights of any claim-
ants.

The process by which the Department distributes forfeited assets
is known as remission. Under the applicable regulatory framework
governing remission, the Department has provided compensation to
thousands of victims for a wide variety of crimes, ranging from
Ponzi schemes, mail and wire fraud, and health care fraud, to iden-
tity theft, intellectual property, and trademark violations.



6

Since 2001, nearly $4 billion in forfeited assets has been dis-
bursed to victims by the Department, under the Attorney General’s
authority. Over $203 million has been returned to victims so far
this year. The remission process is governed by Federal regulations
that define a victim as an innocent person who has suffered a pecu-
niary loss as a direct result of the crime underlying the forfeiture
or a related offense. It is important to note that the remission regu-
lations give no preferential treatment to any particular victims. All
victims must submit and document their losses with supporting
documents.

When the forfeited funds are not sufficient to compensate mul-
tiple victims for the entirety of their losses, the funds are generally
distributed on a pro rata basis in accordance with each victim’s
verified pecuniary loss amount.

An important purpose of these regulations is to prevent victims
of crime from being doubly harmed, first by the underlying crimi-
nal conduct and a second time as resources are dissipated as vic-
tims are forced to compete over a limited pot of money. The Depart-
ment remains steadfast in its commitment to ensuring that for-
feiture plays a key role in helping victims recover from the crimes
committed against them.

If I might take a brief moment, I would like on behalf of the De-
partment of Justice to express our strong feelings of sympathy, re-
spect, and admiration for the FARC hostage-taking victims, par-
ticularly Mr. Howes, Mr. Stansell, and Mr. Gonsalves, who are
here today, as well as the families of those who lost their lives dur-
ing that crime.

Their resolve, tenacity, and dedication to this country in the face
of horrific treatment from their FARC captors is truly inspiring,
and the Department of Justice will not rest in our efforts to bring
their captors to justice.

I would like to again thank the subcommittee for holding this
hearing and providing the Department with the opportunity to ex-
plain our forfeiture efforts, remission procedures, and commitment
to compensating the victims of crime. I am happy to answer any
1(’1luestions that you may have, and I yield back any time that I still

ave.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Miller can be found on page 66
of the appendix.]

Mr. HUIZENGA. The gentleman yields back. Thank you for doing
that. At this time, the Chair yields himself up to 5 minutes for
questions. And with that, I will start with you, Mr. Marshall.

So as we were talking about—this is rather technical. Help me
understand the technical differences between blocked, frozen,
seized, and forfeited assets, and really what the circumstances are;
I know you were touching on that.

I want to make sure that as you were talking about the pecu-
niary damages that have happened, how this has—I am assuming
part of this is, how do you quantify monetarily what the damage
is? Is that where part of the hang-up is?

Mr. MILLER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. To begin with the first
part of your question, there is a significant difference between
blocked and frozen assets on the one hand, and seized and forfeited
assets on the other.
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And I can let my colleague from the Department of the Treasury
speak a little more about frozen and blocked assets, but essentially
those are assets that remain under the ownership of the original
party whose assets were blocked. They can’t access those assets.
They can’t use those assets, but they remain in their ownership.

Seized or frozen assets mean assets that the Department of Jus-
tice has taken action to actually assume ownership of. So when a
criminal prosecution is filed and forfeiture allegations are included
against particular assets, we, the Department of Justice, get a war-
rant to seize those assets and then begin the process of actually
taking ownership of them.

So when the assets are ultimately forfeited, ownership transfers
to the Government of the United States. Those are important tools
that we use in criminal cases, the forfeiture authorities, to stop
criminals from dissipating those assets during the penancy of a
criminal prosecution, making sure that those assets are seized, and
thus at the end of a criminal prosecution they can be provided to
victims through restitution or forfeiture or ultimately forfeited to
the United States.

Mr. HUIZENGA. In your testimony, though, you talked about fo-
cusing on victims who have suffered “quantifiable pecuniary harm.”
As the regulations set forth, quantifying nonpecuniary harm is a
very difficult process. Is there no way of determining financially
what the harm was here?

Mr. MILLER. One way that takes place, Mr. Chairman, is in the
restitution process. So in an individual criminal case, there is a—
at times, courts can attempt to quantify harms to individuals that
aren’t the loss of particular funds. So in a nonfraud case for exam-
ple, when funds are forfeited, the regulations that govern the re-
mission process do require proof of some sort of quantifiable pecu-
niary harm.

To attempt to quantify a non-pecuniary harm is not called for
within the regulations and is, as the Chair recognized, a difficult
process, one that could consume significant resources as the De-
partment or some independent body attempts to figure out what
dollar figure should attach to nonpecuniary harm and then resolve
the differences amongst potentially numerous victims with respect
to that harm.

Mr. HUiZzENGA. All right. I have a minute-and-a-half left, and we
did just have votes called, but we are going to try and get through
this.

Ms. Fowler, help me—we have a minute left. Help me under-
stand the decision-making process, if this is blocked under the
Kingpin Act as drug trafficker’s assets rather than terrorist assets,
even though the FARC has been designated a terrorist organiza-
tion.

Ms. FOWLER. So yes, the FARC is designated as a terrorist orga-
nization, but it is also designated by the President as a kingpin
under the Kingpin Act.

We have pursued designations of kingpin leadership and other
elements of its financial and support network under the Kingpin
Act. That is the authority that we use to go after drug trafficking
activities globally, as I said in my statement.
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We have been focused on depriving the FARC of its money-mak-
ing capabilities, and that revolves around the drug trade. So, we
Rave focused on our actions against the FARC under the Kingpin

ct.

There is also a robust law enforcement cooperation that goes on
within the auspices of the Kingpin Act. We rely on information
from law enforcement, from our partners domestically to carry out
those designations. So that is how we have chosen to sort of dis-
mantle their financial support network.

Mr. HUIZENGA. Okay. My time has expired. With that, the Chair
recognizes Mr. Posey for 5 minutes.

Mr. Posey. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Ms. Fowler, in your testi-
mony you said—I am assuming that you oppose the legislation we
are looking at now?

Ms. FOwWLER. We haven’t taken a position on the legislation. I am
here to be a resource to provide information about potential con-
sequences. But we haven’t taken a position yet.

Mr. PosSEY. So Treasury doesn’t care one way or the other? Is
that correct?

Ms. FOWLER. We are still assessing it.

Mr. Posey. When are you going to finish assessing it? It has
been months and months and months. These victims have been
looking to you for years to do something. When are you going to
come up with an assessment? When are you going to really care
one way or the other?

Ms. FOWLER. We have provided—

Mr. Posgy. If you don’t have an answer for that, that is okay.
In your testimony you said this bill, by allowing these people to be
eligible for compensation for being murdered and tortured, “could
limit the Treasury’s ability to use blocked assets as leverage
against dangerous groups such as” and you listed them.

These people have been harmed by dangerous groups. Could you
explain to me how letting these guys recover from narcotics dealers
and terrorists is going to harm your ability to deal with other nar-
cotics dealers and terrorists?

Ms. FOWLER. So the amendment as drafted, what we would ex-
pect its application to include would be assets of non-terrorist-re-
lated drug trafficking groups, non-FARC-related groups. So groups
like Los Atos and other groups in Central America that are in-
volved in the direct distribution of drugs into the United States.

That application would make assets that are not terrorist-related
available to terrorist victims. That is the potential consequence.
And as I said in my statement—

Mr. Posey. Okay. So, if I was just watching this on C-SPAN, I
would think Treasury is more interested in protecting the assets of
drug runners and terrorists than they are for compensating the vic-
tims of those people, and I think that is why it was set up origi-
nally under TRIA.

My time is running short here. Mr. Miller, you talk about the va-
riety of crimes that you all have provided—helped recover com-
pensation for victims of Ponzi schemes, mail and wire fraud, health
care fraud, identify theft, intellectual property and trademark vio-
lations. Since 2001, nearly $4 billion in forfeit. And those are
crimes for which people should be compensated.
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But I think above all of those are victims who have been phys-
ically tortured and murdered. And I think they should have some
priority in this process. You said that the Justice Department won’t
rest until they bring the perpetrators to justice. And you know, and
I know, that you never will.

So I would think the best thing that you could do is endorse at
this time trying to get the victims compensated. And I should ask
you to begin with, do you oppose this bill?

Mr. MILLER. To begin, Congressman, I think this bill, as cur-
rently drafted, really doesn’t address Department of Justice equi-
ties directly. It is really more in the Department of the Treasury’s
name.

Mr. POsSEY. Do you oppose it or support it?

Mr. MiLLER. We defer to the Department of the Treasury as it
affects them.

Mr. Posey. And they don’t care one way or the other at this
point, and you don’t care one way or the other at this point. Is that
correct?

Mr. MILLER. I wouldn’t put it that way, Congressman. The De-
partment of Justice is, as I said, committed to bringing to justice
the captors, and we have had some—

Mr. PoseY. I know you never will, and I think you know in your
heart you never will. And I would like to stick to this bill. You said
you defer to the Treasury, and they say they really don’t care that
they haven’t had time to possibly analyze this since 2002 and don’t
know when they are going to be able to finish analyzing it.

We are basically interested in solving problems up here. And no-
body has come up with any other better idea to solve the problem.
They have only come up with ways or objections or treading water
to stop us from solving a problem, which is narcoterrorists mur-
dering and torturing people without any remedy for the victims.

Mr. MiLLER. Congressman, as I think you know, we have
charged over 15 defendants with these crimes. One of them has
pled guilty and is due to be sentenced. At least, it is scheduled for
next week. It may get pushed off, as I understand it, but I am not
certain about that. But as of now, it is scheduled for next week. An
additional defendant was sentenced to 60 years in prison.

So I think we do continue to fight for justice in terms of actual
prosecutions of the individuals involved in this offense, and I don’t
think we view it as something that can never happen. We fight
every day to make sure that it does happen.

Mr. Posey. Why would you want to block us from allowing these
people to recover court-awarded damages from narcoterrorists?

Mr. MILLER. I don’t think the Department’s position is that we
look to stop people from obtaining restitution where we can fight
to make that happen. We pursue restitution orders for terrorism
victims in cases across the country.

Mr. HUIZENGA. The gentleman’s time has expired. And in the in-
terest of time, we have about 4 minutes left, I think, to vote. I'm
sorry. My eyes are getting bad. I am trying to see the screen; 7
minutes left of voting. And with that, we will recognize Mr.
Mulvaney for 5 minutes.

Mr. MULVANEY. Thanks. And I will try and be “un-Southern” and
talk fast for a little bit. Ms. Fowler, Mr. Miller, I am going to do
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something unusual for a politician, which is admit to you in ad-
vance that I don’t know that much about what we are dealing with.
So I am going to do something rare, and actually ask questions
with a desire to simply learn about the topic.

Ms. Fowler, you mentioned during your testimony, and I have it
in front of me, that one of the—TRIA added Trading with the
Enemy and IEEPA as this fund that victims could get to. And you
say in your testimony that you are against adding Kingpin to that
because it would limit your ability to use them as leverage. I don’t
get that. Why was using Trading with the Enemy okay, and IEEPA
okay, but Kingpin is not?

Ms. FOWLER. The reality is that Kingpin was in place as law
when TRIA was put in place as law. So—

Mr. MULVANEY. Right.

Ms. FOWLER. —I don’t know why it wasn’t brought in as part of
that legislation. It is clearly not part of TRIA. The assets blocked,
pursuant to the Kingpin Act, are not available to victims under
TRIA. I didn’t say in my testimony that we oppose the amendment
that is being proposed. We are still assessing it. What I have tried
to do is explain what the potential consequences are, if this amend-
ment goes through. And what we have seen is—

Mr. MULVANEY. But you all didn’t oppose adding IEEPA and
Trading with the Enemy, right?

Ms. FOWLER. I really couldn’t speak to what our position was at
that point. It was 10 years ago.

Mr. MULVANEY. My notes say that you didn’t. So I am trying to
figure out the distinction. What is the difference between these two
things? Why is it okay to use IEEPA and TRIA, but not Kingpin?

Ms. FOwLER. Under Kingpin—there are a variety of non-ter-
rorist-related narcotics trafficking groups that are targeted under
Kingpin.

Mr. MULVANEY. Right.

Ms. FOWLER. They are not involved in terrorist activity. What
they are is motivated by profit. They are involved in this dangerous
criminal activity that is bringing drugs into the United States. So
they are not terrorist groups. The FARC, however, happens to be
both a terrorist group and a drug-trafficking organization. So they
are blocked under both authorities. What some of the testimony
submitted today suggests is that any group that is involved in co-
caine trade anywhere should be considered part of the FARC.
Under our authorities, there are very clear definitions about who
is part of the FARC and who is not. We have groups like Los Zetas,
other groups in Honduras and Guatemala that are—

Mr. MULVANEY. You mentioned that. And you say that the pro-
posal could limit Treasury’s ability to use these blocked assets as
leverage.

Ms. FOWLER. For the assets that we have blocked for terrorist
groups, there are many points of leverage that we have under our
authorities. One point of leverage is the frozen assets that could be
blocked in the United States.

Mr. MULVANEY. Right.

Ms. FOWLER. If you are a drug trafficker motivated by profit, you
certainly want to regain access to the assets that are blocked. We
have had examples over the years where drug traffickers or people
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who are facilitating their financial activities, motivated by profit,
are named under Kingpin. They find themselves exposed publicly
for what they are doing, involved in criminal activity, supporting
drug traffickers. They can’t do business in their host countries any-
more. They can’t do business in the United States. They have no
access to their assets. So every point of leverage we have under our
authority is a way to convince these drug traffickers to disassociate
from those activities—potentially and in many cases—

Mr. MULVANEY. And I don’t want to cut you off.

Ms. FOWLER. —typically law enforcement and help us in con-
tinuing investigations.

Mr. MULVANEY. But—

Ms. FOWLER. And that has been one of the benefits of this—

Mr. MULVANEY. Right. But I guess my point is that drug traf-
fickers are bad people, terrorists are bad people. It looks as though
Treasury was okay with giving up that leverage against terrorists
in TRIA, but not on Kingpin. I am trying to get a handle around
the disparate impact, not only on, I guess on the law, but on the
victims. It is almost like if you are a victim of a terrorist attack,
we have systems set up to help people. But if you are a victim of
a drug dealer, you are not. And that is what I am trying to get my
hands around as to why Treasury sort of makes the distinction be-
tween the two. Shouldn’t we have consistency across those two
things?

Ms. FOWLER. I don’t think Treasury is making a distinction.
TRIA makes a distinction. It doesn’t include Kingpin.

Mr. MULVANEY. Right. By my understanding. And again, I could
be wrong, and maybe you weren’t there. I certainly wasn’t here
when TRIA was passed in 2002. But all the history that I have
been presented with seems to say that Treasury supported the ad-
dition of IEEPA to TRIA. If I am wrong about that, then I am
wrong about that.

Ms. FOWLER. I am really—I'm sorry, I can’t speak to what our
position was on that 10 years ago.

Mr. MULVANEY. All right. Help me—either of you, what have you
done to actually help the victims who are here today? I don’t have
their names and I am sorry. Mr. Howes, Mr. Stansell, Mr.
Gonsalves. What have we actually done to try and help these folks?

Mr. MILLER. At the Department of Justice, as I said a few mo-
ments ago, we have been working very hard to bring to justice
those who perpetrated crimes against the individuals who are here
today.

Mr. MULVANEY. Sure. And that helps everybody in the room,
right? I am asking you specifically, what have you done to help
these folks?

Mr. MiLLER. I think going after the people who harmed them and
committed crimes against them is an important part, at least from
the Department of Justice’s perspective, of how we go about help-
ing victims. We think—our core mission is to prosecute the individ-
uals who commit horrific crimes and to bring them to justice. And
we stand committed to doing that in this case and in any other
case. Through that process, we also pursue restitution. And where
we can, we forfeit assets from the individuals who have committed
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and the organizations that commit offenses. So that is what we do
to try to look out for victims. And we work very hard on—

Mr. MULVANEY. Again, Mr. Miller, I don’t know that much about
the individual case, but I will ask the question, has restitution
been made in this circumstance or not?

Mr. MILLER. I believe that—my understanding is that the indi-
viduals who have, so far, been prosecuted had insufficient funds to
satisfy, for example, the $300 judgment that has been entered. But
we continue to work very hard to bring to justice those who were
involved in the offenses.

Mr. MULVANEY. Thank you.

Mr. HUiZENGA. And with that—I have been an inattentive com-
mittee chairman. I am trying to figure out our votes here, so we
did go a bit over time. But I think we can squeeze one more Mem-
ber in. Mr. Stutzman from Indiana is recognized for 5 minutes.

Mr. STUTZMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. At this time, I will
yield to the gentleman from Florida.

Mr. Posgy. I thank the gentleman for yielding. Just to follow up
on Mr. Mulvaney’s question, the individuals whom you ultimately
convict conveniently never have any assets by the time they are
convicted, so they can make no restitution. Bernard Madoff, by the
time he basically turned himself in, still had some assets that you
were able to help get and give back to some of his victims.

But I am concerned that there seems to be no interest in com-
pensating the victims of narco-terrorism. You have the whole laun-
dry list of white-collar crimes for which you have helped com-
pensate the victims. And I just haven’t heard any justification yet.

And I was hoping I would hear it today, if there was, in fact, a
fair and realistic justification for not wanting to see the victims of
narco-terrorists, people who were in prison for 5% years, people
who were tortured, people who didn’t endure the torture and died,
and their families. I think some restitution is due there and I see
you two, right now, maybe wrongly, but I see you and your agen-
cies for whatever reason, I don’t know, standing in the way of see-
ing justice for the victims.

And I wish you would tell me why that is not true. I have heard
you say, well, if we let the victims get the money, then we can’t
use their assets to maybe stop them from doing something else.
Freezing their assets, I think, is probably less beneficial to
leveraging against terrorists and narcotics operations, less threat-
ening to them than actually allowing a court-adjudicated access to
it for victims that they have victimized. Wouldn’t you agree?

Ms. FOWLER. Congressman, we are not opposed to victims having
access to assets that are properly available for attachment under
TRIﬁ. The issue here is that Kingpin assets are not covered by
TRIA.

Mr. Posey. All right. Repeat that.

Ms. FOWLER. And in the case of the FARC—

Mr. POSEY. Just repeat that, because I didn’t hear that very
clearly.

Ms. FOWLER. We are not opposed to assets that are properly
available for attachment under TRIA being made available to vic-
tims. The issue here is the Kingpin Act assets are not covered by
TRIA.
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Mr. POSEY. And the—

Ms. FOWLER. And in the case of the FARC, there are no assets
in the United States that would be available to victims.

Mr. Posey. The argument is if we don’t have access—the argu-
ment is there is no good reason not to have them accessible under
TRIA and under Kingpin. That is why we are here. We are here,
saying, the system that is in place to compensate victims is not
working. And we are here to try and fix that. We think people—
American citizens, heroes, people who were imprisoned, tortured,
murdered, trying to do the right thing for this country to protect
the citizens of this country—we think we shouldn’t turn a deaf ear.
And we think that it appears that we favor sometimes the people
who perpetrated the crimes over the the victims. And you say, they
are not covered under Kingpin, well, that is why we are here. We
are trying to see that they are covered under Kingpin. They should
be covered under Kingpin. And nobody is giving me one reason,
compelling or even frivolous, why they shouldn’t be yet.

Ms. FOWLER. What I am trying to do is explain that the amend-
ment that we are currently discussing, as applied, would go far be-
yond FARC assets. It would go into other drug-trafficking organiza-
tions that have no relation to terrorism, no relation to the FARC,
under our authorities. And those assets are a point of leverage that
we have. They are one of many points of leverage that we have to
try to dismantle those kinds of groups and prevent them from
doing the kinds of things that the FARC has done to the victims
in this case.

Mr. Posey. We don’t have time. And I am sure you can’t tell me
the type of assets we are talking about. But I just don’t know how
anybody could turn a blind eye to compensating the people who
have suffered so much for trying to protect the people who work
hard and play by the rules in this country to turn a blind eye to
that. And I would think that Department of the Treasury and the
Department of Justice would be advocating for anything that would
help compensate our victims, not standing in the way of anything
that would help these people seek a legal remedy that the courts
have already ordered to be justified.

Mr. HUIZENGA. The gentleman’s time is expiring.

And with that, I would like to thank our panel of witnesses for
their testimony today.

I will note that you see a third microphone set up. The State De-
partment was invited 2 weeks ago, but the State Department de-
cided not to show up. And I find that personally very unfortunate.
Again, I would like to extend my thanks to our panelists today.

With that, we are going to recess until 5 minutes after this series
of votes.

[recess]

Mr. HUIZENGA. The subcommittee will come to order. And I
would like to now extend to our second panel a warm welcome.

And again, I was remiss I think, in expressing specifically when
I pulled in that first panel, but having learned a little bit about the
story, my condolences to the family and the victims and those who
have had to live through this.

I had a political science major but a concentration in Latin Amer-
ican history and Latin American politics. And I studied the FARC,
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and I have studied a lot of those things, those conflicts that have
happened from the Sandinistas on down, and know how nasty
those folks are. So again, just to the families and the victims, you
are in our thoughts and prayers.

So with that, I would like to extend a welcome to Mr. Tom
Howes. And sir, you will be given 5 minutes.

Each of you on the panel, as we talked about before, will be rec-
ognized for 5 minutes to give your oral presentation. And without
objection, your written statements will be made a part of the
record.

And of course, the light that is in front of you on the table will
start out green, go to yellow, and then turn red. When your time
is up, please suspend. After your presentations, each Member up
here will be given 5 minutes, and I understand we may have some
other folks on their way as well, to ask questions.

So with that, Mr. Howes, you are recognized for 5 minutes.

STATEMENT OF THOMAS R. HOWES, VICTIM OF
INTERNATIONAL TERRORISM

Mr. HOwES. Good morning. My name is Tom Howes. I am a U.S.
citizen living in Congressman Posey’s district.

I was a copilot flying a Department of Defense counter-narcotic
surveillance mission in Colombia when we went down in FARC ter-
ritory. The FARC executed our pilot, Tom Janis, a former Delta
Force member.

I was held hostage for 5% years, during which time I was tor-
tured, chained, and starved. My fellow hostages, Keith Stansell and
Marc Gonsalves, are also here today. We were awarded the Sec-
retary of Defense Medal for the Defense of Freedom for our services
and sacrifice to the country.

We sued the FARC under the Anti-Terrorism Act, and in 2010
the Federal court in Tampa awarded us a judgment against the
FARC and 80 individual FARC leaders. The FARC itself has no
blocked assets in the United States. Foreign terrorist organizations
do not open bank accounts in their own name. Instead, they oper-
ate through drug trafficking, partner cartels, and their money
launderers, the kingpins.

In 1995, President Clinton declared a national emergency of co-
caine traffickers centered in Colombia. Blocking narco-trafficker as-
sets in an Executive Order under Congress, the International
Emergency Economic Powers Act (IEEPA), which we talked about
earlier today.

TRIA authorizes terrorism victim judgment holders to execute on
the blocked assets of agencies or instrumentalities of the terrorist
party, even though the agency or instrumentality itself is not
named in the judgment. TRIA allows us to execute on IEEPA as-
sets, but not assets blocked under the Kingpin Act.

The Kingpin Act of 1999 is modeled on IEEPA and expanded
sanctions worldwide, not just on Colombian traffickers under
IEEPA. The FARC and its leaders are all designated under the
Kingpin Act, not under IEEPA.

Since 2010, the Administration has blocked all narco-trafficking
assets under the Kingpin Act instead of IEEPA. In 2013, the 11th
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Circuit Court ruled that assets blocked under the Kingpin Act were
not included in TRIA’s definition of blocked assets.

So we lost the money and it went back to the former FARC
money launderer. We made several requests to Justice and Treas-
ury for administrative relief, and all our requests were denied.

The BASTA Act corrects this injustice by adding the Kingpin Act
blocked assets to the list of blocked assets under TRIA. It makes
no sense that TRIA allows terrorism victims to seize terrorist
narco-trafficker assets blocked under one Act of Congress, IEEPA,
but not assets blocked on another Act of Congress, the Kingpin Act.

BASTA will have no effect on the government’s ability to des-
ignate, extradite, convict, and forfeit blocked assets of drug king-
pins. In fact, allowing terrorism victims to go after narco-trafficker
assets will only increase the Administration’s leverage because the
blocked parties will want to be delisted as fast as possible.

We have repeatedly asked Treasury to reclassify FARC assets to
allow us to seize them, but were either ignored or denied. There
is no administrative solution, and legislative action is necessary.

Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Howes can be found on page 45
of the appendix.]

Mr. HuizENGA. We will now recognize Mr. Doug Farah. And sir,
you have 5 minutes as well.

STATEMENT OF DOUGLAS FARAH, PRESIDENT, IBI
CONSULTANTS LLC

Mr. FARAH. Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee, thank
you for this opportunity to testify about FARC in Colombia, the
world’s premier hybrid terrorist drug trafficking organization.

I have had the privilege of being deeply involved in Colombia
since 1989. And over the past quarter of a century, I have lived in
Colombia for a number of years, and I visit there regularly.

The FARC, despite ongoing peace talks with the government of
President Juan Manuel Santos, remains at the center of a mul-
titude of criminal enterprises and terrorist activities that stretch
from Colombia to Argentina and northward to Central America
into direct ties with the Mexican drug cartel, primarily the Sinaloa
organization. It is involved in the massive laundering of drug
money, and recent cases by the Drug Enforcement Administration
have shown direct and growing criminal ties between the FARC,
Hezbollah, and other terrorist organizations.

The Treasury Department representative earlier pointed out that
if we try to tie all the drug trafficking back to the FARC—I would
say that if there is one grocery store in the neighborhood, every-
body goes there to buy groceries. And the DEA tells us that at least
80 percent of the cocaine consumed in the United States is fab-
ricated by the FARC. So yes, I think you can tie a great deal of
the drug trafficking organizations directly to the FARC production.

The FARC is one of only three organizations in the world that
is designated by the U.S. Government as both a major drug traf-
ficking organization and an international terrorist entity. The Eu-
ropean Union, Canada, and other countries share this assessment.
And they have been designated in part initially as a terrorist orga-
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nization because of the execution of U.S. citizens, something that
is often forgotten.

In 1993 and 1994, in different incidents, they kidnapped 6 U.S.
missionaries, and killed them all while in captivity. In March 1999,
the FARC abducted three Native American activists and killed
them as well, on the spot. And of course, we have the incident that
brought us here today with these gentlemen who were serving
their country and were taken hostage by the FARC for 5%z years.

In 2001, shortly after the 9/11 attacks, the FARC was designated
as a Specially Designated Global Terrorist Organization, which
gave expanded power to the government to go after them. And in
2003, they were designated under the Kingpin Act.

Under the protection of the governments of Venezuela, Ecuador,
Nicaragua, Bolivia, and El Salvador, the FARC now maintains a
robust international infrastructure that is producing and moving
thousands of kilos of cocaine and laundering hundreds of millions
of dollars. It has emerged as a pioneer hybrid criminal terrorist in-
surgency.

The FARC is a central part of the revolutionary project that is
bringing together armed groups and terrorist organizations under
the umbrella of the Bolivarian Revolution with the aid and support
of Iran. The U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets
Control, which has carried out at least 18 designations of FARC en-
tities, describes the group as a narco-terrorist entity.

There is now a significant body of evidence showing the FARC’s
operational alliance with Hezbollah and Hezbollah-based allies and
other terrorist organizations in the region. A clear example of the
breadth of the emerging alliances among criminal and terrorist or-
ganizations is Operation Titan, executed by Colombian and U.S. of-
ficials in 2008.

They found, after a 2-year investigation, that they were able to
dismantle the drug trafficking organization that stretched from Co-
lombia to Panama, Mexico, West Africa, the United States, and the
Middle East. The cocaine path used in that massive network was
mostly derived from the FARC.

Colombian and U.S. officials say that one of the key money
launderers in the structure, Chekry Harb, aka “Taliban” acted as
a central go-between among Latin American drug-trafficking orga-
nizations selling FARC-produced cocaine, and Middle East radical
groups.

There has been little public acknowledgement of the Hezbollah
ties to Latin American transnational criminal organizations. But
recent indictments based on U.S. DEA cases point to the growing
overlap of these groups.

In December 2011, U.S. officials charged Ayman Joumaa, an ac-
cused Lebanese drug kingpin and Hezbollah financier, with smug-
gling tons of FARC-made cocaine to the United States, and laun-
dering hundreds of millions of dollars on behalf of the Zetas cartel
in Mexico, while operating in Panama, West Africa, and elsewhere.
Joumaa was tied to a broader case of massive money laundering
that led to the collapse of the Lebanese Canadian Bank, one of the
primary financial institutions used by Hezbollah to finance its
worldwide activities.
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Other cases include the July 6, 2009, indictment of Jamal Yousef
in the U.S. Southern District Court of New York, alleging the de-
fendant, a former Syrian military officer arrested in Honduras, was
seeking to sell weapons to the FARC, exchanging those weapons for
cocaine, with the weapons coming initially from Hezbollah.

The FARC is an unusual hybrid criminal terrorist organization
that is among the largest cocaine producers in the world, deriving
an increasing amount of its revenue from relationships with mul-
tiple terrorist and criminal organizations. The FARC maintains
documented ties to Hezbollah, the ETA Basque separatist move-
ment, armed remnants of the IRA, and various armed groups in
Latin America. It has maintained ties to state sponsors of ter-
rorism such as Iran and Muammar Gaddafi when he ruled Libya.

It also maintains well-documented ties to the Sinaloa cartel and
into computers when they killed another senior leader of the
FARC. They have found photos of Sinaloa cartel leaders sitting
around drinking whiskey in parties with senior FARC leadership.
There is no doubt that there is a direct link there.

The ideological underpinnings of the FARC are Marxism and
deeply anti-American. And the veneer of ideology that formed the
basis of the relationship with Chavez and other terrorist organiza-
tions is now finally coming to light.

I will leave it there. Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Farah can be found on page 28
of the appendix.]

Mr. HUiZENGA. Thank you. The gentleman’s time has expired.
You have submitted quite an extensive written testimony as well
on that, and I appreciate it.

And with that, we will go to Mr. Steven Perles for 5 minutes.

STATEMENT OF STEVEN R. PERLES, FOUNDER AND SENIOR
PARTNER, PERLES LAW FIRM, PC

Mr. PERLES. Good morning, Mr. Chairman. With your permis-
sion, I will submit my written testimony for the record. And frank-
ly, carry on from where Mr. Mulvaney left off.

Before I do that, if I might very briefly introduce Mr. Chandler
Derbyshire to you. Mr. Derbyshire is my summer intern. His uncle,
Captain Vince Smith, was killed in the Beirut Marines barracks
bombing. His grandfather, General Keith Smith, was the organizer
of what is now known as the Beirut Marines Barracks Bombing
litigation, in which we have used TRIA as a vehicle for restraining
in excess of $1.8 billion of Iranian securities positions that were il-
licitly transiting New York.

I would also like to introduce my son, who is with me. I sent him
out to Michigan to get an education. And he served on the staff of
Senator Mark Kirk as a Senate Fellow in China Policy, using his
Mandarin language fluency to hunt Iranian assets in China for
Senator Kirk.

Let me really start where Congressman Mulvaney left off and
talk about how the process should work, rather than what every-
body else has been talking about today, and that is what is broken
and not working. And let me put this in a context of first the Bei-
rut Marine Barracks Bombing matter.
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Then-Under Secretary Levy and I discussed the potential for
seizing Iranian securities positions in New York that were outside
his scope of authority to seize, but for which he had intelligence
data. So effectively, we formed a public-private partnership. And
under that partnership, we sent the Treasury a subpoena.

The Treasury obtained a protective order from the court system
so that the intelligence data would be constrained in its public dis-
semination. And we used that intelligence data to seize Iranian as-
sets in New York.

As part of that discovery process, we have now obtained in excess
of 100,000 pages of material about the movement of Iranian securi-
ties positions through the U.S. banking system. The government in
turn issued us a subpoena. And we are actually under grand jury
subpoena in the southern district in New York. So we turned all
of our discovery material over to the U.S. Attorney’s Office.

The net effect of this public-private partnership is that the vic-
tims get compensated and the government winds up with intel-
ligence data that it didn’t otherwise have. That is the way the sys-
tem should work.

In another case there was a man from Michigan, Jack Arm-
strong, who was publicly beheaded on Al Jazeera television at the
beginning of the Gulf War. We obtained a judgment for the Arm-
strong family against the government of Syria, the material sup-
porter of Al Qaeda in Iraq at the time of the beheading.

And again, we started this public-private partnership with the
Treasury under TRIA where we issued what I would call a friendly
subpoena to the Treasury. They turned data over to us. We secured
something in excess of $80 million of Syrian blocked assets in the
United States.

And that process is just winding up now. We in turn will take
a portion of that money and reinvest it into asset location exercises.
And when those exercises are complete, we will voluntarily turn all
of that data back over to the government.

Again, you really want to have this public-private partnership
where we get data, we start the process, that process brings in
data, and we turn it back to the government so that the victim’s
interests are advanced and the government’s interests are ad-
vanced.

I see very little merit in this notion that the government’s inter-
ests are different than the interests of private citizenry. It doesn’t
have to be that way. That is a cultural gap which exists between
the executive and the private bar.

It certainly existed in 2000, when we really started this process
for terror victims. And over the last 10 or 15 years, at least in the
world of terror victims, a lot of those culture barriers between the
private bar and the government have really broken down so that
we are in very good shape in terms of going out and assisting each
other.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Perles can be found on page 70
of the appendix.]

Mr. HUiZENGA. Okay. The gentleman’s time has expired. And
with that, I recognize myself for 5 minutes of questioning.
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So, Mr. Perles, just to make sure I am understanding you, this
PPP that you were talking about, this hybrid public-private part-
nership that has worked previously is not happening now. Correct?

Mr. PERLES. Not in the case—

Mr. HUIZENGA. In this particular case.

Mr. PERLES. —of FARC and FARC assets.

Mr. HUIZENGA. Why do you believe that it is not? And is that
something viable that should be pursued?

Mr. PERLES. I don’t make public policy here. I am really a techni-
cian. But if you are asking as a policy matter, would I like to see
it pursued, yes. I think—

Mr. HUIZENGA. Is there—okay. So let me sharpen it. Is there any
reason why we couldn’t or shouldn’t be doing that in this case?

Mr. PERLES. No. Actually, I would encourage you to do it.

Mr. HUIZENGA. Or encourage Treasury to do that.

Mr. PERLES. Encourage Treasury to do it.

Mr. HUIZENGA. Do you need to have a willing Treasury to be able
to do that?

Mr. PERLES. You need either a willing Treasury or a willing Con-
gress.

In the first instance, I would hope that Treasury would do it vol-
untarily. From what I heard today, the mindset of Treasury is very
much like the mindset we saw at the State Department in 1998,
1999, and 2000, which is that they want their blocked assets for
other purposes.

Mr. HUIZENGA. Other projects?

Mr. PERLES. Right, other projects. I think in 1998 it was really
more the legacy of Jimmy Carter’s negotiation of the Algiers Accord
facilitating the release of the Tehran hostages. State wanted that
{noney in order to be able to bribe out the release of American dip-
omats.

I happened to be on the Senate staff at the time that agreement
was negotiated. I didn’t care for it then and I don’t care for it now.
fidon’t think it is an appropriate way for the United States to con-

uct—

Mr. HUIZENGA. In your opinion, is BASTA a bill that is careful
to avoid unintended consequences?

Mr. PERLES. I think it is. I was actually quite flattered when
Congressman Posey’s office called me and asked me if I would give
some pro bono time to reviewing the bill.

I have not gone through the current draft. I have gone through
sevetc"lal early iterations of the bill. I think it is very narrowly fo-
cused.

I would encourage the committee to seek other people’s views.
You have to be very careful here not to do anything unintended.
As far as I know, the bill does not do anything unintended. I would
still seek other people’s opinions.

Mr. HUiZENGA. Mr. Howes, again, thank you for being here. And
I am sure I could tell just as you were starting to talk about it,
this must be very difficult to relive and to talk about. But it is an
important story, so thank you for sharing that.

But would you please describe your efforts to receive compensa-
tion for your treatment by the FARC and kind of what you have
gone through so far?
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Mr. Howes. We have done a number of things. We started out
in 2010, 2011. We made three separate requests for crime victim
relief for the Justice Department, and everything was denied.

In 2013, we made another 3 separate requests to the Treasury
Department to get license to execute on blocked kingpin assets of
seven FARC—or the instrument agencies or instrumentalities. One
of them was a FARC commander. Everything was again denied.

And we asked the Treasury to re-designate the kingpin—these
kingpins under IEEPA. Again, denied. And the LFAC response
was—I have it here—that LFAC does not respond to requests to
designate individuals or entities pursuant to certain authorities. It
was basically ignored or denied, I guess you could say.

And we have also provided copies of all this information, of the
Administration’s denials here for the record.

Mr. HUIZENGA. Do you believe that there is sufficient evidence
that FARC or those commanders and those designated people have
assets to be able to go and seize? Or are we going to have to go
at icl};em through other drug kingpins who may have assets here as
well?

Mr. HOwEs. I think for the FARC themselves, it is fairly difficult.
As I mentioned earlier, they don’t put bank accounts—

Mr. HUIZENGA. Yes.

Mr. HOWES. —and that sort of thing together. It is mostly the
aigflr%l(clies and instrumentalities that handle the money for the
F .

Mr. HUIZENGA. But certain individuals could?

Mr. HOWES. Certainly.

Mr. HUIZENGA. And do you know of any that have or do have
those kinds of assets?

Mr. HOWES. As far as the—

Mr. HUIZENGA. Agents’ role.

Mr. HOWES. —instrumentalities of the FARC?

Mr. HU1ZENGA. Those individuals. Those commanders or—

Mr. HOWES. There were seven that we looked at here. And we
were denied on all of them under the Kingpin Act, so yes.

Mr. HUIZENGA. Okay.

My time has expired. The Chair recognizes Mr. Posey for 5 min-
utes of questioning.

Mr. Posey. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

The written testimony for today’s hearing is compelling. It is
lengthy. It is highly detailed, technically perfect as far as I can see.
And it really gives a lot of insight into a system that is just not
working right and not working as it was intended.

In fairness, I think DOJ should be commended for their ability
to track the assets. That is not simple. That is good intel work,
hard work. And their persistence in trying to bring many of these
criminals to justice has taken many, many years.

It took I guess maybe 11 years to get one of the guys who was
responsible for Mr. Howes. And it just took a lot of persistence and
I want to commend DOJ for that.

But it is troubling that it appears to me that the Executive
Branch would enter into a lawsuit in which they were not origi-
nally a party. Is that correct, Mr. Howes? Did you have a lawsuit
in the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals, and did the agency inject
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itself into the lawsuit at that point? Or had they already been a
party to it?

Mr. HOWES. I believe they injected themselves into it.

Mr. PoSEY. Yes.

Mr. HOWES. Yes.

Mr. PostEY. Yes. We have a law-abiding American citizen, a vic-
tim of narcotics trafficking terrorists, and somebody who has been
imprisoned by them, tortured by them, and watched a senior col-
league be murdered by them. And he is trying to get justice against
the criminals.

And if I read this correctly, the Executive Branch jumped in and
challenged the definition of blocked asset, which really kind of was
the first big rock thrown into the cause here to stop the process
from functioning probably as it intended. Am I reading this cor-
rectly?

Mr. HOWES. Yes.

Mr. PoOsSEY. It is a stretch for anyone to wonder why an agency
would do that. You know why they would do that? Their logic that
well, if we control all their blocked assets, it harms them more
than people whom they have harmed getting some of those assets.

I see with blocked assets—if I am a bad guy and you block my
assets, at some point, someday I may be able to recover them.
Maybe a technicality in the court of law or whatever, transform
somehow.

But if people I have harmed are allowed, through the courts, ab-
solutely proper, legal jurisdiction to get those assets, I think that
probably hurts the narcotics trafficker and terrorist more than just
having his assets blocked. Does that seem like a logical conclusion?
Do any of the witnesses disagree with that?

Mr. HOWES. It certainly should. It seems the opposite of having
these assets returned to actual drug launderers and drug traf-
fickers.

Mr. POSEY. Yes.

And so the next question is, what happens—what are the dif-
ferent things that happen to blocked assets? Does anybody know?
Did they just stay blocked forever until they maybe arrest and con-
vict the guy?

And then what happens to the assets if they are convicted?
Maybe—

Mr. HOWES. In one case, and I think we have the record on file,
but a percentage of it is returned to the drug trafficker, money
launderer, returned to them.

Mr. PosEY. Does the agency keep any of the money? Does any-
body know? Mr. Perles?

Mr. PERLES. I can’t answer that question with respect to FARC
assets because I don’t practice in that area.

I think a good example, though, is the case of Libya. Libya saw
a whole series of lawsuits marching in its direction, whether it was
Lockerbie, which was one of my cases, or Libya’s bombing with the
La Belle discotheque, which was one of my cases.

And the total reparations paid by Libya to U.S. citizens I suspect
was in excess of ¥3 billion. Those reparations were paid because
Libya understood at the end of the day its blocked assets in the
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United States were going to be used to satisfy impending judg-
ments.

When the United States and Libya reached an agreement and
those reparations were paid, the United States then released
Libya’s governmental blocked assets as part of the normalization
agreement between the United States and Libya.

Mr. PoSEY. Was the entire $3 billion awarded to victims?

Mr. PERLES. The $3 billion represented prejudgment settlements
between Libya and the U.S. victims, and parties were paid. That
is correct.

Mr. Posey. Okay.

Mr. HUIZENGA. Sorry. The gentleman’s time has expired.

But without objection from the panelists, we wanted to do a sec-
ond round of—

Mr. Posey. Thank you.

Mr. HUIZENGA. —questioning. I know I have some questions as
well. So, if that is all right with our panelists who have time, then
all is good on this side as well. So, granting myself 5 minutes here.

Mr. Farah, your testimony says that FARC is “under the protec-
tion of the governments of Venezuela, Ecuador, Nicaragua, and Bo-
livia.” And certainly all of them have had their own issues over the
years. How well-documented is that “protection?” Is it well-docu-
mented enough to describe these governments as instrumentalities
of FARC with assets to go after there or to block?

Mr. FARAH. Thank you. I think that is a really interesting ques-
tion.

The documentation on Venezuela is overwhelming. And we have,
including OFAC designations of very senior Venezuelan officials for
both their relationship with the FARC and drug trafficking. At
least six of Chavez—when he was alive, Chavez posted his advisors
were designated. And they continue to be very powerful in the cur-
rent administration of Nicolas Maduro.

Bolivia, I think again the evidence is overwhelming. I think you
have to understand that to the Bolivarian system, set up by Cha-
vez, which was his goal of creating a united Bolivarian set of na-
tﬁ)ns, the FARC was due to the primary instrument for achieving
that.

And he supported very openly the FARC as an armed movement,
and called for other armed groups to join an armed insurrection
against the democratic countries in the region, and chose to use his
oil mine to finance the election of Rafael Correa, Evo Morales, and
then Daniel Ortega.

So I think that if you understand the FARC is in their view an
instrument of foreign policy, which their support for the groups is
I think overwhelming, especially if you look at the documentation
that comes from captured FARC documents in the Raul Reyes com-
puter and in the Armando Hahoy computers where you have the
internal communication of the FARC discussing in great detail the
relationships with Bolivia, with Correa, with Chavez, where they
specifically ask President Correa, for example, in Ecuador to move
certain commanders from the border area because they were being
too aggressive against the FARC.

And they write back and say sure, we will move. Who would you
like to see placed there? That is a pretty direct relationship.
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Mr. HUIZENGA. But that would need to be proven in court, I
would assume.

Mr. FARAH. The court—the documents showing that exists, and
actually in that particular case, are a matter of public record and
have been published.

Mr. HUIZENGA. Okay.

Mr. Perles, what do you think of this sort of line and—obviously
FARC is not a state or a country, per se, which is what your pre-
vious lawsuits had been trying to do, correct, tie that in with that
sponsorship? And wouldn’t permanently attaching funds of FARC
instrumentalities be noticeably different for state sponsors some-
how? What are your thoughts on this?

Mr. PERLES. I don’t see any interference between the kind of liti-
gation that I bring against state sponsors and expanding TRIA—
you are asking me, if I understood the question properly, do I see
any potential conflict between the kind of litigation that I brought
against state sponsors of terrorism and expanding TRIA to include
the FARC. And the answer is, I don’t see any conflict at all.

The whole notion of TRIA really goes back to an Iranian weapons
account that we tried to seize on behalf of the family of Alisa
Flatow who was killed in a bus bombing in Israel, Matt Eisenfeld
who was killed in a bus bombing in Israel, Sarah Duker who was
killed in a bus bombing in Israel, and Father Lawrence Martin
Jenco who was taken hostage in Beirut, Lebanon.

This litigation really occurred in the late 1990s. And we heard
many of the same objections from the State Department that I lis-
tened to this morning.

Congress passed legislation called the Victims Act 2000, which
freed up this weapons account or these families. And then went on
2 years later and fixed the problem generically in TRIA.

The U.S. Government has historically taken the position that
when an asset is blocked, the mantle of U.S. Governmental immu-
nity protects that asset. So that even if a terrorist state had lost
its immunity under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act, we still
couldn’t pierce through to that asset because of U.S. Governmental
immunity.

TRIA really fixes that immunity question. I look at TRIA as a
congressional waiver of the government’s immunity when it holds
blocked assets. The same thing would be true for FARC assets.

And if you look at it from that perspective, there is just no poten-
tial interference or collision between the enforcement of a judgment
against a terrorist state against a blocked terrorist state asset or
a judgment against FARC under ATA against a blocked FARC
asset.

Mr. HUIZENGA. Thank you. I appreciate that perspective.

And with that, I will grant 5 minutes to Mr. Posey for ques-
tioning.

Mr. PostEy. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I am still trying to get my arms around why the government
would block recovery by an American citizen who has been harmed
by a foreign terrorist group. It is still hard to grasp that we would
do that.
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And we tend to want to look at consent decrees again, how much
of the seized assets at the end of the day ever go to the victims,
and how much is gobbled up by the Federal agencies.

I have asked DOJ for a list of consent decrees before and they
were not forthcoming so they didn’t have time to tell me the de-
tails. So it will be a while, but eventually we will get them.

And a question for Mr. Howes, what did you do to petition the
Treasury to change their designation of FARC assets and FARC
agent instrumentality assets from Kingpin to IEEPA so that you
can seize assets under TRIA?

Mr. Howes. We made the request to re-designate the kingpin ac-
counts, but we were turned down.

Mr. PoseYy. Okay.

Mr. HOWES. Does that answer your question?

Mr. Posey. All right. When you go after FARC assets, do you
claim that every blocked narco-trafficking asset blocked under
Kingpin is subject to seizure? Or are you careful about who you go
after?

Mr. Howes. We are certainly careful who we go after. We go
after only blocked assets of the foreign kingpin narco-traffickers
which the Federal court determines are agencies or instrumental-
ities of the FARC.

We don’t go after, for example, kingpins who do not traffic in
FARC cocaine. We don’t go after narcotics traffickers that traffic
drugs for the Taliban. So it is specific to instrumentalities and
agencies of the FARC.

Mr. PoskEY. I read your testimony and it is—it really could be a
great mystery novel, a whodunit, because it is really difficult for
anyone who reads this to understand why the Federal Government
would block you. It is a mystery.

I can’t imagine the thought that, again, the Federal Government
would have more ability to work against traffickers if they don’t let
you recover their assets for the crimes they committed. Did they
ever give you any logical explanation for that?

Mr. HOWES. No. And again, the court—there was a judgment in
our favor by the court. And yet it feels like we are blocked by the
Department of Justice and the Treasury. It is a mystery to us.

Mr. Posey. Mr. Chairman, I am just bedazzled over this whole
thing. And I have a lot of questions that I would like to ask the
Treasury and DOJ again. Maybe, we could think about bringing
them back in here.

Sometimes when we have the government witnesses first, we
hear some things that really make a lot less sense after we hear
from the second panel of private sector witnesses. And this is an-
other one of those cases.

The testimony and discussion with these gentlemen has gen-
erated a significant number of questions that I would like to ad-
dress to Treasury and DOJ again. And normally, I would just write
them a letter and ask for a response, but I have been relatively un-
successful in getting information in that manner before. And in
some instances, it takes 9 months to get an answer to a relatively
simple question that I have asked a Federal agency.
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So, I would like to have a discussion with you about maybe ex-
tending this hearing for another round. I yield back, and I thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. HUIZENGA. The gentleman yields back. And we of course do
have an opportunity for you to do some things here on the official
side.

But I would like to thank our witnesses for being here today. It
has been very illuminating, and I think frustrating, for a number
of us to hear your testimony, and some of the answers that we
have had are non-answers that we have had to what has been
going on from our own government.

And again, Mr. Howes, and to the other gentlemen, we appre-
ciate your perseverance and your willingness to come and join us
today, and share this amazing story. And we offer blessings and
prayers for the best for each of you as you move forward.

Mr. PosEY. Mr. Chairman, may I add one more comment?

Mr. HuUizENGA. Without objection.

Mr. Posey. Today, we are talking about an injustice that has
been done to one of my constituents and two of his colleagues.

If you could see what is happening in the narcotics trafficking
world—I had an occasion to go visit the border at Nogales earlier
this year, and I was overwhelmed by the conditions that are there,
the narcotics trafficking, the human trafficking, the arms traf-
ficking that is going unabated.

The reality is that it is becoming more and more prevalent in
this country. It is permeating us more and more and more every
day. And while we just see 52 years of imprisonment and torture
from my constituent in South America today, tomorrow it could be
your constituent or any Member’s constituent in this country.

If you could see what I have seen about how the narcotics traf-
fickers, the cartels, deal with people who get in their way or don’t
cooperate with them, it is chilling. It is frightening. And it is a
threat to every man, woman, and child in the United States of
America.

While we may be talking about justice for three gentlemen today,
this could affect any man, woman, or child in the United States of
America in the coming years.

And I again want to thank you, applaud you and Mr. Hensarling
for addressing this issue to do whatever we can to man up or try
and stop the flow of terror that goes with narcotics coming into this
country, and saluting the gentlemen who try to do something about
it. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. HUiZENGA. Thank you. And I appreciate your bringing this
to everyone’s attention and to light.

The Chair notes that some Members may have additional ques-
tions for this panel, which they may wish to submit in writing.
Without objection, the hearing record will remain open for 5 legis-
lative days for Members to submit written questions to these wit-
nesses and to place their responses in the record. Also, without ob-
jection, Members will have 5 legislative days to submit extraneous
materials to the Chair for inclusion in the record.

Without objection, this hearing is adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 11:44 a.m., the hearing was adjourned.]
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Chairman Campbell, Ranking Member Clay and members of the committee, thank you for
the opportunity to testify here today on the nature of the Revolutionary Armed Forces of
Colombia {Fuerzas Armadas Revolucionarias de Colombia - FARC), the world’s premiere
hybrid terrorist/drug trafficking organization. ] have been asked to discuss the FARC's
relationship to terrorism and drug trafficking.

1 have had the privilege of being involved in Colombia since 1989.1 was first sent by the
Washington Post to cover an airliner blown up by the Medellin cartel. Over the past quarter
of a century | have lived in Colombia a number of years and visited there regularly, firstas a
journalist and in recent years as a researcher and a consultant. I have seen the nation teeter
on the edge of the abyss in the 1990s, when U.S. officials spoke of the possibility of a FARC
victory and Colombia becoming a “narco state” to the present time, when Colombia is a
regional model of democracy and economic development.

Yet the FARC, despite engaging in ongoing peace talks with the government of President
Juan Manuel Santos, remains at the center of a multitude of criminal enterprises and
terrorist activities that stretch from Colombia south to Argentina, and northward to Central
America and into direct ties to the Mexican drug cartels, primarily the Sinaloa organization,
It is involved in the massive laundering of drug money, and recent cases by the Drug
Enforcement Administration (DEA) have shown the direct and growing criminal drug ties of
the FARC and Hezbollah.

The FARC is the only organization in the world that is designated by the U.S. government as
both a major drug trafficking organization and an international terrorist entity. The United
States is not alone in its assessment.

The European Union, Canada and other countries have also designated the FARC a terrorist
entity, particularly for the kidnappings and execution of foreign nationals. In addition the
FARC has wreaked havoc on Colombia and Colombians.

In its most recent global human rights report covering 2012 the State Department listed the
FARC as a “terrorist organization” that has

Committed numerous abuses, including the following: political killings; killings of
members of the public security forces and local officials; widespread use of land
mines and improvised explosive devices (IEDs); kidnappings and forced
disappearances; subornation and intimidation of judges, prosecutors, and
witnesses; infringement on citizens’ privacy rights; restrictions on freedom of
movement; widespread recruitment and use of child soldiers; attacks against human
rights activists; violence against women, including rape and forced abortions.!

1 pepartment of State Country Report on Human Rights Practices for 2013, Bureau of Democracy,
Human Rights and Labor, “Colombia,” accessed at:

htp:/Jwww .state.gov/j/drl/ris/hrrpt/humanrightsreport/#wrapper
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The United States government first named the FARC a “Designated Foreign Terrorist
Organization” on October 8, 19972, due in large part to the decision by the organization’s
general secretariat a few years earlier to target U.S. citizens for kidnapping, particularly
evangelical Christian groups that lived and worked in isolated areas. In 1993 the FARC
kidnapped three members of the New Tribes Mission, and in 1994 kidnapped two more, as
well as a member of Wycliffe Bible Translators. All six were executed while in captivity.

After President Clinton made the designation, the FARC continued to target American
citizens where possible. In March 1999 the FARC abducted and kidnapped three Native
American activists on an indigenous land and executed them. In February 2003 the FARC
shot down an aircraft carrying 4 U.S citizens, all contractors supporting U.S. and Colombian
counter-narcotics efforts, The FARC executed one U.S. citizen and one Colombian and held
the other three hostages for more than 5 years, until they were freed in a dramatic
Colombian military raid.

In 2001, shortly after the 9-11 attacks the FARC was re-designated a Specially Designated
Global Terrorist Organization, greatly increasing the range of actions the Treasury
Department and others could take against the organization.? The European Union, which
has a notoriously difficult time in designating groups as terrorists, would eventually follow
suit, listing the FARC as a terrorist entity in 2005.4

While certain fronts of the FARC was widely known to be increasing their involverment in
the cocaine trade since the early 1990s, the organization was not formally named a
significant foreign narcotics trafficking organization until May 2003, under the Kingpin Act.$
The Act was passed in 1999, and was designed to "deny significant foreign narcotics
traffickers, their related businesses, and their operatives access to the U.S. financial system
and to prohibit all trade and transactions between the traffickers and U.S. companies and
individuals. The Kingpin Act authorizes the President to take these actions when he
determines that a foreign person plays a significant role in international narcotics
trafficking.”s

Under the protection of the governments of Venezuela, Ecuador, Nicaragua and Bolivia - as
well as powerful friends in El Salvador and Panama -- the FARC maintains a robust
international infrastructure that is producing and moving thousands of kilos of cocaine and
laundering hundreds of millions of dollars. It has emerged as a pioneer hybrid criminal-

2 The FARC was among the first organizations designated a foreign terrorist entity, which meant, in

the eyes of the U.S. government it had met the criteria of being a threat to U.S. nationals or the

national security of the United States. See: http://www.state.gov/j/ct/rls/other/des /123085 htm

3 U.S. Treasury Department, Office of Foreign Assets Control, “Treasury Targets Venezuelan Officials

Supporting the FARC,” September 12, 2008, accessed at: http://www.treasury.gov/press-
r/press-rel .3SpX

4 Official Journal of the European Union, Council Decision of Dec. 21, 2005, accessed at:

http://europa.eu.int/eur-
lex/lex/LexUriServ/site/en/0j/2005/1 340/1 34020051223en00640066.pdf
5 http:/ /www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/hp1132.aspx
6 “Fact Sheet: Overview of the Foreign Narcotics Kingpin Designation Act,” The White House Office of
: .whiteh X -

the Press Secretary, accessed at
Foreign-Narcotics-Kingpin-Dest
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terrorist insurgency, using drug money to sustain an ideological movement and help like-
minded groups.

Over time the ideology has faded and the FARC has become much more of a business
enterprise than Marxist insurgency.

U.S Treasury Department's Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) publicly designated
three of the late Hugo Chéavez's closest advisers and intelligence officials as drug trafficking
figures and supporting the FARC, a “narco-terrorist organization.” The three main
influential in the Maduro government.

OFAC said the three--Hugo Armando Carvajal, director of Venezuelan Military Intelligence;
Henry de Jesus Rangél, director of the Venezuelan Directorate of Intelligence and
Prevention Services; and Ramén Emilio Rodriguez Chacin, former minister of justice and
former minister of interior -- were responsible for "materially supporting the FARC, a
narco-terrorist organization."

It specifically accused Carvajil and Rangel of protecting FARC cocaine shipments moving
through Venezuela, and said Rodriguez Chacin, who resigned his government position justa
few days before the designations, was the "Venezuelan government's main weapons contact
for the FARC."”

It is worth noting that the designations rather than provoking sanction in the Chavez
government, led to rewards. For example n November 2010, Rangel was promoted to the
overall commander of the Venezuelan armed forces® and in January 2012 was named
defense minister as part of Chdvez’s promotion of close associates tied to drug trafficking
and the FARC.?

The current peace talks between the Santos government and the FARC, underway for 18
months Havana, Cuba, have yielded more results than past dialogues, in large part because
the FARC is in a significantly weakened state.

Perhaps because of its weakened state, in recent years the FARC has been consistently
underestimated as a transnational organization that has significant and long-standing ties
to multiple international terrorist and criminal groups.

The FARC is a regional and trans-regional organization. The significant support - logistical,
financial and ideological - the group receives from nations and non-state allies in the
hemisphere that aid and abet its criminal and terrorist alliances is significant and dangerous.
The FARC is a central part of the revolutionary project of bringing together armed groups
and terrorist organizations under the umbrella of the Bolivarian Revolution, with the aid

7 "Treasury Targets Venezuelan Government Officials Support of the FARC," U.S. Treasury

Department Office of Public Affairs, Sept. 12, 2008 accessed at: http://www treasury.gov/press-
r/press-rele e 2.35px.

8 “Chavez Shores up Military Support,” Stratfor, November 12, 2010.
9 “Venezuela: Asume Nuevo Ministro De Defensa Acusado de Narco por EEUU,” Agence France Presse,
January 17, 2012.
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and support of Iran. This is now a deeply criminalized political project with the express and
overt intention of hurting the United States.10

What should worry us, as I have documented and written about extensively, is that the glue
that binds these groups is a shared vision of creating a new world order, in which the United
States, Europe and Israel are the enemies to be destroyed.

Their common doctrine is one of asymmetrical warfare that explicitly endorses the use of
weapons of mass destruction against the perceived enemies.! This doctrine remains a
statement of intention, not a statement of capabilities. Yet a review of Iran’s growing
presence in the region, the FARC’s growing relationship with Hezbollah and other terrorist
groups and the ability of these groups to deal extensively with Mexican drug cartels, make
that statement of intention a dangerous possibility.

A Brief Hist f the FARC: The Early D

The FARC is currently a shell of what it was in late 1990s, when it controlled more than 40
percent of the national territory and had some 20,000 combatants. It is worth briefly
reviewing the history of the hemisphere’s oldest armed insurgency and its metamorphosis
from a motely band of Marxist guerrillas wandering the jungles of Colombia into a

prototype hybrid terrorist-criminal organization that was once on the verge of taking power.
Current estimates place FARC combat strength at about 7,200, seldom operating units of
more than 10 people and largely unable to hold territory.

The FARC grew out of the Liberal Party militias that fought against the Conservative Party
in Colombia in the bloody period of the late 1940s and 1950s known as “La Violencia.” The
negotiated end to the fighting between the two main political parties broughtan
unprecedented period of political stability to the capital, but several of the militia groups in
more remote regions remained active and in control of autonomous regions. In 1964 the
FARC formed in one of those regions, was officially formed with an ideology that was a
combination of Soviet Marxism and nationalism.12

Over time, the FARC and various other insurgent groups grew in different parts of Colombia.
These included the Chinese-backed Popular Liberation Army (Ejército Popular de
Liberacién-EPL), the Cuban-back National Liberation Army (Ejército de Liberacién Nacional-
ELN) and the M-19 nationalist movement. The EPL and M-19 movements negotiated peace
settlements with the government in the early 1990s, while the ELN remains a fighting force
but has lost most of its military strength and political following.

10 For a more complete view of the aims, goals and strategy of the Bolivarian Revolution and its
project to create 21st Century Socialism, see: Douglas Farah, Transnational Organized Crime,
Terrorism, and Criminalized States in Latin America: An Emerging Tier-One National Security Priority
(Carlisle, PA: Strategic Studies Institute, August 2012},

http:/ /www.strategi iesinstitute.army.mi i .cfm?pubiD=1117.

11 1bid. The doctrine of asymmetrical warfare and the use of WMD is outlined in many writing used
by the Bolivarian Revolution, and has been adopted as official military doctrine in Venezuela.

12 For a brief history of the FARC's development, see:

http: g/n i ri 1 i farch
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The FARC continued to grow throughout most of its life, reaching a peak of about 18,000
combatants in the 2002 period. Unlike most insurgencies, the original founders of the group
until recently lived long lives and retained significant influence. The leaders were more
likely to die of old age in the hills than in combat. Jacobo Arenas, the founder of the FARC,
died of old age in hills at the age of Colombia in August 1990. His successor and long-time
second-in-command, Manuel Marulanda (AKA “Sure-shot”) died of a heart attack on March
26, 2008.13 Alfonso Cano, who succeeded Marulanda, was killed by the Colombian military
on November 4, 2011.14

The survival of the FARC has been possible in part because the FARC is not as dependent as
many other non-state armed groups on external sources of financing, most of which
evaporated with the end of the Cold War. Instead, the group established a strong nexus with
criminal activity, including drug trafficking, kidnapping and extortion, allowing it to finance
itself following the collapse of the Soviet Union and its Marxist bloc.

It was also possible in part because the Colombian government exerted relatively little
effort to fight the FARC for more than three decades. And finally, the state support of
Colombia’s neighbors Venezuela and Ecuador over much of the past decade has given the
FARC significant rearguard areas for safe haven, rest, relaxation, resupply and financial
activities.

Beginning in the late 1970s and growing in the 1980s, the FARC began to implement what it
considered to be legitimate “taxes” on landowners and illicit activities in areas where the
group exercised considerable political power. One favorite way of collecting taxes was to
kidnap the landowners and hold them for ransom.

This, in turn, led to the formation of paramilitary groups paid for by the large landholders to
protect their property and themselves from the FARC and other guerrilla organizations.
Over time the paramilitary units, often under the protection of the military, grew into
formidable fighting forces and cocaine trafficking structure, and has been deemed by human
rights groups to be responsible for the majority of the human rights abuses committed
against civilians in Colombia.

The upsurge in the paramilitary violence coincided with a prolonged negotiation period in
the 1980s between the government and the FARC, which led to significant hopes that the
FARC could be brought into the political process as a legal party. As a result of the
negotiations the FARC formed a political party called the Patriotic Union (Union Patriética-
UP) and joined the political process while maintaining its armed wing.15

Despite the UP’s legal status the paramilitary forces viewed the organization as a front for
the FARC and the drug traffickers viewed the UP as a threat to its activities. As a result, the
narco-paramilitary forces carried out a series of massacres against thousands of UP
candidates and leaders, including the assassination of its two most promising presidential
candidates.

13 Hugh 0’Shaughnessy, “Manuel Marulanda: Commander of the FARC guerrilla army during four
decades of insurgency against the Colombian state,” The Independent (London), May 26, 2008,
accessed at: http://www.independent.co.uk/news/obituari -mal da- nder-of-

834337.html
14 BBC News, “Top FARC rebel leader Alfonso Cano killed in Colombia,” November 5, 2011, accessed
www.bbc.co.uk/news /world-

15 http:/ /www.pbs.org/newshour/bh/latin america/colombia/plavers farchtml
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As the peace process unraveled, the FARC entered a new phase of working with drug
traffickers, protecting coca fields and laboratories and collecting “gramaje” or taxes on the
products moving through their territory. With the influx of cash, the FARC was able to
expand its recruiting, buy new weapons become a much more structured, effective military
force. This coincided with the killing or extradition of the leaders of the major drug
trafficking organizations in Colombia, leaving the once-mighty cartels fractured, less unified
and less able to control who entered the trade.

F arco- i E fVi

Gradually the FARC moved from an ideological force that protected drug trafficking
operations to a more structured criminal enterprise that relied more and more on its own
drug trafficking structures, kidnappings and extortion to finance its existence.

As the FARC began to take control of cocaine laboratories, landing strips and international
trade in a more active, direct manner, its financial situation improved markedly, and the
insurgency used the money to purchase new weapons, recruit more combatants (whom
they were able to pay more than a Colombian army soldier), and rapidly consolidate control
over many swaths of rural Colombia. Eventually they were able to cut of the main highways
among the nation’s major cities.

When President Andrés Pastrana agreed in 1999 to peace talks with the FARC and granted
them a territory the size of Switzerland as a demilitarized zone, the Colombian government
was at its weakest point. In addition to the military defeats, the economy was sinking.
Poverty rates had risen dramatically, unemployment was growing, and the economy sank
by more than 4 percent in 1999.

The FARC, with some 18,000 combatants and flush with sophisticated new weapons and
equipment purchased with money from its burgeoning drug trade, was at its strongest point
militarily since it was founded in 1964.

During the three-year negotiations, which ended in February 2002, the FARC significantly
strengthened itself and its ties to cocaine trafficking while dragging the talks on with
endless and constantly shifting demands.

It also moved to aggressively expand its outreach to other terrorist groups and insurgencies
to increase its technical capabilities and establish relationships that endure to this day. In
many cases the representatives were invited to spend significant amounts of time in the
FARC-controlled peace zone.

Among the more unusual visitors to the FARC territory were a group of Iranian government
officials, ostensibly sent to finance a $12 million halal beef slaughterhouse and refrigerated
meat storage facility. The project was unusual, to say the least, given the remoteness of the
region, the lack of transportation for the meat and general lack of economic rationale for the
investment.16 The plant was never built but it provided the FARC leadership with several
months of unmonitored time with the Iranian officials, a relationship that endures to the
present time.

16 Karl Penhaul, “Iranians in Sideshow t Colombia Peace Process,” Reuters News Service, December
28, 1999.
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Two other terrorist groups that spent a significant amount of time training FARC cadresin a
variety of explosives techniques, intelligence methods and kidnapping skills: Basque ETA
terrorist and a splinter group of the Irish Republican Army. Their involvement came to light
with the arrest of three members of the organizations in 2001. By 2003 the FARC was using
techniques from both organizations to set off car bombs and other explosives that took
hundreds of lives.17

Other experts from closer to home also joined the FARC in the jungle safe zone. Among the
visitors were Daniel Ortega, the Sandinista leader and current president of Nicaragua;
Salvador Sanchez Cerén, the recently elected president of El Salvador and leader of the most
hardline Marxist faction of the FMLN in El Salvador; and José Luis Merino, AKA Ramiro
Visquez, a Communist Party leader in El Salvador who later supplied large shipments of
sophisticated weapons to the FARC and reportedly taught them urban kidnapping
techniques.

Turni e Ti

But the military, given a reprieve, also used the time to reorganize, train, and dramatically
improve it capabilities.18

It became increasingly evident the FARC was using the ceasefire during the peace talks to
expand its cocaine trafficking networks as well as acquire new weapons. But other factors
were changing the nature of the political and drug-related violence in Colombia that would
ultimately set the FARC back on its heels.

Beginning in 1999, the Clinton administration launched Plan Colombia, a multi-year, multi-
billion dollar program to tackle drug-related issues in the region. For the first time,
significant amounts of aid could be given directly to the Colombian military, whose human
rights record was widely recognized as being abysmal, to fight the FARC. The years of
carefully trying to segregate counter-drug aid, largely given to the National Police, from
small amounts of counterinsurgency aid, given the military, were over.

This evolution would dramatically alter the intertwined conflicts in Colombia. Plan
Colombia has increasingly allowed the military to push the FARC to more remote areas and
carry out more sophisticated attacks against the rebel group.??

With the election of Alvaro Uribe in 2002, Colombia’s military turnaround began in earnest.
Under Uribe’s program of “Democratic Security,” raw recruits were replaced over time with
a highly trained NCO corps; intelligence operations were revamped and enhanced, and
significant new Colombia resources were committed to the conflict.

17 Tim Padgett, “The Next Terror Nexus? Colombia fears the IRA and ETA may be using the country
as a base for weapons testing and training,” Time Magazine International, February 24, 2003.

18 For an excellent overview of this process, see previous CSIS reports on Colombia, particularly
Peter DeShazo, Tanya Primiani, and Phillip McLean, Back from the Brink: Evaluating Progress in
Colombia, 1999-2007 (Washington, DC: CSIS, November 2007),
http://csis.org/files/media/csis/pubs/071112-backfromthebrink-web.pdf.

19 The counter-drug and counter-insurgency aid figures come from the Center for International
Policy, and its studies of Plan Colombia, accessed here:

http://www.ciponline.org/colombia/aidtable htm
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Uribe also underscored the important link between democracy and security, stating
consistently that the overarching goal was to “reinforce and guarantee the rule of law in all
our national territory.” As the government raised taxes and showed results, the businesses
and citizens in urban areas became more supportive of the government.

Although Uribe would come under significant and justified criticism from human rights
groups for illicitly spying on journalists and political enemies and tolerating human rights
abuses in the military,2° he is widely credited with developing the first comprehensive
plan—including programs encompassing judicial, infrastructure rehabilitation, education,
and medical programs to reestablish government authority in areas where non-state actors
had held sway for generations.

Focusing on rapidly accelerating military operations against the FARC and the group’s drug-
trafficking infrastructure, Uribe and his military leadership designed a strategy that pushed
the guerrillas out of the economically vital middle section of the country and away from
cities and important transportation routes.

It also aimed to do away with their leadership by focusing significant resources on High
Value Targets. From 2008-2012, for the first time in the conflict, senior FARC commanders
were located and eliminated. This was particularly effective in targeting those leaders with
direct ties to drug trafficking and massive human rights abuses, as was the case of Jorge
Bricefio, AKA Mono Jojoy, the commander of the FARC’s Eastern Bloc, killed in 2010 inan
aerial bombardment.

Part of the urgency of confronting the FARC was the fact that presidents Hugo Chavez of
Venezuela and Rafael Correa of Ecuador were giving significant logistical, financial, and
political support to the FARC, allowing FARC to expand its international networks and
increase its resources.

Perhaps no action has played as significant role in changing the tide of the conflict in
Colombia as the March 1, 2008 killing of Raiil Reyes, the FARC's second most important
commander and chief international liaison. Reyes, whose real name was Luis Edgar Devia
Silva, and 25 others, were killed in an aerial bombardment by the Colombian military ona
FARC camp just across the Ecuadoran border.

In the immediate aftermath of the attacks, Colombian commandos entered the camp and
retrieved documents and computers, including hundreds of gigabytes of data from the
personal computer of Reyes containing communications with other members of the FARC 7-
person general secretariat, Venezuelan president Chavez, senior Ecuadorian officials, and an
outline of the political and economic strategy of the FARC. It is the most significant seizure
of primary source documents from the FARC in recent decades, and the first time a member
of the FARC general secretariat had been killed in combat in more than 40 years of war.

Reyes’s death was followed by the killing of other high-value FARC targets, as well as a
stream of desertions of many mid-level and upper-level commanders, sending the FARC
into a downward military and financial spiral from which has never recovered.?!

20 For a comprehensive look at the positive and negative aspects of the Uribe government, see June S.
Beittel, “Colombia: Background, U.S. Relations, and Congressional Interest,” Congressional Research

Service, November 28, 2012, http://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/row/RL32250.pdf.

21 For a more complete look at the role of Ecuador and the FARC, see Douglas Farah and Glenn
SimpsongEcuador at Risk: Drugs, Thugs, Guerrillas and the Citizens Revolution {Alexandria, VA:
International Assessment and Strategy Center, January 2010),
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The documents show several alarming developments that had gone largely undetected by
U.S. and Colombian intelligence services prior to the attack.

The first is that the long-cordial relationship between the FARC and Chéavez had grown from
one of friendship to one of allies and business partners, a relationship that endures in the
Maduro government. It is clear that that FARC received a large sum of money from Chavez
in 2007, although it is unclear if the money is a loan or a gift. There are several references to
“300” as an amount the FARC receives, and Colombian authorities have stated
unequivocally that the number refers to $300 million given by Chavez to the FARC. Itis also
clear that the FARC has Venezuelan government protection for its massive movement of
cocaine to Central America and West Africa.

The second insight gleaned was the FARC's extraordinary reach into regional politics,
particularly in Ecuador, where the President Correa, whose presidential campaign received
hundreds of thousands of dollars directly from the FARC, was willing to change senior
military commanders along the border (the area where Reyes was killed) in order to curry
favor with the insurgents. The role of Bolivia’s President Evo Morales in supporting the
FARC also stands out.22

The third is the FARC’s apparent willingness to engage in trafficking of material (uranium)
that could be used for a low-grade nuclear bomb. The type and grade of uranium in question
indicate the FARC had been the victim of a scam or was planning on perpetrating a scam on
an unsuspecting third party.

A fourth major point is the FARC’s overt discussion of its involvement in drug trafficking
and the need to move cocaine and money associated with the trade they have long claimed
to not be involved in.

The fifth is that the FARC has engaged in a deliberate campaign to hide its involvement in
some of the worst atrocities, including the assassination of members of congress in 2006.23

In the wake of the death of Reyes and Rios by violent means and Marulanda to natural
causes in a 30-day span left the FARC reeling, and more blows were to come. On July 15,
2008, the army carried out a dramatic rescue operation that freed 15 of the FARC's highest
value hostages. These included former presidential candidate Ingrid Betancourt and three
American contractors.?+

http://www.strategycenter.net/docLib/20101214 EcuadorFINAL.pdf. For a study of Venezuela's

role with the FARC, see Douglas Farah, Transnational Organized Crime, Terrorism, and Criminalized
States in Latin America: An Emerging Tier-One National Security Priority (Carlisle, PA: Strategic
ugust 2012}, '

: , icstudiesinstitute.army.mil/pubs/display.cfm?publD=1117.

22 The details and documentation of these relationships see: Douglas Farah, “Into the Abyss: Bolivia
Under Evo Morales and the MAS,” International Assessment and Strategy Center, 2009; and Farah
and Simpson, op cit.

23 The author worked with U.S. and Colombian officials to analyze the captured Reyes documents,
which have now been made public. For more details on the issues raised here see Farah and Farah
and Simpson, op cit. The main cache of Reyes documents were compiled into a single document, “The
FARC Files: Venezuela, Ecuador and Secret Archives of ‘Raiil Reyes,” A Strategic Dossier,
International Institute for Strategic Studies, May 2011.

24 Chris Kraul, "15 Hostages Freed as FARC is Fooled in Cunning Operation,” Los Angeles Times, July
3, 2008, accessed at: http: i com/news/nationworld/world/la-fg-ho

2008jul03.0.3051652 story
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While the bilateral and individual relationships are of tremendous importance to the FARC,
the group was also anxious to break out of it broader international isolation. The
mechanism devised for this was the Coordinadora Continental Bolivariana (The Bolivarian
Continental Coordinator-CCB). The concept was to build a broad-based Bolivarian
movement across the continent that would appear to be a coalition of progressive forces,
when in fact, it would be driven and controlled by the FARC.

According to documents in the Reyes computer, the CCB was born in August 2003, and by
December had an anthem, a flag, a newspaper called "Bolivarian Mail," letterhead stationary
and a logo. "The CCB is work of the FARC, the Bolivarian Movement composed of the José
Maria Cérdoba and Caribbean blocs, a Dec. 7, 2003 the internal document said. The
document said "Comrade Alfonso,” referring to Alfonso Cano, later the FARC's commander-
in-chief, had been informed of each of the steps taken, and that the first executive meeting
had been held "in one of our camps" to "lay out the specific tasks and responsibilities for the
activities that are currently underway. Among our tasks is the creation of a Bolivarian
movement, the establishment of the CCB in each country, etc. This organization has already
led protests in Ecuador and Panama."?5

The CCB soon established a significant presence across Latin America, attracting the
sympathy of numerous leftist political organizations and NGOs, many committed to non-
violence. According to a March 11, 2005 report on the CCB's activities in 2004, there were
already active groups in Mexico, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Venezuela, and Chile.
International brigades from the Basque region of Spain, Italians, French and Danish were
operational. Work was underway in Argentina, Guatemala and Brazil. The number of
organizations that were being actively coordinated by the CCB was listed at 63, and there
were "political relations” with 45 groups and 25 institutions. The CCB database contained
500 e-mails.26

The CCB leadership went out of its way to hide its FARC affiliation to all but the more select
inner circle. "The CCB runs the whole gamut, from respectable groups to useful idiots to
terrorist,” said one Colombian official studying the CCB. "There is the public face of the CCB,
which seems benign, but the inner workings are all FARC, allied with other terrorist
organizations that, frankly, we thought had disappeared.”

This is borne out in numerous internal documents. In an April 1, 2006 letter from Reyes to
"Aleyda,” identified by Colombia authorities as Mariana Lopez de la Vega of the Leftist
Revolutionary Movement {(Movimiento Izquierdista Revolucionaria-MIR) of Chile, the FARC
leader states "the CCB is part of movement of masses of the FARC, and as such receives all of
our support. However, we are not deluded or confused, and understand that the CCB is

25 pocuments provided by Colombian officials, in possession of the Author.
26 March 11, 2005 e-mail from Ivan Rios to Ratl Reyes, provided by Colombia officials, in possession
of the Author.

11



39

broader than just our cells, as the CCB has a broad roof, which allows us, if we are politically
agile, to reach other sectors of society and create more Communist militants."27

A Dec. 31, 2006 letter from Ivan Rios to Raul Reyes, (whom Rios address as "Dear Foreign
Minister™) says the FARC support group in Chile "ask for instructions relating to CCB. It
seems they are waiting precise orders from you regarding the activity in Santiago."?8

ration Titan, Ayman Jo i zbollah

There is now a significant body of evidence showing the FARC’s operational alliance with
Hezbollah and Hezbollah allies based in Venezuela under the protection of the Maduro
government, to which relatively little attention has been paid. A clear example of the
breadth of the emerging alliances among criminal and terrorist groups was Operation Titan,
executed by Colombian and U.S. officials in 2008. Colombian and U.S. officials, after a 2-year
investigation, dismantled a drug trafficking organization that stretched from Colombia to
Panama, Mexico, West Africa, the United States, Europe and the Middle East.

Colombian and U.S. officials say that one of the key money launderers in the structure,
Chekry Harb, AKA "Taliban" acted as the central go-between among Latin American drug
trafficking organizations (DTOs) and Middle Eastern radical groups, primarily Hezbollah.
Among the groups participating together in Harb's operation in Colombia were members of
the Northern Valley Cartel, right-wing paramilitary groups and the FARC.

This mixture of enemies and competitors working through a shared facilitator, or in loose
alliance for mutual benefit, is a pattern that is becoming more common, and one that
significantly complicates the ability of law enforcement and intelligence operatives to
combat these groups.2?

While there has been little public acknowledgement of the Hezbollah ties to Latin American
transnational organized crime (TOC) groups, recent indictments based on DEA cases point
to the growing overlap of the groups. In December 2011, U.S. officials charged Ayman
Joumaa, an accused Lebanese drug kingpin and Hezbollah financier, of smuggling tons of
U.S.-bound cocaine and laundering hundreds of millions of dollars with the Zetas cartel of
Mexico, while operating in Panama, Colombia, the DRC and elsewhere.

"Ayman Joumaa is one of top guys in the world at what he does: international drug
trafficking and money laundering,” a U.S. anti-drug official said. "He has interaction with
Hezbollah. There's no indication that it's ideological. It's business."3¢ Joumaa was tied to

27 April 1, 2006 e-mail from Raiil Reyes to Aleyda, provided by Colombia officials, in possession of
the Author.

28 yan, 3, 2007 e-mail to Ivan Rios, provided by Colombia officials, in possession of the Author.

29 While much of Operation remains classified, there has been significant open source reporting, in
part because the Colombian government announced the most important arrests, For the most
complete look at the case see: Jo Becker, “Investigation into bank reveals links to major South
American cartels,” International Herald Tribune, December 15, 2011. See also: Chris Kraul and
Sebastian Rotella, "Colombian Cocaine Ring Linked to Hezbollah,” Los Angeles Times, Oct. 22, 2008;
and "Por Lavar Activos de Narcos y Paramilitares, Capturados Integrantes de Organizacién
Internatcional,” Fiscalia General de la Republica {Colombia), Oct. 21, 2008.

30 Sebastian Rotella, “Government says Hezbollah Profits From U.S. Cocaine Market via Link to
Mexican Cartel,” ProPublica, December 11, 2011,
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broader case of massive money laundering case that led to the collapse of the Lebanese
Canadian Bank, one of the primary financial institutions used by Hezbollah to finance its
worldwide activities.

Other cases include the July 6, 2009 indictment of Jamal Yousef in the U.S. Southern District
of New York alleges that the defendant, a former Syrian military officer arrested in
Honduras, sought to sell weapons to the FARC -- weapons he claimed came from Hezbollah
and were to be provided by a relative in Mexico.31

Such a relationship between non-state and state actors provides numerous benefits to both.
In Latin America, for example, the FARC gains access to Venezuelan territory without fear of
reprisals; it gains access to Venezuelan identification documents; and, perhaps most
importantly, access to routes for exporting cocaine to Europe and the United States -- while
using the same routes to import quantities of sophisticated weapons and communications
equipment. In return, the Chavez government offers state protection, and reaps rewards in
the form of financial benefits for individuals as well as institutions, derived from the cocaine
trade.

Conclusions

The FARC is an unusual hybrid criminal/terrorist organization that is among the largest
cocaine producers in the world deriving an increasing amount of revenue from its
relationships with multiple other terrorist and criminal organizations. The FARC maintains
documented ties to Hezbollah, the ETA Basque separatist movement, the armed faction of
the IRA and various armed groups in Latin America. It has also maintained ties to state
sponsors of terrorism such as Iran and Libya under the rule of Moamar Gaddafi.

While it is important to note that the United States, EU, Canada and other countries have
designated the FARC as a terrorist organization, one must recognize that the vast majority
of the organization’s victims have been the Colombian people, who have suffered for
decades from the FARC's executions, kidnappings, extortions, rape, forced conscription, the
illegal use of mines and IEDs and other abuses and crimes against humanity.

Almost all of the FARC's ties to terrorist organizations originated through the Venezuelan
government after the election of Hugo Chévez in 1998. Using the architecture of the
“Bolivarian Revolution” Chdvez turned Venezuela into a safe haven for the FARC, Iran,
Hezbollah, ETA and others to meet, exchange lessons learned and develop drug trafficking
alliances that fund their multiple activities. These activities continue apace even as the
FARC engages in peace talks with the Colombian government.

The ideological underpinnings of the FARC are Marxist and deeply anti-U.S,, and it is that
veneer of ideology that formed the basis of the relationship with Chivez and other terrorist
organizations. In addition to the economic ties that bind these groups together is deeply
held belief by all involved that the United States is the primary enemy and needs to be
destroyed. While this is largely an aspirational goal, rather than a statement of capabilities,
it cannot be discounted in understanding the nature of the FARC.

31 ynited States District Court, Southern District of New York, The United States of America v Jamal
Yousef, Indictment, July 6, 2009.
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Testimony of Deputy Assistant Secretary Jennifer L. Fowler
Hearing entitled
“A Legislative Proposal Entitled the ‘Bank Account Seizure of Terrorist Assets (BASTA) Act’™
House Subcommittee on Monetary Policy and Trade
House Committee on Financial Services
July 17,2014

INTRODUCTION

Chairman Campbell, Members of the Subcommittee, [ appreciate the opportunity to appear
before you today to discuss the proposed Bank Account Seizure of Terrorist Assets (BASTA)
Amendment and its potential effects on Treasury’s implementation of the Foreign Narcotics
Kingpin Designation Act, commonly known as the “Kingpin Act.” For nearly 15 years, the
Treasury Department has robustly implemented the Kingpin Act to disrupt and dismantle
narcotics trafficking organizations, such as the Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia, also
known as the “FARC.” We have worked to undermine their financial and support networks to
deprive them of the resources needed to carry out the violent activities that threaten U.S. and
global security.

TREASURY IMPLEMENTATION OF THE KINGPIN ACT

On December 3, 1999, the President signed into law the Kingpin Act, which prohibits
transactions with, and blocks all property and interests in property subject to U.S. jurisdiction of,
foreign narcotics traffickers identified by the President. The Kingpin Act also provides authority
for Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) to designate foreign individuals and
entities that are owned or controlled by, acting for or on behalf of, the designated kingpins,
allowing OFAC to reach the kingpins® networks of front companies, facilitators, and others who
comprise the financial and support networks of drug trafficking organizations. The Kingpin Act
is among the most powerful and effective tools we have available to attack the financial
underpinnings of narcotics trafficking organizations and the threats they pose to the United
States, U.S. interests abroad, and our allies around the world.

Drug traffickers fear the Kingpin Act because the sanctions work. These criminals rely on vast
support networks, including money launderers, transportation, logistics, procurement,
communications, security and other personnel, to support their nefarious activities. Kingpin Act
sanctions enable us not only to protect the integrity of the financial system, but also to strike hard
at the heart of the financial operations of illicit actors. Since June 2000, more than 1,600
individuals and entities have been named pursuant to the Kingpin Act for their role in
international narcotics trafficking. These designations have resulted in the blocking, or freezing,
of numerous assets under U.S. jurisdiction, most commonly bank accounts and wire transfers.

Causing behavioral change is an important goal of the Kingpin Act and the use of targeted
sanctions has proven to influence narcotics traffickers’ activities. The effect of financial
sanctions on drug traffickers in Colombia has been likened to a “civil death” by narcotics
traffickers themselves, due to the inability of designated individuals to maintain their banking
and commercial relationships, or to have unfettered access to any assets they hold subject to U.S.
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jurisdiction. Persons designated under the Kingpin Act, or any OFAC-administered sanctions
programs, appear on OFAC’s Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List (SDN
List) and all properties in U.S. jurisdiction in which designated persons have an interest are
blocked, or “frozen,” for as long as they remain designated. Blocking merely immobilizes
assets; it does not change the fact that assets are legally the property of a designated person. This
differs from forfeiture, in which the government, through civil or criminal processes, actually
transfers the original ownership of the asset. Those who wish to regain access to their blocked
assets must petition OFAC and demonstrate a change in the behavior that led to their designation
in order to be removed from the SDN List.

Since 2000, 218 Kingpin Act designees have petitioned for removal. After thorough
investigations, OFAC has agreed that 137 have demonstrated a credible change in behavior and
should no longer be designated pursuant to the Kingpin Act, and it has therefore removed them
from the SDN List. Examples of credible changes in behavior include instances in which
designees have begun to cooperate with U.S. or foreign law enforcement agencies, have
renounced their interests in foreign assets derived from narcotics trafficking, and have resigned
and disassociated with front companies.

BANK ACCOUNT SEIZURE OF TERRORIST ASSETS (BASTA) AMENDMENT

The Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002, commonly known as “TRIA,” allows for a person
who has obtained a judgment against a terrorist party to attach any blocked assets of that terrorist
party, or blocked assets of any agencies or instrumentalities of that terrorist party, in aid of
satisfying such judgment. Currently, the term “blocked assets,” as defined by TRIA, refers only
to assets frozen by the United States pursuant to the Trading With the Enemy Act, commonly
referred to as “TWEA,” or the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, commonly
referred to as “IEEPA.” IEEPA is the primary tool used by the Treasury Department to sanction
terrorist organizations and their members, as well as state-sponsors of terrorism Iran, Sudan, and
Syria. TWEA is the basis for sanctions targeting Cuba, also a state sponsor of terrorism.

The Kingpin Act, on the other hand, was specifically created to address the separate threat to our
country and our national interests posed by the activities of international narcotics traffickers.
Accordingly, persons designated pursuant to the Kingpin Act either play a significant role in
international narcotics trafficking or support or act on behalf of those who do. Affiliation with
terrorist parties is not part of the criteria for designation pursuant to the Kingpin Act.

Amending TRIA’s definition of “blocked assets™ to include property frozen pursuant to the
Kingpin Act could have potentially negative effects. We expect that, as applied, this
amendment could result in the attachment and depletion of blocked assets of non-terrorist-related
narcotics traffickers, including those operating in Mexico, Central America and Colombia. This
could limit Treasury’s ability to use these blocked assets as leverage against dangerous groups
such as the Sinaloa Cartel, Los Zetas, Los Cachiros, and Colombian criminal gangs, including
Oficina de Envigado.
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In closing, I want to emphasize Treasury’s continued commitment to combatting
narcotics trafficking organizations throughout the world, using all authorities at our disposal,
including the Kingpin Act. The Treasury Department urges Congress to give careful
consideration to the potential impact any amendment to TRIA may have on the targeting of drug
trafficking organizations under the Kingpin Act. Thank you very much for the opportunity to be
here today. I welcome any questions.
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WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF THOMAS R. HOWES,
FARC NARCO-TERRORISM HOSTAGE VICTIM
TO THE U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES FINANCIAL SERVICES
COMMITTEE, SUBCOMMITTEE ON MONETARY POLICY AND TRADE
IN SUPPORT OF THE JULY 17, 2014 HEARING ON
THE BASTA AMENDMENT TO H.R. 4871

Thank you for inviting me to testify here today. My name is Tom Howes. Iama U.S.
Citizen and a victim of international terrorism. I live in Melbourne, FL.
I was held hostage by the FARC for 5 and ¥ years where I was tortured, chained and starved. 1
also endured repeated “mock executions”™.

My fellow hostages Keith Stansell and Marc Gonsalves are also present here today. Our
captivity began on Feb. 13, 2003. I was the co-pilot flying a U.S. DOD counter-narcotics
surveillance flight mission in Colombia when the aircraft went down in a FARC controlled area
of the jungle. The FARC executed our pilot, Tom Janis, a former member of Delta Force, by
shooting him in the head.

The FARC controls the rural regions of Colombia and the coca. The FARC used the
coca fields as navigation points during our many long marches and became angry whenever we
stepped on a coca leaf. Our guards were assigned to kill us if there ever was a rescue attempt.
The only time our guards left our sides was to guard large shipments of cocaine. The FARC
always told us they could increase the cocaine production and shipments or shut off the supply
anytime they wanted.

After our rescue, we retained the law firm of Porter & Korvick in Miami Florida to
pursue our claims for damages from captivity. In 2010, the U.S. federal court in Tampa awarded
us a judgment under the Anti-Terrorism Act against the FARC and 80 individual FARC leaders.

The FARC itself has no blocked assets in the US, never has and likely never will. FTOs
simply do not open bank accounts or hold assets in their name. Instead, they operate through
cartels, groups, and individual drug traffickers and money launderers — the agencies or
instrumentalities of the FARC.

The only U.S. blocked account actually owned by an individual FARC leader is a
blocked account of Alonso Olarte Lombana at HSBC with a balance of @ $30,000. The
Executive Branch has refused us a license to execute upon this account even though we have a
judgment against him.

The agency or instrumentality FARC drug trafficking partner cartels, and their members,
front companies and money launderers - the Kingpins - do hold assets in their name, that is why
they get added to OFAC’s List.

We are using TRIA § 201 to execute on the blocked assets of these FARC agencies or
instrumentalities. TRIA allows post-judgment execution against property of an instrumentality
of the judgment-debtor, even if the instrumentality is not itself named in the judgment.
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Congress intended for TRIA to deal comprehensively with the problem of enforcement of
judgments rendered on behalf of victims of terrorism.

The SDNT program was authorized by act of Congress — the International Emergency
Economic Powers Act (or IEEPA for short) — which gave the President the power to declare the
national emergency of Colombian cocaine trafficking in his 1995 Executive Order 12978.

The Executive Branch and the 11th Circuit Court of Appeal have agreed that we can use
TRIA to execute on these IEEPA blocked assets.

The Kingpin Act was modeled on IEEPA. Congress intended the Kingpin program to
expand the IEEPA SDNT “centered in Colombia™ program to apply worldwide.

The FARC and its leaders were all designated under the Kingpin Act.

The last time a narcotics trafficker was designated as an SDNT under IEEPA was July
15, 2010, one month after our judgment was entered. To this day OFAC continues to block
traffickers centered in Colombia under the Kingpin Act instead of designating them under
IEEPA. Kingpin Act blocked assets are now off limits to victims of terrorism.

In October of 2010, the Executive Branch identified two blocked accounts of OFAC
designated FARC money launderers for our post-judgment execution under TRIA. Both of these
FARC money launderers were designated under the “Kingpin Act”, but not under IEEPA.

Originally, the Executive Branch agreed to our TRIA executions on these blocked
Kingpin assets. It was not until August of 2011 that the Executive Branch flip flopped and
challenged the TRIA definition of “blocked asset” with the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals.

Unfortunately, in 2013 the 11th Circuit in Mercurio ruled that assets blocked under the
Kingpin Act were not specifically included in TRIA's definition of "blocked assets" even though
the Kingpin Act was modeled on and virtually identical to the IEEPA sanctions program.

The BASTA Act corrects this anomaly and makes Congressional intent consistent by
adding assets blocked under the Kingpin Act to the definition of blocked assets under TRIA and
subject to execution by terrorism victims.

It makes no sense to apply TRIA to narcotics assets blocked under one Act of Congress,
the IEEPA statute, but not to narcotics assets blocked under another Act of Congress, the
Kingpin Act, especially where the latter was specifically modeled after the former.

1t makes no sense for TRIA to reach terrorist organizations like the FARC, but then for
the victims to be prevented from executing on blocked assets of FARC leaders merely because
the Executive designated them all as Kingpins rather than under IEEPA.
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It makes no sense to apply TRIA to traffickers “centered in Colombia™ but not to
Mexican or Peruvian or other Kingpin traffickers worldwide.

It is improper that the Executive Branch have exclusive control over assets blocked under
the Kingpin Act at the expense of terrorism victims.

1t is also improper for the Executive Branch to cut deals with FARC trafficking partners
which allow them to recover their blocked assets upon delisting at the expense of terrorism
victims.

The Executive Branch’s leverage will be enhanced by allowing terrorism victims to
execute on blocked Kingpin Act assets. BASTA will have no effect on the government’s ability
to designate, extradite, convict and forfeit blocked assets of drug Kingpins.

BASTA will not only protect us as FARC victims, it will also protect the rights of other
Americans, including U.S. military, who may be victims of other narco-terrorist organizations
like the Taliban, Hezbollah, Hamas or Al Qaeda.

Background:

On February 13, 2003, Keith Stansell, Marc Gonsalves, Tom Janis and myself were
engaged in a Department of Defense counter-narcotics operation in Colombia when our
surveillance plane crash-landed. We were captured by members of the designated Foreign
Terrorist Organization Fuerzas Armadas Revolucionarias de Colombia ("FARC"), a violent
Marxist guerilla group that is one of the world’s largest narcotraffickers. The guerillas executed
Tom Janis at the crash site. Keith, Marc and I were held hostage and tortured for more than five
years (1,967 days), until rescued by the Colombian military in a daring raid (Operacion Jaque)
on July 2, 2008.

The United States designated the FARC as a Foreign Terrorist Organization and
Specially Designated Global Terrorist pursuant to 5 USC § 1189 and IEEPA Executive Order
13224 on October 8, 1997. On May 29, 2003, the F ARC was also named a Specially Designated
Narcotics Trafficker under the Foreign Narcotics Kingpin Designation Act (Kingpin Act). Many
individual FARC members were subsequently designated Specially Designated Narcotics
Traffickers under the Kingpin Act. They were not, however, designated under the International
Emergency Economic Powers Act (IEEPA) or Specially Designated Global Terrorist program
even though they were centered in Colombia.

In 2002, Congress passed the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act (TRIA). Title II of the Act
allows the victims of terrorism to recover judgments from the assets of terrorist parties blocked
under IEEPA and the Trading With the Enemy Act (TWEA).

The FARC Victims’ ATA Lawsuit and Judgment:

After our July 2, 2008 rescue from FARC captivity, we were returned to Fort Sam
Houston in San Antonio, TX for military debriefing and reintegration. At that time I leamed that
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Tom Janis’ widow and children had previously retained the Miami law firm of Porter & Korvick,
P.A. and that they were on the ground in Colombia within days of the February 13, 2003 crash to
assist in the retrieval of the crashed plane’s engine. At Keith Stansell’s request, Mr. Porter and
Mr. Korvick arrived in San Antonio on July 5, 2008 and briefed us extensively on their
investigation to date and the applicable anti-terrorism laws that could be pursued to seek some
measure of civil justice for our captivity and torture.

In 2008, Keith Stansell, Marc Gonsalves and myself all decided to retain the Porter &
Korvick law firm to represent us in civil litigation to seek compensation for all of our past and
future non-economic physical and mental pain and suffering damages arising from our captivity
and torture at the hands of the FARC narco-terrorist organization. In 2009, our lawyers filed a
civil lawsuit on our behalf, and on behalf of the Tom Janis family, against the FARC and 80
individual FARC leaders.

American terrorist victims have 2 types of lawsuit remedies available to them. Those
who are victims of designated state sponsors of terrorism must sue that foreign state under the
Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act (“FSIA™), specifically 28 USC 1605A, Terrorism exception
to the jurisdictional immunity of a foreign state. Those who wish to sue non-state terrorist actors
— an individual terrorist(s) or a designated Foreign Terrorist Organization (“FTO”) like the
FARC or Al Qaeda - must bring their lawsuit under the civil remedy provision in the Anti-
Terrorism Act (“ATA™) 18 USC § 2333.

Our lawsuit was filed under the civil remedy provision of the ATA. Under the ATA, the
action was filed in the Middle District of Florida [Case No. 8:09-cv-2308-RAL-MAP] where
myself and Keith Stansell and Jonathan Janis were domiciled. Our lawyers effected personal
service on the many FARC defendants that were in various Colombian or U.S. prisons. The
district court judge ordered that the FARC itself, and the remaining individual FARC fugitive
defendants, be served by publishing a Notice of Action in a Colombian and Venezuelan
newspaper for four consecutive weeks.

After defaults were entered, our lawyers then filed extensive legal briefs with the court
explaining the basis for our legal standing to file the lawsuit, and confirming the court’s subject
matter jurisdiction under the ATA, including extra-territorial jurisdiction that was granted by
Congress when it enacted the ATA. Thereafter our lawyers proffered extensive damages
evidence and legal authorities setting the federal courts legal precedent for hostage damage
calculations that dates back to the Iran hostage crisis victims’ lawsuits. On June 14, 2010, the
district court entered an Order awarding damages to each of the 8 plaintiffs [DE 232] and on
June 15, 2010 a Final Jud%ment [DE 233] was entered against the FARC and the named
individual FARC leaders.

" The 8 plaintiffs are myself, Keith Stansell and Marc Gonsalves (3 hostages all held for 1,967
days of captivity) and Judith Janis (surviving spouse of Tom Janis) and his four children:
Christopher, Michael, Greer and Jonathan.
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Once the terrorist victim obtains a final judgment against a terrorist party (either an ATA
or FSIA judgment), then TRIA §201 provides that “the blocked assets of that terrorist party
(including the blocked assets of any agency or instrumentality of that terrorist party) shall be
subject to execution or attachment in aid of execution in order to satisfy such judgment.” The 2d
Circuit Court of Appeals and many federal district courts have held that “it is clear beyond cavil”
that TRIA authorizes execution on blocked assets of an agency or instrumentality of the terrorist
party even though the agency or instrumentality itself is not named in the judgment with the
terrorist party. Weinstein v. Islamic Republic of Iran, 609 F.3d 43, 50 (2d Cir. 2010).

Our Lawyers’ Extensive Work:

In addition to the February 2003 trip to Colombia for the crash engine retrieval, our
lawyers have made several trips to Colombia requiring armed security. Our lawyers have had
many meetings with Colombian police, military and civil aviation officials. They have also
personally interviewed 9 former FARC members who had demobilized from the Aurelio
Rodriguez front in the Choco region of Panama. That testimony reveals the inner workings of
the FARC and how it moves its money from front to front.

Our lawyers have met with Colombian military and members of the rescue team who
participated in the July 2, 2008 rescue. Our lawyers have also met with members of the
Colombian military who perform counter-intelligence and who enter the FARC undercover as
militianos to gather information on the FARC. Porter & Korvick has reviewed thousands of
pages of captured FARC documents — all on detailed computer spreadsheets and hard drives
setting forth the flow of cocaine trafficking proceeds and through which companies the illegal
proceeds travel. Porter & Korvick has gathered photographic evidence of ton quantity cocaine
seizures where the out of country cartels “joint venture” cargo ships with both FARC cocaine
and Mexican cocaine kilos. Porter & Korvick, P.A. is now investigating the cross-ocean links
and routes of the FARC and African and Southwest Asia terrorist groups, cartels and DTO’s.

It may be helpful to also understand the process our lawyers have followed to identify the
blocked accounts of FARC narcotics-trafficker partner cartels. First they serve a Tuohy affidavit
with a proposed subpoena on OFAC. The subpoena requests a list of bank names/addresses that
filed an annual report that year stating that they were holding assets blocked under the narcotics
sanctions programs. Once OFAC confirms that it will respond to the subpoena, an Assistant
U.S. Attorney is assigned to OFAC and an agreed protective order is entered in the district court
requiring strict confidentiality.

After the Protective Order is entered, OFAC provides our lawyers with a long list of bank
names and addresses. There is no breakdown of the identities of the blocked parties or the
amount of any blocked party’s assets. Our lawyers must then issue and serve over separate
subpoenas on each bank (@ 50 banks listed in response to last subpoena in 2011) requesting the
details on each of the reported blocked accounts (blocked party name, account #, type of account,
and balance).

After extensive proceedings with the garnishee bank lawyers, eventually our lawyers get
these lists of blocked parties. Then our lawyers investigate that blocked party to see the factual
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basis for its original OFAC final agency action designating them (ie. member of the Cali Cartel
or North Valley Cartel or Sinaloa Cartel money laundering network, etc.). Our lawyers must
prove through expert witness testimony that the cartel or drug trafficking organization was or is
trafficking FARC supplied coca leaf, paste or cocaine, or laundering FRAC cocaine proceeds.
Then and only then do our lawyers move for issuance of the TRIA writ of execution/gamishment
with our supporting evidence (motion and evidence is always served on DOJ and OFAC).

There are very few blocked assets reported that are pursued, because the vast majority of
blocked accounts consist of only a few hundred or a few thousand dollars. But OFAC continues
to block new Kingpin Act persons/entities each year and the FARC continues drug trafficking
relations with all the major south and Central American cartels and across Africa whose
members continue being designated under Kingpin Act.’

Qur Expert Witnesses on FARC’s Narcotics Trafficking & Money Laundering:

Porter & Korvick, P.A. retained three highly qualified experts on our behalf, including
Chris Porter and Col. Luis Miguel Cote, both highly qualified experts with direct experience
against the FARC and its various drug trafficking partner cartels and Drug Trafficking
Organizations.’

M. Porter worked in the field of counter-narcotics and counter-terrorism since 1998. He
was personally involved in identifying, tracking, interdicting, and apprehending leaders,
members, and drug trafficking partners or agents of the FARC for more than 10 years, and
conducted direct combat operations against the FARC and its drug trafficking partners. [DE 311,
€ 2]. Mr. Porter was a former: active duty United States Army officer in the U.S. Military
Group, U.S. Embassy, Bogota Colombia; the Chief of the Rotary Wing Aviation Programs in
Colombia used in counter-narcotics aviation programs; the U.S. Department of State Narcotics
Affairs Section Operations Advisor to the Colombian National Police involved in direct action
operations against the FARC and its drug trafficking partners; managed the Medium Altitude
Reconnaissance and Surveillance System in Colombia which oversaw ground and maritime
intelligence collection of narco-terrorist FARC and its drug trafficking partners activities;
Deputy Program Manager for the Plan Colombia Helicopter Program for the Narcotics Affairs
Section, Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement, U.S. Embassy, Colombia; the
primary planner and High Value Target (“HVT”) Operations Coordinator for the Narcotics
Affairs Section, U.S. Embassy Colombia; and Senior Analyst in the Office of Naval Intelligence
Western Hemisphere Counter-Narcotics Division — Colombia focused on the identification of

% There are no significant remaining assets of IEEPA designated SDNTs, and the last SDNT was
designated in 2010 shortly after our Judgment was entered. In contrast, over 750 SDNTKSs have
been designated under the Kingpin Act since 2010.

3 Both Mr. Porter and Col. Cote have extensive on the ground experience in Colombia. Our third
expert, a retired DEA agent who has not yet testified, has also made several trips to South
America meeting with FARC trafficking partner sources and Peruvian law enforcement and
prosecutors to gather additional evidence confirming Kingpin trafficking agency or
instrumentality partners of the FARC.
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narco-terrorism and drug trafficking routes from Colombia, Peru, and Ecuador through Central
America and Mexico into the United States.

Mr. Porter’s affidavit provides an extensive factual basis supporting his opinions that the
NVC is an agency or instrumentality of the FARC, including its “individual members, divisions
and networks™. [DE 311, 1 36-63, 133].

Luis Miguel Cote is a Colonel in the Colombian Marine Corps and was recently
promoted to the Chief of Staff for the Colombian Marine Corps. He was previously the Chief of
the Operations Department of the Colombian Marine Corps. During his career he was assigned
to the planning and execution of military operations and the implementation of intelligence and
counter-intelligence activities against terrorist groups and the transnational criminal system
organized by the FARC. [DE 312]. During Colonel Cote's career, he was: Chief of the
Intelligence & Counter-Intelligence Section of the Sixth Riflemen Battalion of the Marine Corps,
deployed in the Municipality of Buenaventura (Department of Valle del Cauca — the NVC’s
stronghold), whose main mission was to fight the drug trafficking cartels particularly that of the
Department of Valle del Cauca and its relationship with the FARC Fronts that were carrying out
criminal activities in Colombia’s Pacific Ocean region; his operations led to seizure of more than
5 tons of cocaine HCL powder, the confiscation of weapons, ammunition and supply materials,
as well as the capture of several members of the drug trafficking cartels; the destruction of
laboratories used to process cocaine base paste cocaine HCL powder; the seizure of raw
materials used to process cocaine; the destruction of clandestine air fields, and the capture of
members of the FARC and drug traffickers; Chief of Operations for all Colombian marine corps
riverine combat operations, including planning, supervising and coordinating all joint and
coordinated combat operations against the FARC and its drug trafficking groups that used
Colombia’s rivers and navigable tributaries to traffic weapons, ammunition, explosives, general
logistic supplies, as well as raw materials used for coca leaf cultivation and cocaine processing
and trafficking; Chief of the Intelligence Department of the Marine Corps River Brigade, with
duties including the exchange of intelligence information and the execution of joint military
operations with U.S. law enforcement agencies such as the DEA and the FBI, Colombian
security and investigation agencies such as the National Police, the DAS and the CTI, targeted
to fighting the FARC and its drug trafficking and organized crime groups; Commander of the
hostage rescue unit that rescued more than sixty (60) persons who had been kidnapped, and
captured more than one hundred (100) FARC drug traffickers and terrorists; Commander of the
2nd Counter-Guerrilla Battalion involved with the capture and demobilization of a large number
of members of the FARC drug trafficking and terrorist forces and drug trafficking cartels; Chief
of Operations of the Colombian Marine Corps, the 2™ largest marine corps in the world after the
U.S. Marine Corps. [DE 312, 94 8-30].

Col. Cote has unique experience into the FARC’s relations with the Colombian cartels
and drug trafficking organizations:

36.  During my more than 24 years of active military service I have
interrogated more than 350 FARC members or FARC militia after their capture. I have
debriefed more than 300 demobilized FARC members or FARC militia after their
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surrender. I have reinserted more that 200 former members of the FARC to conduct
intelligence operations against the FARC after their surrender.

37.  Thave been responsible for the capture of more than 300 FARC members
or FARC militia, including several squadron chiefs or commanders, company
commanders, commission members, members of urban militias, replacements going to
the fronts, among others.

38.  Ihave reviewed numerous military, intelligence and law enforcement
reports related to the FARC and its drug trafficking and terrorist activities. I have
personally listened to hundreds of hours of real time FARC radio transmissions. I have
reviewed and analyzed all types of captured FARC documents and records, including
computers, ledgers, buried records, narcotics, cash, weapons and ammunition, and
logistic materials in general.

39.  As the Chief of Operations of the Colombian Marine Corps I have
personally supervised and participated in the planning of combat operations of the
marines and naval forces against the FARC, its agents, drug trafficking partners, and
other criminal elements who provide support or are otherwise associated with the FARC
and its narcotics trafficking and terrorist activities.

[DE 312, 11 36-39].

Col. Cote’s expert witness affidavit [DE 312] also provides an extensive factual basis
supporting his opinions that the NVC is an agency or instrumentality of the FARC, including “all
of their members, successors, affiliates and financial network supporters.” [DE 312, 9 45-50,
56]. Our experts have already proffered opinions that ALL the major cocaine trafficking cartels
in Colombia, Peru, MX, etc meet the definition of agencies or instrumentalities of the FARC, an
FTO/SDNTK/SDGT, including, but not limited to, the following:

Cali Cartel

Norte Valle Cartel

Manuel Aguirre Galindo Organization
Sinaloa Federation

Los Zetas

Beltran Leyva Cartel

Gulf Cartel

Arellano-Felix Organization

La Familia Michoacana

Tijuana Cartel

Juarez Cartel

Cartel Pacifico Sur

Carrillo Fuentes Organization

Edgar Valdez Villarreal faction,
Zambada Garcia Organization

Ochoa Vasco Network

Ochoa Vasco Colombia/Mexico network
Cifuentes Villa Organization — Colombia/ Sinaloa, Mexico
Los Mastrojos
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Los Machos

Amezcua Contreras Organization
Arriola Marquez Organization
Fernando Zevallos DTO in Peru

In addition to the cartels themselves, OFAC also designates hundreds of individual cartel
leaders, front persons and companies, and members of the cartel or DTO financial or money
laundering networks. There are literally hundreds of these individual SDNTKs out there who
may someday soon have a blocked account or blocked asset subject to US jurisdiction.

In addition to the Porter and Cote affidavits, before entering Orders determining that a
blocked party was an agency or instrumentality of the FARC, and issuing TRIA writs, the district
court also reviewed a voluminous appendix of supporting materials. [DE 313, Appendix]. This
Appendix contained 73 exhibits consisting of hundreds of pages of evidence.

Multiple district court rulings [MDFL, SDFL and SDNY] that the FSIA definition of
“agency or instrumentalitv of a foreign state” does not apply to terrorists and FTOs:

‘When Congress passed TRIA in 2002 it did not say “any agency or instrumentality of a
foreign state”, it specified that TRIA applied to blocked assets of “any agency or instrumentality
of that terrorist party”. TRIA §201(d) defines “terrorist party” as either a terrorist, or a foreign
terrorist organization, or a state sponsor of terrorism.

The legislative history of TRIA S. 201 [from the Joint Explanatory Statement of the
Committee of Conference on H. Rept. 107-779] clearly states that Sec 201 “authorizes the
enforcement of judgments against terrorist organizations™ and that “This provision is intended to
reach terrorist organizations”. Had Congress intended for TRIA to be limited to agencies or
instrumentalities of foreign states it could have said so, but it did not.

The Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act (“FSIA”) (28 USC 1603(b)) defines the term
“agency or instrumentality of a foreign state” to mean only an entity that is an organ, or political
subdivision of the foreign state, or a state owned entity. [Note: the FSIA does not define the
broader term “agency or instrumentality”, nor “agency or instrumentality of a ferrorist party”}.

Obviously, the FSIA definition has no meaning in the context of a “terrorist party” that is
not a foreign state. Congress could not have intended for the FSIA definition — which excludes
individuals — to apply to FTOs where it is common knowledge that individuals often act for or on
behalf of FTOs. FTOs and individual terrorists do not have political subdivisions, organs, or
state owned entities. They can and do act through individual couriers, suicide bombers,
smugglers agents, networks, cartels, cells, drug trafficking organizations (DTOs), straw men and
front companies, etc. If an ATA judgment creditor of Osama Bin Laden identified a blocked
account of his personal courier, clearly TRIA would allow such execution as an agency or
instrumentality of the terrorist. The same is true for a judgment creditor of an FTO like the
FARC or Al Qaeda who identifies a blocked account of a money launderer of the FTO.
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Judge Lazzara of the MDFL recognized that the FSIA definition of “agency or
instrumentality of a foreign state” does not apply to a “terrorist party” under TRIA that is an
individual terrorist or an FTO. Instead, he looked to the “plain and ordinary meaning” of the
words and found them consistent with the existing statutes and OFAC regulations on derivative
designations under its counter-narcotics sanctions programs and he set forth a legal standard for
determining an agency or instrumentality of the FARC [an FTO/SDGT/SDNTK] in multiple
orders and turnover judgments. [Stansell et al. v. FARC, MDFL 8:09-cv-2308]. Judge Huck in
the SDFL has also rejected the FSIA definition and adopted Judge Lazzara’s standard. [John
Doe v. ELN and FARC, SDFL 1 :1()-cv-21517].4

1t is clear, therefore, that Congress intended TRIA to define "terrorist party” to include
terrorists and Foreign Terrorist Organizations, and that the standard for determining agency or
instrumentality of an individual terrorist, or a designated Foreign Terrorist Organization is
different from the standard for determining agency or instrumentality of a foreign state.

Post-judgment steps we have followed under TRIA to execute/garnish on blocked assets [all
with full notice to OFAC and DOJ}:

After entry of an ATA final judgment against a terrorist or an FTO, the plaintiff can only
proceed against a blocked asset of an agency or instrumentality of that FTO after the district
court reviews evidence and makes a finding that the blocked party does in fact meet the standard
for an agency or instrumentality of that terrorist party. At that time a writ of execution (a/k/a
attachment or garnishment depending on the state where the district court is located) is issued by
the court and then the U.S. Marshal serves the writ on the bank holding the blocked asset. In
Florida service of the writ of garnishment on the bank is the operative event that perfects a
judgment lien against the blocked asset. Thereafter the garnishee answers the writ stating if it is
indebted to the blocked party agency or instrumentality, and the amount. The plaintiff then
moves for entry of a turnover judgment or turnover order and upon entry the bank (after
confirming with OFAC) turns the funds over to the plaintiff.

Throughout the entire TRIA execution process, OFAC is copied on every single pleading
related to the blocked asset as per OFAC litigation reporting requirement 31 CFR § 501.605 so
the Executive Branch is aware of what is happening, and why, the whole way through execution
on a blocked account, starting with the original discovery to OFAC to identify the banks
reporting holding the blocked assets. The Assistant U.S. Attorney representing OFAC is also
copied on every single pleading after their appearance in the district court.

If the blocked A/I party is unblocked and removed from the SDN list by OFAC before
the writ is served on the bank then the plaintiff cannot complete the TRIA execution because

* See also In re 650 Fifth Ave., 2013 WL 2451067 at *5 n.7 ("Section 1603(b) defines 'agency or
instrumentality of a foreign state' for purposes of FSIA, not agencies or instrumentalities of
‘terrorist parties'-the term used in TRIA § 201); Samantar v. Yousuf, 130 S. Ct. 2278, 2286
(2010)(individuals could be an agency or instrumentality if those terms are given their normal
meaning of: anyone who acts for or on behalf of).

10



55

there was no longer a blocked asset at the time the writ was being served and TRIA only applies
to blocked assets as defined.

The district court made the FARC agency or instrumentality determinations using the
plain and ordinary meaning of those terms, and finding that these were consistent with the OFAC
designation criteria used to designate narcotics traffickers. [DE 323, 47 11-15]. Both of our
experts, Mr. Porter and Col. Cote, in part based their opinions on the district court’s standard for
determining when an organization, individual, or cartel, or its members, qualifies as an “agency
or instrumentality” of the FARC:

11.  The Court finds that OFAC’s designation authority and criteria under its
counter-terrorism and counter-narcotics sanctions programs is derived from statutes,’
executive orders® and regulations,” are consistent with the ordinary and plain meaning of
the terms agency or instrumentality and further finds that these definitions should be
applied to determine that any SDNT or SDNTK with a nexus to the FARC qualifies as an
agency or instrumentality of the FARC.

12 Any SDNT or SDNTK person, entity, drug cartel or organization ,
including all of its individual members, divisions and networks, that is or was ever
involved in the cultivation, manufacture, processing, purchase, sale, trafficking, security,
storage, shipment or transportation, distribution of FARC coca paste or cocaine, or that
assisted the FARC’s financial or money laundering network, is an agency or
instrumentality of the FARC under the TRIA because it was either:

(1) materially assisting in, or providing financial or technological support for or
to, or providing goods or services in support of, the international narcotics
trafficking activities of a specially designated narcotics trafficker [FARC]; and/or

(2) owned, controlled, or directed by, or acting for or on behalf of, a specially
designated narcotics trafficker [FARC]; and/or

(3) playing a significant role in international narcotics trafficking [related to coca
paste or cocaine manufactured or supplied by the FARC].

This includes SDNT and SDNTK cartels, organizations, persons or entities which have
ever supplied currency, weapons, ammunition, logistics, transportation, or supplies and/or
financial or money laundering services to the FARC or its trafficking partners, directly or
indirectly, as consideration for FARC coca paste or cocaine. Similarly, any SDNT or
SDNTK person or entity involved with the financial or money laundering network of a
drug cartel or organization described above also qualifies as an agency or instrumentality
of the FARC under the TRIA.®

521 U.S.C. § 1904(b).

¢ Presidential Executive Orders 12978 and 13224.

731 CFR. §598.314.

® The TRIA is not limited to the definition of “agency or instrumentality” under the definition
applicable to foreign state sponsors of terrorism found in the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act,

11
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13.  All specially designated narcotics traffickers who assist and provide
financial or technological support for or to, or who provide goods or services in support
of, or who act on behalf of the international narcotics trafficking activities of a specially
designated narcotics trafficker like the FARC here — a designated FTO - are each an
“agency or instrumentality of a terrorist party.” See Ungar v. The Palestinian Authority
304 F. Supp. 2d 232, 241 (D.R.L 2004)(HLF is an agency or instrumentality of Hamas
because it acts “for or on behalf of” Hamas).

[DE 311, 115; DE 312, 99 53, 56; DE 314, 99 11-13].

The United States has not objected to the Court’s standard for determination of an agency
or instrumentality of a Foreign Terrorist Organization (“FT0”) prior to issuing or enforcing any
of the TRIA writs in this case, nor has the United States done so since.

In 2010, our lawyers moved to enforce our judgment against a blocked account of
Mercurio Infernacional, S.A., a Colombian casa de cambio and FARC money launderer (the
Mercurio Account). Mercurio Internacional was a Specially Designated Narcotics Trafficker,
and the account was blocked by the U.S. Department of Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets
Control (OFAC) under the Kingpin Act [SDNTK]. It was not, however, blocked under IEEPA or
TWEA. The district court issued a writ of garnishment against the Mercurio blocked account
which was served on the garnishee bank thereby perfecting the lien on the blocked asset.”

Mercurio challenged our writ arguing that it was about to be “exonerated” by being
removed from the OFAC list, but its own filings demonstrated that the reason for its removal was
the changed circumstance of being in liquidation in Colombia. The district court ruled that under
the OFAC regulations Mercurio’s subsequent removal from the OFAC list did not defeat our
prior perfected judgment lien under TRIA. Mercurio appealed arguing that its removal was both
retroactive and an exoneration that should defeat the TRIA execution, and the parties briefed
these issues on appeal. At no time did Mercurio or the government ever raise any challenge to
the TRIA definition of “blocked asset” until August 2011 when the United States filed 2 motion
for leave to file an Amicus Brief out of time in the Mercurio appeal.

On January 9, 2013, the 11th Circuit ruled that assets blocked pursuant to the Foreign
Narcotics Kingpin Designation Act, 21 U.S .C. 1901 -1908 ("Kingpin Act") were outside the
reach of TRIA, because they were not specifically included in TRIA's Sec. 201 (d)(2) definition
of "blocked assets" (“...under IEEPA ...or TWEA...”), and even though the Kingpin Act was

because state sponsors of terrorism are only one type of specifically defined types of “terrorist
party” under the TRIA.

® Mercurio had previously agreed to forfeit to the U.S. one third of its bulk currency seized in an
ICE/DEA undercover operation [@ $677,000] in exchange for return of two thirds of the seized
funds [@ $1.25 million] that was subsequently blocked when OFAC designated Mercurio as an
SDNTK FARC money launderer]. USA v. €9,145,000 in European currency et al, SDFL Case
No. 08-cv-20368, DE 35.
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modeled on and virtually identical to the IEEPA sanctions program, those were separate acts of

Congress. Stansell v FARC (Mercurio) et al., 704 F.3d 910 (11* Cir. 2013).

Prior to the 11" Circuit Court of Appeal decision in Mercurio, the district court ruled that
TRIA’s definition of “blocked asset” [“...under IEEPA....”] included assets blocked under the
Kingpin Act because it was modeled on and identical to the IEEPA counter-narcotics sanction
program. In its first subpoena response to our lawyers in October 2010, OFAC itself identified 2
FARC money launderers that OFAC had designated as Tier Il SDNTKs under the Kingpin Act.
In December 2010, our lawyers proceeded with the TRIA post-judgment execution process
described above, and throughout this entire process both OFAC and DOJ were served with
copies of the motions for issuance of the writ, the bank’s answer to the writ, the motion for entry
of turnover judgment and the court’s turnover judgment under TRIA. Neither OFAC nor DOJ
objected to these TRIA executions until long after one had been completed, and long after
appellate briefing was completed by the parties in the Mercurio appeal.

Purpose of BASTA is to harmonize anti-terrorism statutes and definitions and clarify the
intent of the comprehensive remedy in TRIA, and to eliminate unfair results:

The Bank Account Seizure of Terrorist Assets or BASTA Act will enhance the ability of

U.S. national terrorism victims to enforce judgments against the blocked assets of narco-

terrorists and their trafficking partners and financial networks. The Act harmonizes the
laws governing the recovery of terrorist and narco-trafficking assets by including assets blocked

under the Foreign Narcotics Kingpin Designation Act (Kingpin Act) in the list of blocked assets
already subject to attachment and execution under Section 201 of the Terrorism Risk Insurance
Act of 2002 (TRIA). The Act also brings TRIA in conformity with existing federal anti-terrorism
civil remedy statutes defining the persons covered, and the operative dates for determining
terrorist party status. The BASTA Act is sound public policy that provides justice to the victims
of terrorism and further enhances the public-private partnership between private litigants and
law-enforcement to deprive financial assets to terrorist and narco-traffickers. The billisa
technical fix to existing U.S Code and authorizes no additional spending or taxes.

Current TRIA Law:
At present, Section 201 of the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 ("TRIA"™), provides:

TITLE II--TREATMENT OF TERRORIST ASSETS
SEC. 201. SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENTS FROM BLOCKED ASSETS OF
TERRORISTS, TERRORIST ORGANIZATIONS, AND STATE SPONSORS
OF TERRORISM.

(a) IN GENERAL- Notwithstanding any other provision of law, and except as
provided in subsection (b), in every case in which a person has obtained a
judgment against a terrorist party on a claim based upon an act of terrorism,
or for which a terrorist party is not immune under section 1605(a)(7) of title
28, United States Code, the blocked assets of that terrorist party (including
the blocked assets of any agency or instrumentality of that terrorist party)

13
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shall be subject to execution or attachment in aid of execution in order to
satisfy such judgment to the extent of any compensatory damages for which
such terrorist party has been adjudged liable.

(d) DEFINITIONS- In this section, the following definitions shall apply:

(2) BLOCKED ASSET- The term ' blocked asset’ means-

(A) any asset seized or frozen by the United States under section 3(b) of the Trading With
the Enemy Act (50 U .S.C. App. 5(b)) or under sections 202 and 203 of the International
Emergency Economic Powers Act (30 U 8.C. 170 [; 1702); and

Purpose/Explanation of Each BASTA Act Amendment:

(1) Subsection (2) of TRIA is amended by inserting at the end the following:

“For purposes of this section; the blocked assets 0f a terrorist party are subject to execution or
attachment in aid of execution in order fo. satisty such judgment regardless of whether the
terrorist party ceases 1o be:a terrorist party after such judgment is'entered.”

Purpose/Explanation:

The section ensures that blocked assets can be levied against without regard for whether the
terrorist party is de-listed, so long as the judgment was granted and a writ of execution served
before the de-listing. Subsequent Executive action cannot defeat the execution of a judgment so
long as the defendant was a terrorist, terrorist organization or state sponsor of terrorism at the
time of the terrorist act and when the judgment was granted.

Congress has already made clear that victims of state sponsors of terrorism can sue so long as the
state sponsor was designated at time of the attack and the time of filing suit [28 U.S.C. § 1605A
EHAMDD]. Congress has also made clear that with respect to FTOs, removal from the FT1O
list does not affect any prior action or proceeding [8 USC § 1189(7)]. It would be unjust to atlow
the Executive Branch to thwart Congressional intent by arguing that the standard under TRIA
should be different. This amendment does not deprive the President of a “carrot” because
current terrorist parties still have a significant incentive to change their ways: protection against
future asset blocking and award under TRIA for future acts (which are, of course, those that the
carrot is designed to influence).

Ifthe FARC is someday removed from the FTO list - and therefore ceases to be a “terrorist
party” under the TRIA definition - that removal will not affect the blocked assets of its many
SDNTK “agency or instrumentality” drug trafficking partners and money launderers who may
still be blocked for years to come, and who continue to be newly blocked every year.

The FARC itself has no blocked assets in the US, never has and likely never will. FTOs simply
do not open bank accounts or hold assets in their name, they get paid in currency and weapons
ete. The agency or instrumentality trafficking partner cartel members, front companies, and
money launderers do hold assets in their name, that is precisely why they get added to the OFAC
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List. If the agency or instrumentality itself gets removed from the OFAC list before the TRIA
post-judgment execution is perfected, then neither TRIA or BASTA will allow the victims to get
at that now unblocked asset.

it would be impossible for any narco-terrorist victim to identify and sue the many hundreds
(1000+) of the FTO’s OFAC designated trafficking pariner members and networks at the
inception of the Anti-Terrorism Act lawsuit in order to obtain a judgment against 1000+
defendants. Also, the FTOs ~ like the FARC - continue to traffick after entry of judgment and
OFAC continues to designate more agency or instrumentality cartel members after entry of
Judgment vs the FTO.

The 2nd Circuit Court of Appeals in Welnstein v. Islamic Republic of Iran, 609 F.3d 43, 30 (2d
Cir. 2010} held that: “Accordingly, we find it clear beyond cavil that Section 201(a) of the
TRIA provides courts with subject matter jurisdiction over post-judgment execution and
attachment proceedings against property held in the hands of an instrumentality of the judgment-
debtor, even if the instrumentality is not itself named in the indgment.” 1d. at 50.

We did sue and get a judgment against not only the FARC itself, but also 80 individual FARC
leaders who we were able to identify by name [others will surely be discovered in the future as
they get arvested or turn themselves in]. Only one FARC leader named in our Judgment - Alonso
Olarte Lombana — has a blocked account in the US under the Kingpin Act. Tt is true that if the
FARC and Alonso Olarte Lombana himself were simultancously delisted by OFAC, we would
still have a judgment against him. But with the lifting of the blocking sanction there is no
mechanism to prevent Lombana — or any other delisted agency or instrumentality — to simply
transfer its assets out of the reach of US courts. This is exactly what Mercurio Internacional, SA
[OFAC designated FARC money launderer] did after the Mercurio appeal so that its $1.25
million left the US and is no longer available for execution if BASTA is enacted into law.

BASTA will ensure that if the FARC, or any other narco-terrorist FTQ, is ever delisted, the
FTOs victim judgment creditors can still pursue blocked assets of the agency or instrumentality
narco-trafficker/money launderer whose assets remain blocked,

Nothing in BASTA protects terrorist victims from OFAC delisting of the agency or
instrumentality itself before the TRIA execution attaches. Nothing in BASTA protects terrorist

victims from government civil or criminal forfeiture of any blocked asset.

(2) Subparagraph {A) of subsection {(d)}{(2) of TRIA is_amended o read as follows:

“{A) any asset seized or frozen by the United States under section 5(b) of the Trading With the
Enemy Act (50 U.S.C. App. 5(b)), under sections 202 and 203 of the International Emergency
Economic Powers Act (50 U.S.C. 1701; 1702), or under section 805(b) of the Foreign Narcotics
Kingpin Designation Act (21 U.S.C1904)

Purpose/Explanation:

The Kingpin Act, 21 U.S.C.A_§ 1901-1908, was enacted pursuant to Congressional findings and
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authority arising from the International Emergency Economic Powers Act ("IEEPA™) (50 U.S.C.
§ 1701 et seq.). The Kingpin Act was modeled on IEEPA, and "restates the applicable
provisions of the [IEEPA]". H.R. CONF. REP. 106-457, Sec. 806, 810. Congress based the
Kingpin Act on the IEEPA counter-narcotics program established by President Clinton's
Executive Order 12978 in issued on October 24, 1995. The related regulations are styled the
"Foreign Narcotics Kingpin Sanctions Regulations” (31 C.F.R. Part 598). The original counter-
narcotics sanctions regulations under IEEPA EO 12978 are found at 31 CFR Part 536.

NOTE: When Congress passed the Kingpin Act, it set forth specific findings and policy in
the text of the statute itself:

21 U.S. CODE § 1901 - FINDINGS AND POLICY

(a) Findings

Congress makes the following findings:

(1)Presidential Decision Directive 42, issued on October 21, 1995, ordered agencies of the
executive branch of the United States Government to, inter alia, increase the priority and
resources devoted to the direct and immediate threat international crime presents to national
security, work more closely with other governments to develop a global response to this threat,
and use aggressively and creatively all legal means available to combat international crime.
(2)Executive Order No. 12978 of October 21, 1995, provides for the use of the authorities in the
International Emergency Economic Powers Act (IEEPA) (50 U.S.C. 1701 et seq.) to target and
apply sanctions to four international narcotics traffickers and their organizations that operate from
Colombia.

(3)IEEPA was successfully applied to international narcotics traffickers in Colombia and based
on that successful case study, Congress believes similar authorities should be applied worldwide.
(4)There is a national emergency resulting from the activities of international narcotics traffickers
and their organizations that threatens the national security, foreign policy, and economy of the
United States. :

(b) Policy

It shall be the policy of the United States to apply economic and other financial sanctions to
significant foreign narcotics traffickers and their organizations worldwide to protect the national
security, foreign policy, and economy of the United States from the threat described in subsection
(a)(4) of this section.

OFAC’s 2011 Publication “What You Need to Know About U.S. Sanctions Against Drug
Traffickers” states as follows:

The Kingpin Act blocks all property and interests in property, subject to U.S. jurisdiction, owned
or controlled by significant foreign narcotics fraffickers as identified by the President. In addition,
the Kingpin Act blocks the property and interests in property, subject to U.S. jurisdiction, of
foreign persons designated by the Secretary of Treasury, in consultation with the Attorney
General, the Director of Central Intelligence, the Director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation,
the Administrator of the Drug Enforcement Administration, the Secretary of Defense, and the
Secretary of State, who are found to be: (1) materially assisting in, or providing financial or
technological support for or to, or providing goods or services in support of, the international
narcotics trafficking activities of a person designated pursuant to the Kingpin Act; (2) owned,
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controlled, or directed by, or acting for or on behalf of, a person designated pursuant to the
Kingpin Act; or (3) playing a significant role in international narcotics trafficking.

Significant foreign narcotics traffickers and foreign persons designated by the Secretary of the
Treasury are referred to collectively as Specially Designated Narcotics Traffickers. Foreign
persons designated under the Kingpin Act are referred to as "[SDNTK]s" on OFAC's listing of
"Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons” to differentiate them from the Specially
Designated Narcotics Traffickers named under Executive Order 12978

Specially Designated Narcotics Traffickers designated under IEEPA’s Executive Order 12978
included the Cali Cartel, North Valley Cartel, the North Coast Cartel and the Ochoa Vasco
Network. OFAC uses the SDNT designation label for these IEEPA Specially Designated
Narcotics Traffickers (no SDNTs have been designated under IEEPA since 2009, but many have
been and continue to be removed from the OFAC SDN List).

Specially Designated Narcotics Traffickers designated under the Kingpin Act are referred to
using the “SDNTK” designation label. Many new SDNTKSs have been designated since 2009,
and continue to be so designated. The FARC was designated under the Kingpin Actasa
“significant foreign narcotics trafficker” [SDNTK] in 2003 by President George W. Bush. Many
FARC leaders have also been designated as SDNTKSs under the Kingpin Act (none were ever
designed under IEEPA EO 12978 even though they operate in Colombia).

The intent, purpose, and criteria for designation of Specially Designated Narcotics Traffickers
are the same for the SDNT and SDNTK sanctions programs. In fact, there is substantial overlap
in the SDNT and SDNTK sanctions programs and each program uses the same language for
designation criteria:

The term specially designated narcotics trafficker means:

(1) Materially assisting in, or providing financial or technological support for or
to, or providing goods or services in support of, the international narcotics
trafficking activities of a specially designated narcotics trafficker;

(2) Owned, controlled, or directed by, or acting for or on behalf of, a specially
designated narcotics trafficker; or

(3) Playing a significant role in international narcotics trafficking.

Compare 31 CFR Part 536.312 (SDNT Program) with 31 CFR Part 598.314 (SDNTK Kingpin
Act).

‘When Congress passed TRIA in 2002, it defined the term "blocked asset” as any asset seized or
frozen by the U.S. government "under TWEA or IEEPA". TRIA §201(d)(2)}(A). Of the more
than 30 sanctions programs administered by OFAC, all but one are based on the executive
authority derived from either IEEPA or TWEA. These assets fall within the meaning of
"blocked assets" as defined by TRIA Section 201 (d)(2)(A) and are therefore subject to
attachment by U.S. national victims of terrorism.
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The sole exception to this group of blocked assets subject to attachment under Section
201(d}2)(A) are those blocked under the Kingpin Act. It is difficult to believe that Congress
intended Section 201(d)(2)(A) to apply to agencies or instrumentalities of a Foreign Terrorist
Organization centered in Colombia, but not to agencies or instrumentalities of that same Foreign
Terrorist Organization operating in other parts of the world and that maintain narcotics
transshipment corridors in South and Central America, Africa and Europe. This would lead to an
absurd result whereby TRIA would apply to a FARC trafficking partner in Colombia [labeled as
an IEEPA SDNT or SDGT by OFAC], but not to a FARC trafficking partner or financial
network in Central America, like Panama or Mexico in the case of the Sinaloa cartel [who gets
labeled as an SDNTK by OFAC], where the criteria for derivative designations are the same.

It is also illogical for TRIA to reach assets blocked under the IEEPA counter-narcotics sanctions
program [SDNT], but not to reach assets blocked under the Kingpin Act [SDNTK], especially
where Congress expressly modeled the latter sanctions program on the former.

Similarly, Congress clearly did not intend for TRIA to apply to narcotics trafficking agencies or
instrumentalities of Al-Qaeda who happen to be designated as an SDGT under E.O. 13224, but
not to narcotics trafficking agencies or instrumentalities of Al-Qaeda who happen to be
designated by OFAC as an SDNTK under the Kingpin Act.

We secured our ATA final judgment [for the capture, torture, and killing of their family member]
against the FARC and multiple individual FARC members including Alonso Olarte Lombana,
whom OFAC has identified as a Front Commander for the FARC. Mr. Lombana is not merely
some financier or remotely-related FARC entity; he is an actual commander in FARC’s guerilla
military operations who was clearly “centered in Colombia™ [and therefore he could have been
designated under IEEPA E.O. 12978]. See Stansell et al. v. FARC et al., M.D. Fla. No. 09-CIV-
2308, D.E. 233, 322-1. Nevertheless, the Executive designated Mr. Lombana as an SDNTK,
rather than as an SDNT or an SDGT. So even though the Government has formally identified
the FARC as a terrorist entity [FTO, SDGT, and a Significant Foreign Narcotics Trafficker under
the Kingpin Act], and has also formally identified Mr. Lombana as a front commander in that
terrorist organization — that actually caused our damages - his designation was not as a terrorist
(SDGT) or an SDNT (narcotics trafficker centered in Colombia), but rather as an SDNTK under
the Kingpin Act. Because Lombana was designated under the Kingpin Act,we cannot execute
upon Lombana’s assets blocked in the U.S., despite having a judgment against him and having
perfected a TRIA writ of garnishment on Lombana’s blocked bank account. This amendment
will allow us to proceed with TRIA execution on a small $30,000 U.S. blocked account owned
by Alonso Olarte Lombana.

The present scope of TRIA's Section 201(d)(2)(A) thwarts terrorism victim judgment holders’
efforts to collect from blocked assets of narco-traffickers and their financial networks.

The Act, therefore, clarifies Congress' intent that the TRIA "deal comprehensively with the
problem of enforcement of judgments rendered on behalf of victims of terrorism in any court of
competent jurisdiction by enabling them to satisfy such judgments through the attachment of
blocked assets of terrorist parties.” H.R. CONF. REP. 107-779, Congressional Record 148
(November 13, 2002) H8728.
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The BASTA Act corrects this anomaly and makes Congressional intent consistent by adding
assets blocked under the Kingpin Act to the definition of blocked assets under TRIA and subject
to execution by terrorism victims,

{3) Subsection () of TRIA is amended-— ()} bv inserting after paragraph (3) the following:

“{4Y PERSON.—1n subsection (a), the ferm “person’ means & person who; at the time the act of
terrorism described in subsection (a) upon which the judgment obtained by the person was
commitied, was either— N ; o

““{A) a national of the United States-as defined 1n'section 101(w)(22) of the Immigration and
MNationality Act{ 8 U.S.C.L101(a)22); or

“(B) 4 membet of the Armed Forces of the United States; or ; ;

HC) otherwise an employee of the Government of the United States; or of an individual
performing a contract awarded by the United States Government, acting within the scope of the

eniployee’s employment.”
Purpose/Explanation:

The Act harmonizes Section 201 of TRIA with the provisions of the Anti-Terrorism Act (18

USC 2333(a) and 18 USC 2331(2)), as well as the state sponsored terrorism exception to the
Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act, 28 U.S.C. 1605A{a)}(2)(A)i)(I-1H). In those statutes, Congress
has defined the “persons” entitled to bring suits against terrorist parties, and the Act merely adopts
this definition of persons under TRIA.

BASTA will also prevent opening the floodgates to our court system with alien national tort
lawsuits from foreign FTO victims all over the world seeking to use TRIA to compete with U.S.
national terrorism victims collection efforts on the same pool of blocked assets.

SEC. 3. EFFECTIVE DATE, )
The amendnments made by this Act apply to any judgment entered before, on, orafter the date of
the enactment of this Act,

Purpose/Explanation:

The provision protects terrorism victim judgment holders " rights by clarifying that the Act
applies retroactively only to judgments previously entered, and does not supersede any existing
statutes of limitations within which to file a lawsuit. Any claim currently barred by the statute of
limitations would not be revived, and would remain time barred.

BASTA is not a terror victim compensation fund.

Neither TRIA or the BASTA Act allow a plaintiff judgment creditor of the FARC to go after
Tranian assets, or on any blocked assets of the Qadhafi family that may someday be returned to
benefit the new Libyan government and people.

The ATA judgment against the FARC can only be satisfied against the blocked assets of the
FARC, or blocked assets of a person or entity that a district court determines to be an agency or

instrumentality of the FARC.
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BASTA does not amend the federal judicial code, and it does not amend the federal criminal
code.

BASTA does not impose or expand on the liability of any foreign state, or its officials or
employees.

BASTA does not impose or create any new liability for aiders and abetters, or material
supporters of terrorist organizations.

BASTA does not expand liability of Chiquita, or any other U.S. multinational corporations, who
may operate in areas controlled by terrorist organizations.

BASTA does not change any statute of limitations period, and it does not revive any time barred
actions.

BASTA will clarify and remedy incomplete definitions in the original legislation, and will
correct an unexpected appellate court interpretation of a definition in the original law.

BASTA’s retroactive effect is based on important public policy grounds, and has a legitimate
and rational purpose — protecting the original Congressional intent of a “comprehensive remedy”
for victims of terrorist organizations.

Retroactive application of this definition will protect our right to enforce several pending writs of
execution/garnishment on blocked accounts of Specially Designated Narcotics Traffickers
blocked under the Kingpin Act [SDNTK]. The district court has already determined that these
SDNTKs are agencies or instrumentalities of the terrorist organization FARC, the writs have
been issued by the district court, and served on the garnishee banks by the U.S. Marshal’s
Service, but any further enforcement or compliance therewith remains stayed in light of the
Mercurio decision.

BASTA’s retroactive definition of “person” — U.S. nationals, U.S. military and certain foreign
nationals (i.e. embassy workers/government employees) - harmonizes TRIA with the other prior
federal statutory anti-terrorism causes of action (18 USC § 2333 for actions against terrorists
and terrorist organizations that are not foreign states; 28 USC §1605A for FSIA actions against
state sponsors of terrorism) and is sound public policy. BASTA’s retroactive clause harmonizing
the definition of “person” will protect the comprehensive remedy for U.S. nationals and military,
and still allow an alien judgment holder to apply for OFAC license to execute on a blocked asset,
Clearly, Congress did not intend to limit anti-terrorism causes of action to U.S. nationals and
U.S. armed forces, without also so limiting the TRIA post-judgment remedy.

BASTA’s amendment to TRIA §201(a) will clarify that if the FARC (or other FTO) is someday

removed from the FTO list such removal will not serve to defeat the terrorism victim’s right to
enforce their judgment on assets which otherwise remain blocked.
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Congress has also made clear that with respect to FTOs, removal from the FTO list does not

affect any prior action or proceeding. It would be unjust to allow the Executive Branch to thwart

Congressional intent by arguing that the standard under TRIA should be different. This

amendment does not deprive the President of a “carrot” because current terrorist parties still have

a significant incentive to change their ways: protection against future asset blocking and award

under TRIA for future acts (which are, of course, those that the carrot is designed to influence).

The currently proposed retroactivity provision makes good and important public policy for the
Legislative Branch. It prevents U.S. nationals from having to compete with non-U.S. nationals
for a very limited pool of blocked assets. It will prevent a floodgate of Alien Tort Statute
lawsuits in U.S. courts by foreign national victims of FTOs seeking to use TRIA and thereby
deplete blocked assets that would otherwise be available to compensate U.S. terrorism victims.

BASTA will clarify and remedy incomplete definitions in the original legislation, and will
correct an unexpected appellate court interpretation of the original law.

BASTA’s retroactive effect is based on important public policy grounds, and has several
legitimate and rational purposes.
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INTRODUCTION

Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Clay, and distinguished Members of the Subcommittee,
thank you for inviting me to speak with you this moming at this hearing regarding potential
legislative approaches to the attachment of assets seized or frozen under the Foreign Narcotics
Kingpin Designation Act. I am Marshall Miller, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General of
the Criminal Division of the Department of Justice, and my statement will focus on the current
activities of the Department in managing the seizure and forfeiture of assets associated with
unlawful activity. The Department works with crime victims on a daily basis to ensure they
receive justice for the harms they have suffered. As this Committee considers legislation in this
area, the Department stands ready to ensure that any proposal complements, rather than conflicts
with the forfeiture and restitution tools that we use to help victims every day.

The seizure and forfeiture of assets that represent the proceeds of federal crimes, or that
were used to facilitate those crimes, are covered by the Department of Justice’s Asset Forfeiture
Program. The Program’s primary mission is to use asset forfeiture to enhance public safety and
security by ensuring that crime does not pay. To accomplish that mission, the Department
forfeits the proceeds of crime, or other substitute assets, directly from the criminals themselves.
Asset forfeiture takes the profit out of crime, disrupts criminal organizations, lessens their
economic influence, and serves as a deterrent to future criminal activity. In addition, the laws
governing asset forfeiture provide pre-trial preservation tools to prevent criminal defendants
from dissipating crime proceeds, ensuring that such proceeds remain available for forfeiture or
restitution.

The Criminal Division’s Asset Forfeiture and Money Laundering Section (AFMLS)
spearheads the Asset Forfeiture Program and, more generally, the Department’s asset forfeiture
and anti-money laundering enforcement efforts. Most importantly for today’s hearing, AFMLS
leads the Department’s efforts to return forfeited criminal proceeds to those harmed by crime
through the administration of victims’ claims.
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RETURNING FORFEITED ASSETS TO VICTIMS OF CRIME

The Department works to ensure that victims of crime are fairly and equitably
compensated. The authority to distribute forfeited funds to victims has been entrusted to the
Attorney General. This makes sense legally because, once property or funds are forfeited,
ownership of the property or funds transfers to the government. But it is also sensible, as it
allows the government to finalize and execute forfeiture orders equitably, without prejudicing the
rights of other claimants.

The process by which the Department distributes forfeited assets is known as
“remission.” Under the applicable regulatory framework governing remission, the Department
has provided compensation to thousands of victims for a wide variety of crimes, ranging from
Ponzi schemes, mail and wire fraud, and health care fraud to identify theft, intellectual property
and trademark violations. Since 2001, nearly $4 billion in forfeited assets have been disbursed to
victims by the Department under the Attorney General’s discretionary authority. Over $203
million has been returned to victims so far this fiscal year.

The remission process is governed by federal regulations that define a victim as an
innocent person who has suffered a pecuniary loss as a direct result of the crime underlying the
forfeiture or a related offense. It is important to note that the remission regulations give no
preferential treatment to any particular victims; all victims must submit and document their
losses with supporting documents. When the forfeited funds are not sufficient to compensate
multiple victims for the entirety of their losses, the funds are generally distributed on a pro-rata
basis, in accordance with each victim’s verified pecuniary loss amount. An important purpose of
these regulations is to avoid victims of crime being doubly harmed — first by the underlying
criminal conduct, and a second time as resources are dissipated through competition over a
limited pot of money.

Compensating victims has long been a top priority of the Department’s Asset Forfeiture
Program. In fact, the Department has made strides to provide remission in situations where
victims who suffered defined pecuniary losses were denied funds under other avenues for
recovery including bankruptcy law or the Securities Investor Protection Act (SIPA), because
such laws generally only recognize creditors, rather than the broader class of victims recognized
in the remission regulations. For example, in the Bernie Madoff case, the Department anticipates
distributing forfeited proceeds to victims who would have been ineligible to obtain recovery in
related SIPA civil proceedings. Since the forfeited funds unfortunately do not cover all the
victims’ losses, those funds will be distributed on a pro-rata basis.

We should emphasize that as a matter of DOJ policy, victims of crime have priority over
forfeited funds — in other words, victims are compensated before law enforcement and before
equitable sharing with federal, state and local agencies, or international partners. The
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Department remains steadfast in its commitment to ensuring that forfeiture plays a key role in
helping victims recover from the crimes committed against them. We do want to note for the
benefit of this Committee, however, that the Department’s experience in this arena has largely
been focused on victims who have suffered quantifiable pecuniary harm, as the regulations set
forth. Quantifying non-pecuniary harm is a very difficult process, and we should move
cautiously before altering the existing system in a manner that could favor one class of victims,
such as judgment creditors, over other victims.

CONCLUSION
In closing, I would like to once again thank this Subcommittee for holding this hearing

and providing the Department with the opportunity to explain the Department’s forfeiture efforts,
remission procedures, and commitment to compensating the victims of crime.
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Chairman Campbell, Ranking Member Clay, and members of the Subcommittee, my name is
Steven R. Perles, founder and senior partner in the Perles Law Firm, PC, and I appreciate the
opportunity to appear before you to discuss judgment enforcement in civil litigation on behalf of
U.S. citizens killed or injured as a result of acts of state-sponsored terrorism. I have represented
significant numbers of Americans who were tragically murdered or injured in acts of Iranian,
Syrian, Sudanese, Libyan and Palestinian terrorism. What I would like to speak about today is a
judgment enforcement which is a story of a public-private partnership and the proper role of the
U.S. government in these cases. In my experience, since 1995, these cases achieve their greatest
success when the U.S. government empowers the American victims by assisting with evidence,
identifying assets of the terrorists or their sponsors and by staying neutral when the sponsors of
terrorism attempt to leverage ongoing negotiations with the U.S. government for aid and support
in the court cases against them. While an administrative reclassification of assets would be
preferable to legislation, I support relief no matter how it arrives for the FARC victims.
Allowing the victims of FARC terrorism to pursue the assets of FARC sponsors would promote
the goals of TRIA, namely, victim compensation and the deterrence of terrorism.

In 1996, my firm was one of the first to file lawsuits on behalf of American victims of terrorism.
We have seen the field of anti-terrorism litigation grow in cases against sovereign states and
foundations and corporations that allegedly aided and abetted acts of terrorism. Anti-terrorism
civil litigation has always been about deterring those who would materially support terrorism, as
terrorists from Abu Nidal to Bin Laden have all relied on someone else to provide their support,
be it financial or otherwise. Some of these sponsors are states like the Islamic Republic of Iran
and some are private actors, including the international financial institutions that facilitate the
movement of funds destined for terrorist entities.

The first successes in anti-terrorism litigation were won against Iran, but only after I brought an
ultimately successful case called Princz v. Federal Republic of Germany against the Federal
Republic of Germany on behalf of all Jewish survivors of the Nazi concentration camp system
who held a U.S. passport at the time of their incarceration. Though the underlying facts in
Princz had nothing to do with terrorism, slaving a U.S. national in Auschwitz and incinerating a
U.S. national in a bus bombing give rise to the same sovereign immunity issues. Thus, Princz
led to my first case against Iran, a notorious state sponsor of terrorism.

In 1993, the Shaqagi faction of the Palestine Islamic Jihad detonated a bomb that destroyed an
Israeli bus and killed twenty-year-old Alisa Flatow. At this point in time, victims of terrorism
like Alisa and her family had only an administrative remedy. In theory, the State Department
could have espoused their claim and demanded compensation from Iran. They did not, and up
until this point had never done so. Congress responded to the total lack of remedies for U.S.
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terrorism victims inn 1996, using then-D.C. Circuit Judge Patricia Wald’s dissenting opinion in
Princz for guidance, Congress passed a new exception to the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act
(FSIA), 28 U.S.C. § 1605(a)(7), for lawsuits “against a foreign state for personal injury or death
that was caused by an act of torture, extrajudicial killing, aircraft sabotage, hostage taking.” This
exception denied sovereign immunity to any foreign state that sponsored a terrorist attack upon
U.S. citizens, as long as the state had already been officially recognized as a state sponsor of
terrorism by the U.S. Department of State.

Following this amendment, 1 represented this family in Flatow v. Islamic Republic of Iran, * the
first case against Iran for state sponsorship of terrorism under the FSIA. The Flatow case
documented the links between the terrorist group that carried out the attack and Iran, which acted
as a sponsor for the group through the provision of support and training. In Flatow, for the first
time, a court found a foreign state liable for its sponsorship of a terrorist group that killed a U.S.
citizen and awarded damages of roughly $229 million. Around the same time, together with my
co-counsel Thomas Fay, I brought a case in the United States District Court for the District of
Columbia against Iran for its complicity in the 1983 marine barracks bombing in Beirut,

Lebanon that caused the death of over 240 servicemen, captioned Peterson v. Islamic Republic of
Iran. Judge Royce C. Lamberth authored a May 30, 2003 opinion finding Iran liable based upon
the clear and convincing evidence linking Iran to the 1983 attack.” Subsequently, Judge
Lamberth entered judgment against Iran for the 1983 bombing in excess of $4 billion.” We
currently are enforcing this judgment on behalf of over 1,200 plaintiffs against Iranian assets
worth $1.9 billion in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York.* It
should be noted that we were greatly aided in this effort by the provision of information under
seal by the Department of Treasury, which is an appropriate role of government in these cases.
The process by which Treasury cooperates with private victims of terrorism, and its intersection
with TRIA, will be discussed in greater detail below.

At times, the U.S. government has been a strong supporter of anti-terrorism litigation, and the
State Department has been able to play a constructive role in the past. In 2008, there were a
number of cases in U.S. courts progressing against Libya to provide compensation for its
sensational acts of terrorism against U.S. citizens in 1980s and 1990s, including the survivors of
the 1986 LaBelle Discothéque bombing. Libya, anxious to reestablish relations with the United
States, was unable to make much progress as State Department officials and members of
Congress blocked rapprochement until the claims were satisfied. The primary cases that drove
the agreement with Libya forward were the Lockerbie Pan Am 103 bombing and the LaBelle
discotheque bombing case. In August 2008, the governments of Libya and the U.S. reached an
agreement where Libya agreed to pay the U.S. $1.5 billion in settlement of all outstanding
claims.” Though many victims were dissatisfied with this result and felt the U.S. government
made a politically expedient settlement at the expense of fair compensation of all victims and
survivors of Libyan terrorism, the level of U.S. government participation in the vindication of
private causes of action was unique. While it may have been preferable to see more done on

Y999 F. Supp. 1 (D.D.C. 1998).

2 Peterson v. Islamic Republic of Iran, 264 F. Supp. 2d 46 (D.D.C. 2003).

? Peterson v, Islamic Republic of Iran, 515 F. Supp. 2d 25 (D.D.C. 2007).

* Peterson v. Islamic Republic of Iran, CA 10-4518 (KBF), 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 40470 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 28, 2013).
5 Libyan Claims Resolution Act, Pub. L. No. 110-301, 122 Stat. 2999 (2008).

2
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behalf of victims, U.S. government support for the Libyan cases was vital to their eventual
settlement. The resolution of the Libya cases in 2008-10 for Libya’s past acts of state
sponsorship of terrorism illustrates how advocates for victims of state sponsorship of terrorism
can provide ammunition to the State Department in its advancement of U.S. policy and how the
two can work together to achieve their goals. Such a public-private partnership does not happen
often because of the absence of an institutional voice for victims of terrorism at the State
Department. Moreover, it should be noted that the administrative settlement of claims against
Libya, technically called an espousal, was only possible because of the leverage exerted by
billions of dollars in private claims authorized by the Flatow amendment. Under the U.S.
espousal, U.S. injury victims received a minimum payment of $3,000,000 each. Under a similar
process in Germany, a country lacking the kind of private judicial remedies afforded by the
Flatow amendment, injury victims received approximately $300,000 each.

In addition, other organs of the Executive Branch have played an instrumental role in several
Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act (FSIA) cases against the Islamic Republic of Iran and the
Syrian Arab Republic. In some cases preexisting administrative discretion allows for quick
flexible cooperation from the Executive Branch. Under subpoena, the Office of Foreign Asset
Control at Department of Treasury has provided information regarding the location of frozen
assets of Iran or Syria to U.S. victims of terrorism as judgment creditors. In two of my cases,
this has led to compensation for my clients and I must thank the Department of Treasury for
acting in a thoroughly cooperative and professional manner. In Gates v. Syrian Arab Republic, 1
along with my co-counsel, John Salter and former governor of Georgia, Roy Barnes, represent
two families who each lost a family member in 2004 to horrific Syrian state-sponsored
beheadings carried out by Al Qaeda in Iraq. DC federal court awarded a final judgment for
$412,909,857, which we sustained against a Syrian appeal. Under subpoena and a protective
order from the Court, the Department of Treasury cooperated quickly and efficiently to provide a
list of Syrian assets which had been blocked under the operative Syrian sanctions regime. Using
TRIA as a statutory enforcement mechanism, my clients then successfully restrained and won an
award in excess of $80,000,000 in Syrian assets in Illinois, which was recently confirmed on
appeal.® In Peterson v. Islamic Republic of Iran, along with co-counsel, T won an award of
$2,656,944,877 against the Islamic Republic of Iran for the death of over two hundred and forty
United States servicemen and injury to hundreds more, as a result of the Iranian state-sponsored
terrorism bombing at the Beirut Marine barracks in 1983. Again, under subpoena and protective
order from the Court, the Department of Treasury cooperated quickly and efficiently to provide a
list of Iranian assets which had been blocked under the operative Iranian sanctions regime. As
mentioned above, using TRIA as a statutory enforcement mechanism, my clients then
successfully restrained and won an award against of nearly $1.9B in Iranian assets in New York
City, which was recently confirmed on appeal.”

Executive discretion once aided the victims of terrorism in the 650 5th Avenue case in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York.® For years, several groups of
terrorism victims have worked hand-in-hand with U.S. federal prosecutors in a civil forfeiture
case against the office tower at 650 Fifth Avenue, which belongs to groups which have allegedly

® Gates v. Syrian Arab Republic, 2014 U.S. App. LEXIS 11811 (7th Cir. TlL. June 18, 2014).
7 Peterson v. Islamic Republic of Iran, 2014 U.S. App. LEXIS 13038 (2d Cir. N.Y. July 9, 2014),
8 In re: 650 Fifth Avenue and Related Properties, CA 08-10934 (KBF).
3
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money laundered for Iran and violated U.S.-Iran sanctions. As a result of this cooperation, the
U.S. government plans to sell the building and turn over the proceeds to the families of those
victims of Tranian terrorism who have worked with the government. This cooperation runs both
ways. Whenever legally permissible, I have provided information to U.S. government agencies
to assist in their legal efforts against terrorists and their supporters.

Now that you have a few concrete examples of how the public-private partnership has
contributed to real-world aid for terror victims and staggering costs for sponsors of terrorism, I
would like to provide you with a step-by-step breakdown of how such cooperation comes to be,
and the role that TRIA plays.

First, a victim of terrorism or their family, must obtain a valid final judgment against the relevant
state sponsor of terrorism and a 28 U.S.C. § 1610(c) order. To do this, the victim must initiate
civil litigation in the U.S. pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1605A, which developed from the 1995
Flatow amendment. The plaintiff in a Flatow amendment case must first serve a copy of the
lawsuit (translated into the foreign language) on the defendant foreign sovereign and then prove
that their harm was the result of an act of terrorism sponsored by a country listed on the State
Department’s State Sponsors of Terrorism list. The claimant or victim must be a U.S. citizen or
alternatively, the victim must have been a foreign national killed or injured in service to the U.S.
(e.g. a foreign State Department employee, or a non-citizen member of the U.S. armed forces).
After proving these elements and winning a judgment, the claimant must serve a copy of the
final judgment and then wait for a sufficient period for that State to respond (usually sixty days).
After the required notice period has passed, the judge issues a § 1610(c) order which allows the
claimant to begin enforcing the court judgment.

After a judgment is issued TRIA may be applicable. For TRIA to apply, an asset of the terror
sponsor must be blocked (almost always for reasons independent of the civil litigation). For this
to happen the President must issue a blocking order describing a specific category of financial
assets. Because State sponsors of terror are often subject to sanctions they are frequent targets
for presidential blocking orders. Next, financial institutions receive and process those blocking
orders, blocking and segregating any assets they hold which meet the President’s description.
Any financial institution taking action under the blocking order must notify the Department of
the Treasury within ten days of doing so. Rather than collect the assets, the Treasury simply
maintains a database of blocked assets, which remain segregated within their original financial
institutions.

Lastly, the judgment must be enforced. Since the sponsors of terrorism are often already subject
to U.S. sanctions, their financial transactions are carried out in a clandestine manner in the U.S.
In addition, only the assets of the State itself may be attached, not the assets of private citizens.
Thus, enforcement of these judgments is much more about asset location than judicial
proceedings to attach those assets. There are several ways to go about locating assets of
terrorism sponsors. One way is to hire professional “asset hunters™ such as forensic accountants.
Another way is enlist the cooperation of the Department of Treasury in searching its blocked
asset database.
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To get information from the Treasury database, the claimant must first issue a subpoena to
OFAC pursuant to their ongoing civil litigation against the state sponsor of terrorism. If OFAC
believes the subpoena is sufficiently specific, it will respond. This process is usually iterative, as
OFAC and the claimant gradually narrow down the scope of the subpoena. OFAC will not
release raw data (i.e. the full database or any unfiltered subsection thereof) or any information
that will interfere with an ongoing OFAC investigation. Moreover, OFAC will only release the
requested information under seal, and before doing so OFAC will file a motion for a protective
order with the judge presiding over the trial. Once issued, the protective order acts as a
guarantee of criminal penalties if the attorney misuses the information, i.e. breaks the seal.

Once the information released by OFAC helps the claimant locate a blocked asset of the state
sponsor, that claimant must initiate enforcement proceedings in federal district court in the
jurisdiction where the asset is located. All enforcement proceedings in the federal court system,
terrorism-related or otherwise, are governed by state law, so the procedures vary from state-to-
state. Moreover, given the courts’ tendency towards public dissemination of judicial opinions,
the OFAC data does eventually become public.

When Flatow v. Islamic Republic of Iran was decided, this public-private partnership did not
exist. All terror victims had to go find assets through a conventional asset search. Moreover,
when they eventually did find assets without the assistance of the U.S. government, the Treasury
took the position that the immunity of the U.S. itself protected assets that had been blocked, and
that the exceptions to the FSIA, such as the Flatow amendment, were therefore irrelevant. TRIA
fixed this problem, and so I tend to think of it as a legislative waiver of U.S. sovereign immunity.
In contemporary practice, TRIA lets us get at the assets that Treasury discloses pursuant to
subpoena.

This brings us to the issue at hand. Iam inherently sympathetic to the plight of FARC terrorism
victims and would like to see their judgment enforced. That said, when modifying legislation
with such a direct effect on complex litigation, you must be conservative and careful. Isee no
structural impediment to administratively fixing this problem. The Administration should be
provided a reasonable opportunity to timely correct this failure before the law is changed; it
should be given the chance to simply re-designate FARC assets from drug kingpin assets to
terrorism assets, thereby bringing them within the scope of the current TRIA language. In
addition, the Administration’s technical comments should also be solicited. As a parallel
example, the Flatow amendment only became necessary when Congress became convinced that
the executive could not or would not offer a viable remedy for terror victims. When amending
this sort of legislation, the highest order of business should be to do no harm by unintended
consequence. On the other hand, over-cautiousness should not be allowed to impede the
enforcement of legitimate grievances against terrorist states.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

TAMPA DIVISION
KEITH STANSELL, CASENO.:
MARC GONSALVES, 8:09-CV-2308-T26-LAZZARA/MAP

THOMAS HOWES, and

JUDITH G. JANIS, CHRISTOPHER T, JANIS,
GREER C. JANIS, MICHAEL 1. JANIS,

and JONATHAN N, JANIS

Plaintiffs,
V.

REVOLUTIONARY ARMED FORCES
OF COLOMBIA (FARC), et al,,

Defendants.
/

AFFIDAVIT

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, personally appeared, who after being
duly sworn, deposes and says:

1. My name is Michael Janis, and I am personally familiar with the contents of this
affidavit.

“Zo-- Ty the surviving son of Thomas T Janis who was killed on February 13,2003

3 1 was born on June 30, 1977 and was twenty five years old when my dad died. I
am a Chief Warrant Officer Two (“CW2™) on active duty overseas with the United States
Army stationed in the Republic of Korea. 1am on flight status as a helicopter pilot.

4. 1 had a close and loving relationship with my father growing up, when 1 joined the
U.S. Army and when I was married,

My father used to tell me that every day you make a choice. You can either
choose to be happy, or choose to be sad. You can let something affect your emotions or
you can choose to confrol vour response to the situation. And although this was
wonderful advice, T find it next to impossible o choose to avoid the pain and emptiness
his murder brought to my family.

Tom Janis was more than a father to me; he was a very close friend and sounding
board for ideas of where I wanted to go in life. As a child he set the example for the man
1 hoped to become. Every moment that he was not involved with work he would spend it
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with my mother, his three sons and his daughter. We truly lived in the happiest of homes.
In high school my father would talk with me about the possibility of me joining the
military as well and how that would instill a deeper sense of discipline and selflessness fo
serve a cause greater than oneself,

I would often think of the days in the future, when I would finally be able to sit
down with my father and talk about life; man to man, father to son. My father was my
hero. He placed others before himself, he loved with all of his heart, he never asked for
anything in retumn for his belp and he was looking forward to one day being a
Grandfather,

s, There are so many special memories of my dad, for example

Having my father at every graduation of my military career. However, at my
flight school graduation there was such an overwhelming emptiness and sadness because
he had been killed and could not be there, Every birthday, Father’s Day, anniversary of
his death reminds me of what could have been if he had not been murdered.

It’s bittersweet, but I look like and have many of the same mannerisms of my
deceased father. Sweet, because of the pride it instills in me to be following in such an
amazing man’s footsteps, vet bitter when [ see the sadness in my mother’s eves when she
stops and reminds me of how much { remind her of him.

My father served his country in Army Aviation for 32 years and he made many
friends along the way, and I have met several people who knew or worked with him in
the past. Many of them know of how he was killed, vet many do not. And, I have had to
tell the story of my father’s death countless times over the past several years. And it
never gets-easier. Talways have the familiar Tump fn-the back of throat and Thave to Took
away to avoid crying in front of someone I barely know.

Every father’s day, I go through a box of his things, I look at the mementos from
a well-lived life and 1 feel sad. 1 feel sad because he had so much more life to live. So
many more milestones, and moments with his children that we are all missing.

6. I joined the army o make a difference and make the world a befter, safer place
like my father,

His favorite song was, “What a Wonderful World,” by Louis Armstrong. And
that’s why he lived and worked the way he did. He knew how precious this life
and world are and he sef the example for others to follow.

7. The last time I saw my father, the whole family was visiting my older brother
Chris at his house in Savarmah. He had several trees in his back yard that he
needed to remove and we were all there to help Chris out. After several hours of
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back-breaking work, and sweating we were winding down for the evening.
However we had chosen to dispose of many of the small branches with a fire.
Throughout the day the fire had grown larger and it would take hours for it to
extinguish. As tired as we all were, and knowing how the flames were not yet
small enough to retire for the evening, my father stayed out by that fire all night to
make sure that nothing bad happened. That was my father’s way, to watch over
other’s as they slept peacefully so that no harm would come to them.

8. The worst day of my life was the day T read a headline on the Internet that
changed my life and all of the lives of the people I Tove. It was several hours after we had
news that my father’s plane had fo make an emergency landing in Colombia. We had
called for more information, but there was none to be shared. So, like many people I went
to the Internet to learn whatever I could. My wife, Malorie, and I ook turns scouring
CNNs website for any updates and we had even enlisted the help of friends and
neighbors to keep an eye out for any news.

I was answering the front door when [ heard my wife scream. A scream that I
koew the moment I heard it that she had read something terrible. On CNN’s website was
news of two bodies being found by the wreckage of the plane. My father’s name was on
the monitor, but it wasn’t. They had listed him as Janis Thomas, not Thomas Janis, I felt
sick, confused and scared for my mother who still had not received word of his death. [
had to keep this information to myself for several more hours before my mother could get
the official word.

It wasn't until writing this down that I realized just how utterly devastating that
was for me. T honestly try not to think of the worst moments of this tragedy because we
all had to be strong for our mother who was absolutely in shock,

Q. My father is buried in Arlington National Cemetery.

They say that parents should not have to bury their children; it’s not the natural
order of things. Well that’s how I felt about burying my father. He was in fantastic shape
(he could run circles around us,) he was looking forward for another family visit and he
still had boxes of stuff he had ordered on the Internet delivered to my parent’s house for
weeks after his death.

The ceremony was somber, hopeful and ultimately respectful. The outpouring of
support and concern from the hundreds of people in attendance was overwhelming. It was
much appreciated, but for me and the family, we had to try to put our lives back to some
sense of normaley after everyone said their goodbyes and paid their respects. I still don’t
think I have found my peace with his death, and I pray for it every single day.

10, Ithink of my dad every day. My pain at his loss continues daily seven years after
his death,
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My father’s death created such a darkness and emptiness in my life that I truly
believe that it led to my divorce from my high school swestheart, A fifieen year
relationship that couldn’t survive me holding on to an idea of a future that is now gone
because of my father’s murder,

There is so much that I want to share with my father. I wish T could see him in
dreams, but I've only been able to see him a handfil of times since the murder. The
subconseious protects us from the pain we've experienced and my father’s death has been
the most traumatic, painful, life-altering cvent T have ever experienced.

I stay strong because people count on me to do the work that my father onee did.
But I would be lying if I could say with a straight face that life is ok for me. The FARC
killed a large part of te as well when they killed my father.

FURTHER, AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT.

T

M@Wﬁ JANIS, Affiant

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED before me this 9 day of 7,
2010 by Michael Janis, who is known to me to be the person signi %g /06@3%.

My commission expires:
Personally known N
o Produced Identification /ﬁ%@@
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1.8, Department of Justice

United States Attorney
Southern District of New York

The Sitvia 1, Molle Building

Cne Saint Andrew’s Plaza
New York, New York 10007

May 27, 2010

Newt Porter, Esq.

Tony Korvick, Esq.

Porter & Korvick, P.A.

9655 South Dixie Highway, Suite 2008
Miami, FL 33156
nporter@porterandkorvick.com
tkorvick@porterandkorvick.com

Re:  United States v. Jorge Enrigue Rodriguez Mendieta, a/k/a “lvan Vargas,”
Gerardo Aguilar Ramirez, a/k/a “Cesar,” Erminso Cuevas Cabrera, a/kia
“Mincho, " and Juan Jose Martinez Vega, a/k/a “Chiguiro,” 04-446 (TFH)

Dear Messrs. Porter and Korvick:

This letter responds to your April 16, 2010 letter with respect to the above-referenced Indictment
charging 50 leaders of the Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia (the “FARC”), including
defendants Jorge Barique Rodriguez Mendieta, a/k/a “Ivan Vargas,” Gerardo Aguilar Ramirez, a/k/a
“Cesar,” Erminso Cuevas Cabrera, a/k/a “Mincho,” and Juan Jose Martinez Vega, a/k/a “Chiguiro,”
with conspiring to send cocaine to the United States (the “FARC Leaders Indictment”). This
response is limited 1o your requestio be considered “crime victims under the Crime Victims Rights
At 18 US.C. § 3771, with respeet (o the charges in FARC Leaders Indictment.

The FARC Leaders Indictment, The FARC Leaders Indictment charges the defendants in a single
count with conspiring to import into the United States five kilograms and more of cocaine, and
conspiring to manufacture and distribute five kilograms and more of cocaine knowing and intending
that they would be imported into the United States, in violation of Title 21, United States Code,
Section 963, According to the indictment, the FARC is a highly hierarchical organization,
comprising of 12,000 to 20,000 members, led by a seven member Secretariat and a 27 member
Central General Staff, or Estado Mayor, which is responsible for setting the cocaine policies of the
FARC. The FARC financed themselves through cocaine manufacturing and distribution. The
FARC Leaders Indictment also contains numerous overt acts, including kidnapping allegations.

Kidnaping Alegations. The FARC Leaders Indictment specifically alleges that:

35.  In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the
following overt acts, among others, were committed in Colombia and elsewhere:
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a. Throughout the conspiracy, the FARC leadership participated
in a series of meetings during which they established FARC cocaine
and cocaine paste manufacturing and distribution policies and
directed the members of the FARC to implement these policies. For
example:

(vi). In or about late 2001 or early 2002, in
Colombia, . . . Jorge Enrique Rodriguez Mendieta,
a/k/a “Ivan Vargas,” . .. Gerardo Aguillar Ramirez,
a/k/a “Cesar,” the defendants . . . participated in a
FARC leadership meeting in which they voted
unanimously in favor of the following cocaine and
cocaine paste-related policies, among others. . . to
encourage the kidnapping of United States citizens in
order to, among other things, deter the United States
from supporting eradication efforts.

f. In or about 2000, Rodrigo Londono Echeverry, a/k/a
“Timochenko,” a/k/a “Timoleon Jimenez,” Felix Antonio Munoz
Lascarro, a’/k/a “Jose Lisandro Lascarro,” a/k/a “Pastor Alape,” the
defendants, and others, addressed FARC members in the Magdalena
Medio Bloc, and that the Secretariat of the FARC had ordered them
to: (1) retake coca-producing territory; (2) attempt to shoot down
fumigation aircraft; (3) increase coca production; and (4) kidnap
United States citizens if the opportunity arose.

0. On or about February 14, 2003, Carlos Alberto Garcia, a/k/a
“Herimides Buitrago,” a/k/a “Oscar Montero,” a/k/a “Paisa,” the
defendant, authorized a member of the TFMC to shoot down what he
believed to be an aircraft that was conducting coca eradication.

(Ind. ¥ 35(a)(vi), (), (o)(emphasis added)). The February 2003 shoot-down allegation in the
indictment refers to the shooting down of the aircraft in which your clients Keith Stansell, Marc
Gonsalves and Tom Howes were traveling. The indictment does not specifically referto the FARC’s
holding of your clients hostage. However, the Government’s proof of the foregoing allegations
would have specifically included proof of what happened to your clients.

Offenses of Extradition. In March 2006, when the FARC Leaders Indictment was unsealed, three
defendants were already in the custody of Colombian authorities. Pursuant to requests for extradition
by the United States, Rodriguez Mendieta, who had been arrested in Colombia in October 2004, was
extradited in November 2007 to face charges in the FARC Leaders Indictment. Cuevas Cabrera, who
had been arrested in Colombia in December 2004, was extradited in December 2007 to face charges
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in the same case. And Martinez Vega, who had been arrested in Venezuela in February 2005, was
extradited in April 2008. Aguilar Ramirez was arrested in Colombia in July 2008, during the
operation that effected the rescue of Stansell, Gonsalves, Howes and others. He was extradited in
July 2009, but solely with respect fo the narcotics charges in the FARC Leaders Indictment:
Colombia expressly denied extradition on the hostage-taking charges pending in Unifed States v.
Aguilar Ramirez, 07-248 (RCL).

Your Clients’ Status Under the CVRA. The LV RA defines a “crime victim” Z:N “a person dxrmriy
and proxmmm}y harmexi asa rcsuit of the commission ol a chemI offense.” 18US.C. § 3771(e).
Applying that definition, courts have held that to qualify under the statute, a person must have been
harmed directly and proximately by conduct underlying an element of the defendant's offense, As
a general rule, aithough narcotics cnmplrai{)rﬁ; cancause untold harm in the cxecution of 2 narcotics
uompiracy, identification of specsf ¢ victims is not an x,kmcm of the offense. Indeed, ﬁlL burden
such a requirement would placc on parcot mv«.stxgatmm and pmsenumms would subsmmaaliy
impedethe Government’s ab;hty touse this 1¢ latively simple charge fo target fmd meapacitate some
of the most dangerous criminals m the \wrid such as the defendants in this case. See generally In
re MeNulty, 597 F.3d 344 (6 Cir. 2010); Inre Galvis, 564 F.3d 170 (Qd Cir. 2009); In re Antrobus,
S19 F.3d 1123 (0™ Cir, 2008). Here, the defendants’ offense is a narcotics conspiracy, which has
two elements: (i) an agreement between two or more persons, the objects of which were (a) to import
at least five kilograms of cocaine into the United States, and (b) to manufacture or distribute at least
five kilograms of cocaine, knowing or intending that they would be imported into the United States;
and (it} the defendant knowingly joined the conspiracy. The defendants’ conduct tmdcriymz., rhc%

two clements dGCQ not include hmtaw—takxng As ‘s“\,mgxathcm as the Government is to the tragm
mdwi the FARC inflicted on your clients, they do not mect the legal definition of & “crime victim?
mzder the CVRA

Further, while the Government can (and in the case of your clients is willing to) unilaterally provide
certain of the benefits of the CVRA to persons affected by an offense, even if they are not statutory
“yictims,” the Government cannot unilaterally agree to a matter that would increase the sentence-i.e.,
via an order of restitution—imposed on a defendant. Instead, the facts necessary to support a
restitution order for your clients would have to be admitted by the defendants or established by a
plea of guilty or a jury verdict. That has not happened in this case.

Further Information. Although not legally required, the Government nonetheless is willing to
confer with you and your clients about the FARC Leaders Indictment and to facilitate their
participation in the senfencing process, should the Court choose to hear from them in its discretion.
See 18 U.S.C. § 3661 (“No limitation shall be placed on the information concerning the background,
character, and conduct of a person convicted of an offense which a court of the United States may
receive and consider for the purpose of imposing an appropriate sentence.”). We are also pleased
to respond to your various requests for information and consultation in the case as follows.
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Current Status of Prosecutions. On December 16, 2009, Rodrigucz Mendieta pleaded guilty to
conspiring to import multi-kilogram quantities of cocaine into the United States and distributing
multi-kilogram quantities of cocaine knowing they would be sent to the United States, as charged
in Count One of the FARC Leaders Indictment. On March 19, 2010, the Honorable Thomas F.
Hogan sentenced him to 244 months” imprisonment. Also on December 16, 2009, Aguilar Ramirez
pleaded guilty to Count One of the FARC Leaders Indictment. On April 13, 2010, afier a two-
months jury trial in the District of Columbia, defendants Cuevas Cabrera and Martinez Vega were
convicted of participating in a conspiracy to import cocaine into the United States. No proof of the
hostage taking came in during this trial. Judge Hogan is scheduled to sentence Cuevas Cabrera and
Martinez Vega on July 21, 2010, at 10:00 am.

In response to your question about reward money, none of these four defendants is receiving reward
money from the United States.

With respect to Aguilar Ramirez, Judge Hogan has scheduled sentencing for June 7, 2010, at 10:00
am. Aguilar Ramirez will be sentenced based upon his plea of guilty to conspiring to import
cocaine into the United States. As you requested, we are providing you the plea documents filed in
connection with Aguilar Ramirez’s plea proceeding. (Exhibit A is Aguilar Ramirez’s plea
agreement; Exhibit B is the supporting statement of facts.) Please advise us whether your clients
plan to make or file a statement in connection with Aguilar Ramirez’s sentencing. We would tike
to advise the Court of that fact as soon as possible.

Finally, you mdlcatc thatyou w@uld liketo {is,posf, Aguilar Rammz in ccmnncii(m wﬁh yourpe diiw
civil action for damages apainst the. FARC; and request that we “offer some form of mmmmiy
Aguilar Ramirez to allow him to pmwde testimony wi ;thout relinguishing his pm*ﬁwe against sdi«
incrimination: After carcml wns;durdnox} ‘of- your rcqucat we cannot offer Aguilar Rammz any
immumty noranysentencin gbem.i;t inéxchange for his willingness totestifyor otherwise cooperaie
i your civil case:

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any further requests for information about the FARC
Leaders case.

Very truly yours,

PREET BHARARA
United States Attorney

By: g/ Pablo Quifiones
Pablo Quifiones
Randall W. Jackson
Assistant United States Attorneys
(212) 637-2487/1029
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cc: Via e-mail w/o enclosures
Ken Kohl, Esq. (Ken.Kohl@usdoj.gov)
Jeffrey Beatrice, Esq. ( Jefirey.Beatrice@usdoj.gov)
David Cora, Esq. (David.Cora@usdoj.gov)
Anthony Asuncion, Esqg. (Anthony.Asuncion(@usdoj.gov)
Lynn E. Haaland, Esq. (Lynn.Haaland@usdoj.gov)
Mary E. Mogavero, Esq. (Mary.Mogavero@usdoj.gov)
Jeffrey Brown, Esq. (Jeffrey. Brown3@usdoj.gov)
Rebecca Ricigliano, Esq. (Rebecca.Ricigliano@usdoj.gov)
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LS, Department of Justice

Criminal Division

Washingtos, DO, 20338

sep 23 2010

Newt Porter, Esq.
Tony Korvick, Esd.

Porter and Korviek, P A

96353 South Dixie Hig gmmv Suite 208
Miami, FL 33136

Déar Mr. Porter and Mr. Korvick:

Thank you for your letior, dated Augist 12 2010, 10 Assistant Attorney General Lanny A
Brever, regarding the use of forfeited funds 1o satisf or compromise your clients” claiing againgt
the Revolusionary Armied Forces of Colombis (EARC). Please allow me 1o express, on behalf of
myselfand the Criminal Division, my sincere appreciation for the sacrifices made for the United
States by Tom Janis, Keith Stansell, Tom Howes, Mare Gonsalves, and their families.

Forfeiture has become an important tool for federal prosecutors in depriving drug
traffickers and terrorists of the sources of funding for their crimes. The Attorney General, acting
through the Asset Forfeiture and Money Laundering Section (AFMLS), has discretion to retum
forfeited funds to imocem owners and victims of the ¢rimes underlying the forfeiture through'«
process called “remission.” In order to qualify for remission as a victim, a person must establish,
among other ihms:s, {hat he o she suffered a pecuntary loss as a divect result of an offense ﬁm
was the nnderiving basis for the eriminal, eivill or adminisisaiive forfeiture of specific properiy:
28 CFRIE 9.8(2) Remission is not available as 1o property that has been forfelted in
Connuetion swith offenses that did not divectly calise & pecuniary 19ss 16 the petitionsr. 28 CF R
§9.8y(1)

Because forfeited funds are not available as a peneral source of compensation forerime
vietins, a request for remission must include, among other things: 1) a deseription of the specific
forfeited property from which remission is sought; 2) the name and docket number of the
criminal or civil forfeiture action associated with the forfeited property; and 3) an explanation of
how the petitioner incurred a pecuntary loss of & specific amount as a direct result of the offense
underlving the forfeiture of the property, or a related offense. See 28 CER. §§ 9.4{c): 2.8()(1).
Such information, along with supporting documents, must be submitied to the United States
Attorney for the district in which the forfeiture ocourred. 28 CF.R. § 9.4(¢). Ploase note also
that forfeited funds may notbe used to compensate physical injurics ot ather non-pecuniary
harms arising fom anofiense. 28 C.FR. § 9.8()1, (o).
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Your letter also requests | that the Attorney General use his diseretion to directly transfer
setzed assets, funds, or cumrency prmr 1o final forfeiture to satisfy or compromise yout clients”
‘claims, Decisions r&garémg termination of forfeiture pmceedmgs and the direct transfer of.
seized asse:.s to crime victims ave typically made by the pmsecmmg Assistant United States
Attorney in the context ofa particular criminal case; and do not generally involve the Attorney
General or AFMLS.

1 hope this information proves useful in providing assistance to your clients. As you may
be aware, the Department of Justice Office for Victims of Crime provides financial assistance to
vietims of certain designated terrorist events, through its Office of International Terrorism Victim
Expense Reimbursement Program. Information on that program is attached for your
convenience,

Please do not hesitate to contact me if | may be of any further assistance in this or any
other matter.

Sincerely,

Z

ifér-Shasky Calve
Chief
Asset Forfeiture and
Money Laundering Section

ce: Lanny Breuer
Agsistant Attorney General

Heather Cartwright
Director, Office of Justice for Overseas Terrorism

David 8. Kris
Assistant Attorney General, National Security Division

Stuart A. Levey
Treasury Undersecretary for Terrorism and Financial Intelligence

Michael J. Mullaney
Chief, Counterterrorism Section

James Dinan
Executive Director, Organized Crime and Drug Enforcement Task Force

Andrew Szubin
Director, Office of Foreign Assets Control
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U.8. Department of Justice

Criminal Division

Washington, D.C. 20530

DEC 01 200

Newt Porter, Esq.

Tony Korvick, Esq.

Porter and Korvick, P.A.

9655 South Dixie Highway, Suite 208
Miami, FL 33156

Re: United States v. Jaime Dib Mor-Saab, No. 8:08-c1-199 (M.D. Fla.)
Dear Mssrs. Porter and Korvick:

This responds to your letter, dated November 8, 2011, to Chief Jennifer Shasky of the
Asset Forfeiture and Money Laundering Section (AFMLS) and Assistant United States Attorney
Anita Cream requesting that AFMLS authorize the deposit of a portion of the funds obtained
from Banco Santander International ("BSI") into the Court's registry pending a determination by
the Court regarding the disposition of such funds.

T have been advised that the District Court entered a final order of forfeiture of the funds
obtained from B8 on July 20, 2011, The Government does not anticipate any further litigation
regarding the ownership of the forfeited funds. As noted in a prior letter to your firm, a pefson
claiming an ownership interest in forfeited property ot who incutred a pecuniary 1085 a5 a direct
result of the crime underlying the forfeifure may request the Attorney General to exercise his
discretion to grant remission of forfeited funds pursuant to 28 C.F.R. part 9,

Please do not hesitate to contact me or Assistant United States Atiomey Anita Cream if
we may be of further assistance.

ice W.

Deputy Chief

Asset Forfeiture and
Money Laundering Se

ces Anita Cream
Assistant United States Aftorney
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DEPARTMENT OF TH
WASHINGTON, I

Case No, FNK-2013-299796-1

Parter & Korvick, PA
Pinecrest Professiona! Building

9655 South Dixie Highway, Suite 208
Miami, FL 33156
Atin: Newt Porter, Esq.

Dear Mr, Porter:

Thi v your correspondence dated January 14 2013 January 31 2013 and Febraa 1

2013 (the "Apphication’h 1o the Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFACY), on behaif of Keith
Stansell, Tom Howes, Mare Gonsalves, and h&ix{i} Janis {the “Clients™), requesting speeific licenses
authorizing the pm{«juémmm execution on certain assets blocked pursuant to th eign Narcotics
Kingpin Designation Act, 21 US.C. §§ 1901-1908, 8 UL.5.C. § 1182 {the “Kingpin Act™). According
10 the Application, your C 3!";’}{5 seek:

(i} a retroactive tpauii”m ticense authorizing the prior post-judgment execution on the
blocked assets of lose Ricuarte Diaz Herrera at Wells Farge Bank, totaling
$2,006,878.84 (the *Diaz Herrera Account™;

b=

{5

troactive license authorizing execution on the formerly blocked assets o
Mercurte Intermaeional,  SA  (Mercwrie™), @t Bank  of  Ameres, mmim

$1,286,296.26 (the “Mercurio Account™:

55

{1} » specific license authorizing execution on the blocked assets of ‘Alonso Olari
Lombang at HSBC, totaling $19.794.80 (the “Lombana Accomnt™h

(ivy  a specific Heense authorizing execution on the blocked assets of Benedicto Romero
Barrera and Oscar Lopez Cadavid at SunTrust Bank, totaling $3216,637.92 (the
“Barrera-Cadavid Accounts™;

(v a specific Heense authorizing the post-judgment execution on the blocked assels of
Fernande Zevalles, Aero Continente 8.A., Aero Continente, Milagros & Sara
Zevallos, Bi ssey Panama, Inc., and Bellesom Enterprises, Inc. {the “Zevallos
Aceount

w

{vi}  a specific Hicense authorizing the post-judg
OK Coffee International 8A (the “OK Co
Organization; and

nent execution on the blocked sssets of
o Assets™), part of the Cifuentes Villa

{vii} o specific license authorizing the post-judgment execution on the blocked assets of
Nueva Industria de Ganadera (the "Nueva Industria Asseis™), part of the Beltran

Leywva TCO.
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The Application notes thit Jose Ricuarte Disz Herrera, Alopse Olarte Lombana, Benedicto Romero
Barrera, and Oscar Lopez Cadavid, Fernando Zevallos, Aero Contineme S A, Agro Continente,
Milagros & Sara Zevallos, Blissey Panama, ine., Bellesom Enterprises, Inc., OK Coffee International
54, the Cifuentes Villa Organization, Nueva Industria de Ganadera, and the Belwran Leyva TCO
(the "SDNTKs™Y hive il been désignbied by OFAC tnder the Kingpin Act

The Application states that your Clients obtained an Anti-Terrorism Act final Judgment against the
FARC and 80 of its members ia June 2010, Subsequently, vour Clients moved for issuance of a wiit
of garnishment pursuant o tie Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 {(Pub. L. 1 07297, 116 Stat.
2322) (“TRIA™ to Wells Fargo Bank, which disbursed the assets in the Diaz Herrera Account to
vour Clients. According to the Application, your Clients also moved for issuance of TRIA writs of
garnishment for the assets in the Barrera-Cadavid Accounts, the Mercurie Account, and certain of the
Zevallos Accounts; Mercurio subsequently flled a Notice of Appeal, citing OFAC's decision io
remove Mercurio from its List of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons ("SDN List™),
which resulted in the unblocking of its assets, On January 9, 2013, the 11 Circuit Court of Appeals
issued its opinion in Keith Sransell, et al. v. Mercurio International 5.4, No, 3:09-cv-02308-RAL-
MAP (11" Cir, Jan. 9, 2013), holding that assets blosked purssant to the Kingpin Act are not subject
to attachment under TRIA. The Application states that Jose Ricuarte Diaz Herrera subsequently filed
a motion to dissolve the vompleted writ of garnishment for the Diaz Herrera Account, to vacaie the
judgment thereon, and to recover the assets disbursed to your C fients.!

As vou know, pursuant to the Kingpin Act and the Foreign Narcoties Kingpin Sanctions Regulations,
31 CFR. Part 598 (the “Regulations™, all property and interests in property within the United
States, or within the possession or control of any U.B, person, which are owned or controlled by an
Specially Designated Narcotics Trafficker ("SDNTK™) are blocked. Regulations, § 398202, The
Kingpin Act also prohibits any transaction or dealing by a U.S. person, or within the United States, in
property or interests in property of an SDNTK. Regulations, § S98.203(x). Blocked property is
defined as any account or property, subject 1w section 398.202 of the Kingpin Act, held in the name
of an SDNTH, or in which an SDNTK has an interest. Regulations, § 398.301,

We address the Heensing requests contained in your application in wim below,

With respeet o the Diaz Herrera Account, please be advised that, under the circumstances described
in the Anplication, it would not be consistent with cwrent OFAC leensing policy to retroactively
authorize transactions prohibited by the Kingpin Act. including the unblocking of blocked property.
Accordingty, vour request for a speeific Heense authorizing the prior post-judgment execution on the
Diaz Herrera Account is hereby denied.

With respect to the formerly blocked Mereurio Account, please note that no license is required for
vour Clients to pursue attachment of the account, It would not be consistent with current OFAC
licensing policy to authorize transactions that are not prohibited by the Kingpin Act, including to
retroactively authorize execution on property that is not blocked, Accordingly, vour request for a
specific license authorizing execution on the formerly blocked Mercurio Account is hereby dented.

With respect to the Lombana Account, the Barrera-Cadavid Accounts, the Zevallos Accounts, the
OK Coffee Assets, and the Nueva Industria Assets (vollectively, the “Blocked Property™), it appears

T We understand that the district cowrt has denied this motian,
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that the writs of garnishment previously issued by the court with respect to the Blocked Property
were issued pursvant to TRIA, which the 11™ Circuit has now held does not authorize the attachment
of asssts blocked pursuant o the Kingpin Act. Because the 1 1* Circuit’s decision calls into question
the validity of these writs of garnishment, it would be premature for OFAC to act on your
Application with respect to the Blocked Property at this time. Accordingly, your request for a
specific license to authorize execution on the Blocked Property is hereby denied. Should the court
determine that the Blocked Property is subject to execution in satisfaction of your Clients’ judgment
pursuant to a source of law other than TRIA, OFAC would consider licensing the unblocking of the
Blocked Property at that time. Please note that no license from OFAC is required to seek such a
determination from the court.

1 addition o the licensing matiers addressed above, the Application requests that the identified
SDNTKs be further designated pursuant to Execative Order 13224 of September 23, 2001, “Blocking
Property and Prohibiting Transactions With Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or Support
Terrorism,” and the Global Terrorism Sanctions Regulations, 31 C.F.R. Part 594, Please be advised
thz:; DFAC dags not respond o requests to designate individuals. or ‘entities pursuant to certain
authorities,

If you have any additional questions, you may refer to the OFAC website at www.treasury.goviofac
or call our office at (202) 622-2480.

Sincerely,
( ; @J&. Mar. 19, 2013
Andrea Gacki Date

Assistant Director for Licensing
Office of Foreign Assets Control



